
Resources Directorate
DavidDavid  WilcockWilcock
AssistantAssistant  DirectorDirector  (Legal,(Legal,  GovernanceGovernance  &&  
Workforce)Workforce)

Governance  & Committee Services
Floor 2, Number One Riverside, Smith 
Street,
Rochdale, OL16 1XU

Phone: 01706 647474
Website: www.rochdale.gov.uk

To:  All Members of the Council Enquiries to: Elaine Newsome
Telephone: 01706 924793
Date: 6th December 2016

Dear Councillor

Council

You are requested to attend the meeting of the Council to be held in Council 
Chamber - Town Hall, Rochdale, OL16 1AB on Wednesday, 14th December 
2016 commencing at 6.15 pm.

Deadlines for submissions in respect of this meeting are as follows: –
 Noon on Tuesday, 13th November 2016 for notification of questions to 

representatives on Joint Authorities and Outside Bodies and to Portfolio 
Holders and Committee Chairs.

 Notification of amendments to proposals and recommendations being 
submitted to Council.

Notifications should be forwarded to Elaine Newsome and Michael Garraway, on 
behalf of the Chief Executive.

The agenda and supporting papers are attached. 

If you require advice on any agenda item involving a possible Declaration of 
Interest which could affect your right to speak and/or vote, please refer to the 
Code of Conduct or contact the Monitoring Officer or staff in the Governance and 
Committee Services Team at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

Yours Faithfully

David Wilcock
Assistant Director (Legal, Governance & Workforce)

Public Document Pack



Rochdale Borough Council

COUNCIL

Wednesday, 14th December 2016 at 6.15 pm

Council Chamber - Town Hall, Rochdale, OL16 1AB

A G E N D A

Apologies for Absence
1.  Mayor's Annoucements 

2.  Declarations of Interest 1 - 3

Members are requested to indicate at this stage any items on the 
agenda in which they intend to declare an interest.  Members are 
reminded that, in accordance with the Localism Act 2011 and the 
Council's adopted Code of Conduct, they must declare the nature of 
any personal or discloseable pecuniary interest required of them and, 
in the case of any discloseable pecuniary interest, withdraw from the 
meeting during consideration of the item, unless permitted otherwise 
within the Code of Conduct.

3.  Minutes 4 - 9

To authorise the signing of the minutes of the meeting of the Council 
held on 19th October 2016.

4.  Public Questions and Petitions 

To receive petitions and questions from members of the public, where 
these have been received in accordance with the Petitions Scheme 
and/or Council Procedure Rules.

5.  Notices of Motion 10 - 11

To consider Motions submitted in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rule 11.

6.  Review of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme for 2017/18 12 - 37

7.  Council Constitution - Amendments to the Scheme of 
Delegation 

38 - 40

8.  Appointments to the Planning and Licensing Committee 41 - 42

9.  Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel on Members' 
Allowances 

43 - 94

10.  Members' Quarterly Reports 

To receive quarterly reports from Members of the Cabinet, Chairs of 
Township Committees and Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees and to permit questions from Members of the Council. 

(a) The Leader of the Council 95 - 99



(b)  The Cabinet Member for Finance 100 - 102

(c)  The Cabinet Member for Housing and Environment 103 - 109 

(d)  The Cabinet Member for Business, Skills and Employment 110 - 112

(e)  The Cabinet Member for Children's Services 113 - 115

(f)  The Cabinet Member for Adult Care 116 - 118

(g)  The Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods and Communities 119 - 122

(h)  The Cabinet Member for Corporate and Regulation 123 - 125

(i)  The Cabinet Member for Culture, Health and Wellbeing 126 - 129

(j)  The Chair of Heywood Township Committee 130 - 132 

(k)  The Chair of Middleton Township Committee 133 - 136

(l)  The Chair of Pennines Township Committee 137 - 139

(m)  The Chair of Rochdale Township Committee 140 - 142

(n)  The Chair of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 143 - 144

(o)   The Chair of the Communities, Regeneration and Environment  
Overview and Scrutiny Committee                                             145 -146

(p)   The Chair of the Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee                                                                                  147 -148

(q)  Report of the Representative to the Armed Forces 149 - 150

(r)   Report of the Representative to the Greater Manchester Waste 
Disposal Authority                                                                               151

(s)   Report of the Representative to the Greater Manchester Fire and 
Rescue Authority                                                                       152 - 154

(t)   Report of the Representative to Transport for Greater Manchester 
                                                                                                   155 - 157

11.  Update on the Greater Manchester Devolution Agreement 158 -159



P
age 1

A
genda Item

 2



DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED BY THE COUNCIL ON 25TH JULY 2012, MEMBERS ARE REQUIRED TO DECLARE DISCLOSABLE 
PECUNIARY INTERESTS, PERSONAL INTERESTS AND PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS (LISTED ON THEIR REGISTER OF INTERESTS).

MEMBERS SHOULD REFER TO THE CODE OF CONDUCT AND/OR THE MONITORING OFFICER AND/OR THEIR DECLARATION FOR FURTHER GUIDANCE

MEETING AND DATE

…………………………….

Agenda item

Indicate either
 Discloseable Pecuniary Interest OR
 Personal Interest OR
 Personal and Prejudicial interest

Nature of Interest

Signed…………………………………………………………………………………………        Please print name…………………………………………………………………………………………..

IF A MEMBER HAS A DISCLOSEABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST THAT HAS NOT BEEN INCLUDED ON THEIR REGISTER SUBMISSION, THEY ARE REQUIRED BY 
LAW TO UPDATE THEIR REGISTER ENTRY WITHIN 28 DAYS.  FAILURE TO PROVIDE PROPER NOTIFICATION IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE.

THIS FORM, INCLUDING ‘NIL’ ENTRIES, MUST BE GIVEN TO THE GOVERNANCE AND COMMITTEE OFFICER NO LATER THAN AT THE END OF THE MEETING

P
age 2



Summary of discloseable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests.

Disclosable pecuniary interests
A ‘disclosable pecuniary interest’ is an interest of yourself, or of your partner if you are aware of your 
partner's interest, within the descriptions set out in the table below.  "Partner" means a spouse or civil 
partner, or a person with whom you are living as husband or wife, or a person with whom you are 
living as if you are civil partners.

Subject Description
Employment, office, 
trade, profession or 
vocation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit 
or gain

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the 
Council) made or provided within the 12 month period prior to notification 
of the interest in respect of any expenses incurred by you in carrying out 
duties as a member, or towards your election expenses.  

Contracts Any contract made between you or your partner (or a body in which you or 
your partner has a beneficial interest) and the Council - 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 
executed: and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the Rochdale 
Metropolitan Borough Council.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the 
Borough for a month or longer.

Corporate Tenancies Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - 
(a) the landlord is the Council: and
(b) the tenant is a body in which you or your partner has a beneficial 
interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where -
(a) that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the 
area of the Borough; and
(b) either –
(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or
(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you or your partner 
has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share 
capital of that class.

Personal Interests
You have a personal interest in any business of the authority where it relates to or is likely to affect - 
(a) any body of which you are in a position of general control or management and to which you are 

appointed or nominated by your authority;
(b)  any body -

(i) exercising functions of a public nature;
(ii) directed to charitable purposes; or
(iii) one of whose principal purposes includes the influence of public opinion or policy 

(including any political party or trade union), 
of which you are in a position of general control or management;
(c) the interests of any person from whom you have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated 

value of at least £25.

Prejudicial Interests
Where you have a personal interest you also have a prejudicial interest in that business where the 
interest is one which a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts would reasonably 
regard as so significant that it is likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest and where 
that business -
(a) Affects your financial position or the financial position of a person or body described above; or
 (b) Relates to the determining of any approval, consent, licence, permission or registration in relation 

to you or any person or body described above.

MEMBERS ARE ADVISED TO REFER TO THE FULL DESCRIPTIONS CONTAINED IN THE
COUNCIL’S CODE OF CONDUCT ADOPTED ON 25TH JULY 2012.

Page 3



COUNCIL

MINUTES OF MEETING
Wednesday, 19 October 2016

PRESENT:  His Worshipful the Mayor, Councillor Raymond Dutton (in the 
Chair) Councillors Shakil Ahmed, Sultan Ali, Bell, Beswick, Cecile Biant, 
Surinder Biant, Blundell, Boriss, Brett, Brosnan, Burke, Butterworth, Cocks, 
Davidson, Dearnley, Duckworth, Neil Emmott, Susan Emmott, Emsley, 
Farnell, Furlong, James Gartside, Hartley, Heakin, Holly, Howard, Hussain, 
Joinson, Kelly, Malcolm, McCarthy, Meredith, Mir, Nickson, O'Neill, O'Rourke, 
Paolucci, Rashid, Robinson, Rush, Sheerin, Smith, Stott, Sullivan, Wardle, 
Wazir, West, Donna Williams, Peter Williams, Winkler, Zaheer and Zaman.

OFFICERS: Steve Rumbelow (Chief Executive), Sheila Downey (Director of 
Adult Services),), Gail Hopper (Director of Children's Services), Vicky 
Crossland (Assistant Director, Finance) Mark Robinson (Assistant Director 
Planning & Development), David Wilcock (Assistant Director Legal, 
Governance & Workforce) John Groves (Chief Planning Officer), Danny 
Brierley (Head of Communications),  Darrell Beck (Policy and Business 
Support Officer, Michael Brooke (Communications Officer) Elaine Newsome 
(Head of Governance), Peter Thompson (Senior Governance & Committee 
Officer). 

ALSO IN ATTENDANCE:  25 Members of the Public.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE: Councillors Ali Ahmed, Iftikhar Ahmed, 
Daalat Ali, Clegg, Hornby, Martin and Rowbotham.

35. MAYOR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

The Mayor welcomed Mr Andrew Brooke, Mrs Susan Brooke, Mrs Veronica 
Gater and Mr John Morrison, and received from them, a petition to Council in 
relation to the proposed changes to adult care services.

36. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

With reference to Minute Number 43, Councillor Brett declared a personal 
interest arising from his appointment as Chair of the STAR Joint Committee.

37. MINUTES

RESOLVED:

1. That the Minutes of the Extra-Ordinary Meeting of Council held on the 
26th July 2016 be approved as a correct record and signed by the 
Chair.

2. That subject to an amendment to remove Councillor Furlong from the 
list of Members present, the Minutes of the Ordinary meeting of Council 

Page 4

Agenda Item 3



held on the 26th July 2016 be approved as a correct record and signed 
by the Chair.

38. NOTICES OF MOTION

It was Moved by Councillor Heakin and Seconded by Councillor Brett that:

“The government is determined to reintroduce grammar schools for the first 
time in 50 years.

This Council believes this will only serve to segregate our children, providing a 
privileged education for a few and second class education for the rest.

Grammar schools foster inequality.  A report published in 2014 found the 
grammar school system widens the gap between rich and poor, with pupils 
who miss out on places left at an “immediate disadvantage”

Rochdale Council believes every child matters, not just the select few.  We 
oppose plans to open new grammar schools across the country and in our 
borough.

The Council instructs the Chief Executive to write to the Secretary of State for 
Education expressing our concern that proposals to reintroduce grammar 
schools would lead to a two-tier and divisive education system that would 
damage the education and future prospects of hundreds of our borough’s 
children”

On being put to the vote, the motion was declared to be carried and it was 
RESOLVED accordingly.

In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 13.8, Councillor Neil Emmott 
moved and Councillor O’Rourke Seconded an altered motion that:

“This Council believes that Parliamentary constituency boundaries should be 
drawn up to best reflect the communities they serve and identify with people 
who have a common interest in that area.

The Council believes this is not reflected in the government’s current plans to 
introduce changes across the country which will affect long-established towns 
and local communities.

Under the Boundary Commission’s proposals, the revised parliamentary 
constituencies will divide all three towns within our borough, despite the 
existing constituencies being the right size as determined by the Boundary 
Commission’s own rules.

Long-established towns will be ripped apart and unfamiliar communities thrust 
together. This Council is particularly concerned that local representation in 
Parliament will be adversely affected by these proposals.

Page 5



This Council supports the current boundaries of the Rochdale and Heywood 
and Middleton constituencies as best representing unified and cohesive 
communities.

The Council instructs the Chief Executive to respond to the consultation on 
the proposals to express our concern regarding the Commission's proposals 
and to propose the borough's existing parliamentary boundaries be retained.”

On being put to the vote, the motion as altered was declared to be carried and 
it was RESOLVED accordingly.

39. CORPORATE PLAN 2016

The Council considered a report on the recommendations of the Cabinet on 
the adoption of the Corporate Plan 2016-19 as part of the Council’s Budget 
and Policy Framework.

RESOLVED: That the Corporate Plan 2016-19 be approved and adopted.

40. MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2016-17 TO 2020-21

The Council considered the recommendations of the Cabinet in respect of the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016-17 to 2020-21 as part of the Council’s 
Budget and Policy Framework.

RESOLVED: That the Medium Term Financial Strategy 2016-17 to 2020-21 
be approved and adopted.

41. ADOPTION OF ROCHDALE CORE STRATEGY

The Council considered a report outlining the key findings and proposed 
modifications to the Core Strategy arising from the Inspectors report on the 
Core Strategy Examination in Public.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Core Strategy, including the Inspector’s main modifications be 
adopted;

2. That the Director of Economy be granted delegated authority to make 
administrative amendments to the formatting of the Core Strategy.

Page 6



42. PLANNING DECISION MAKING PROCESS

The Council considered a proposed chance to its decision making structure 
and processes as they relate to the determination of planning applications.

RESOLVED:

1. That an increase in the Membership of the Planning and Licensing 
Committee to 15 Members and the revocation of arrangements for 
substitute members to that Committee be approved;

2. That Councillors Clegg, Hussain, Joinson and Rush be appointed to 
the Planning and Licensing Committee;

3. That the transfer of all planning related delegations functions from 
Township Committees to the Planning and Licensing Committee be 
approved;

4. That the Monitoring Officer be granted delegated authority to make the 
consequential changes to the Councils Constitution, Parts 2 (Articles of 
the Constitution), 3 (Responsibility for Functions) 3(1) (Delegation to 
Township Committees), 3(2) (Development Control Scheme), 3(3) 
(Scheme of Delegation to Officers).

43. COUNCIL CONSTITUTION

The Council considered the adoption of revised contract procedure rules, as 
agreed by the Stockport, Trafford and Rochdale (STAR) Joint Committee, and 
the Monitoring Officer’s six monthly update on amendments to the 
Constitution undertaken by delegation.  Council were advised of two minor 
amendments to the contract procedure rules which were submitted to the 
meeting.

RESOLVED: 

1. That the revised Contract Procedure Rules, as submitted by adopted 
as part 4H to the Council’s Constitution;

2. That the six month update on amendments to the Constitution 
undertaken be delegation be noted.

44. UPDATE ON THE GREATER MANCHESTER DEVOLUTION 
AGREEMENT

The Council considered an update report on the progress of various matters 
relating to the Greater Manchester Devolution Agreement.

RESOLVED: That the report be noted

Page 7



45. MEMBERS QUARTERLY REPORTS

Members presented their Quarterly Reports as follows, and received and 
responded to questions and remarks from Members of the Council:-

The Leader of the Council and the Cabinet Member for 
Regeneration 

The Cabinet Member for Finance 

The Cabinet Member for Housing and Environment 

The Cabinet Member for Business, Skills and Employment 

The Cabinet Member for Children's Services 

The Cabinet Member for Adult Care 

The Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods and Communities 

The Cabinet Member for Corporate and Regulation 

The Cabinet Member for Culture, Health and Wellbeing 

The Chair of Heywood Township Committee 

The Chair of Middleton Township Committee 

The Chair of Pennines Township Committee 

The Chair of Rochdale Township Committee 

The Chair of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

The Chair of the Communities, Regeneration and Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

The Chair of the Health, Schools and Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 

Report of the Representative to the Armed/Reserve Forces 

Report of the Representative to the Greater Manchester Waste 
Disposal Authority 

Report of the Representative to the Greater Manchester Fire 
and Rescue Authority 

Report of a Representative to Transport for Greater Manchester 

Page 8



46. GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED AUTHORITY

RESOLVED: 

That the Minutes of the Meetings held on 29th July and 26th August 2016 be 
noted

47. JOINT MEETINGS OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER COMBINED 
AUTHORITY AND THE AGMA EXECUTIVE BOARD

RESOLVED: 

That the minutes of the meetings held on 30th June and 29th July 2016 be 
noted.

Page 9



In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 11 the following two motions have been 
submitted for consideration by Council.

Motion 1

Events in Kashmir

There is a substantial Kashmiri heritage population in Rochdale and this Council is appalled 
at the surge of atrocities in Kashmir.

Since July 8 2016, there have been horrendous human rights violations in Indian Occupied 
Kashmir (IOK). This Council has deep concerns over the latest round of grave human rights 
violations in IOK, and stresses the need to allow access to humanitarian aid and observers 
in the conflict ridden region, where hundreds have been killed and thousands wounded due 
to the inhumane use force by Indian forces. The Indian genocide in IOK is designed to 
curb pro-freedom voices and the right to self-determination enshrined in several United 
Nations Security Council Resolutions. 

Today, the voice of Kashmiris are challenging India and the world's conscience and it is time 
to impress upon India to heed the path of justice, fair play, sanity and to recognise the 
Kashmiris right to self-determination. 

There are now growing factions in all the states in India to support a balanced approach to 
the Kashmir dispute and recognise the rights of Kashmiri people.  Moreover, we urge that 
the United Nations and International Human Rights bodies are fully engaged in the region to 
protect, monitor and advance human rights in Indian Occupied Kashmir. This would not only 
permit the advocators to correct misinformation about the local human rights violations to 
relevant international agencies, but also seek to persuade adherence to accepted human 
rights standards.

Rochdale Borough Council requests the international Governmental and Non-Governmental 
Organisations to immediately take notice of the grave human rights violations in occupied 
Jammu and Kashmir. It also condemns the Indian government's statements on unilateral 
abrogation of the Indus water treaty, which will lead to an economic catastrophe by 
damaging the agricultural resources downstream in Pakistan.

The Council instructs the Chief Executive to inform the British Foreign Secretary, the Indian 
High Commissioner and the Secretary-General of the United Nations of our grave concerns 
of events in Kashmir as set out in this motion.

To be moved by Councillor Richard Farnell

Seconded by Councillor Aftab Hussain

Page 10

Agenda Item 5



Motion 2

Protecting children from alcohol advertising

This Council notes:

That alcohol can be enjoyed in a responsible way by adults.

That alcohol can cause serious and fatal diseases, including several types of cancers; that 
the UK Chief Medical Officers’ Alcohol Guidelines advise both men and women that it is 
safest not to drink regularly more than 14 units per week, to keep health risks from drinking 
alcohol to a low level.

That alcohol can only be legally purchased by adults over 18 years old.

That the advertising of alcohol is designed to make products more appealing and in turn can 
appeal to children and young people.

That the Science Committee of the European Alcohol and Health Forum concluded in 2009 
that “alcohol marketing increases the likelihood that adolescents will start to use alcohol, and 
to drink more if they are already using alcohol”.

That underage drinkers are more likely to be a victim of crime and those who get drunk at 
least once a month are twice as likely to commit a criminal offence as those who don’t.

That the recent Healthier Futures/Alcohol Health Alliance public opinion survey found 73% 
support in Greater Manchester for a 9pm watershed for alcohol adverts on TV.

That the recent public engagement campaign ‘See What Sam Sees’ by Healthier Futures, 
talked with over 200 people across Greater Manchester and received overwhelming support 
for a 9pm watershed from the Greater Manchester public.

This Council believes:

That it is the responsibility of all levels of government to try to ensure good public health in 
the population.

This Council resolves:

To request the Leader of the Council to write the Secretary of State for Culture, Media and 
Sport, expressing these views and asking her to bring forward legislation to introduce a 9pm 
watershed for the advertising of alcohol products on TV to protect children and young people 
from the influence of alcohol advertising. 

To continue to promote good health in our borough, to support the UK Chief Medical 
Officers’ Alcohol Guidelines, and to protect children and adults from 

Moved by Cllr Donna Martin

Seconded by Cllr Daniel Meredith 

Page 11



1

Title: Review of the Local Council Tax 
Support Scheme for 2017/18

Public/Private: For Publication

Report to: Council    

Cabinet Member: Cabinet Member for Finance

Report Author: Tracey Bland

Date: Wednesday, 14th December 2016

Director:    Director of Resources

Tel: Tel: 01706 925405  

Author Email:    tracey.bland@rochdale.gov.uk

Comments from Statutory Officers:

Key Decision: Yes 

Monitoring Officer: Yes
Section 151 Officer: Yes

1. Purpose of Report
1.1 To present the recommendations of Cabinet on the 21st November 2016 in respect of 

the Local Council Tax Support Scheme review 2017/18.

2. Recommendation
2.1 Council adopts the recommendations that:

1. the findings of the consultation process for the review of the Local Council Tax 
Support Scheme for 2017/18 be noted.

2. following the outcome of the consultation exercise changes to the Local Council 
Tax Support Scheme  for 2017/18 be agreed, including :

 reducing the minimum payment for working age claimants from 20% to 15% , 
(award capped at 85% of a Band A council tax from 80% of Band A council tax) 

 Scheme to be automatically updated annually for national changes affecting the 
operation for the award of local council tax support, thus ensuring the criteria 
for award remains in line with that of housing benefit, with inflation increases for 
deductions, premiums and allowances increased in line with Department of 
Works & Pensions guidance.

3. the considerations of the  Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Committee of the 8th 
November 2016 , provided at 4.2.6 be noted.

4. the proposed Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 be approved in 
accordance with section 67 of the Local Government Finance Act 2012.

3. Reason for recommendation
3.1 Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires local authorities to 

consider whether to revise or to replace its Local Council Tax Support Scheme each 
year. Any revisions or a replacement scheme must have been considered and agreed 
no later than 31st January 2017 for operation from 1st April 2017.

Page 12

Agenda Item 6



2

4.    Background
4.1 On the 11th July 2016 Cabinet agreed to consult on changes to the Local Council Tax 

Support Scheme which would take affect from the 1st April 2017.The proposals which 
formed the basis of the consultation were:

a) Leaving the scheme the same in 2017/18 as currently operates.

b) Increasing the amount of support to 85% of the council tax for a Band 
A property from 80%.

4.2  Consultation  
4.2.1   The Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires councils to consult in this 

order should amendments to the Scheme be considered:

• consult with precept authorities
• publish a draft scheme in such manner as it thinks fit
• consult such other persons as it considers are likely to have an interest in 

the operation of the scheme.

4.2.2   The consultation took place over a ten week period from the 18th July 2016 to the 23rd 
September 2016. A detailed report summarising the feedback and findings is 
attached at Appendix A.

4.2.3  Over the consultation period we have set out to engage with both those who 
are directly affected by the proposals but also the wider community, as 
follows:

a) Council’s consultation hub provided an on-line version of the questionnaire 
and outline as to the proposals.

b) Paper copies of the questionnaire provided to libraries, customer 
services centres and community centres.

c) Consultation reports have also been presented at Corporate Overview & 
Scrutiny and Township Committees.

d) A copy of the consultation report has been sent to GM Police and GM Fire 
& Rescue Authority seeking their views on the proposals.

e) During the consultation period there have been press releases and 
social media feeds to maintain general awareness of the consultation 
and to encourage people to take part.

f) All correspondence sent out by the Revenues & Benefits Team during 
the consultation period has signposted claimants to the consultation 
on the Council’s website.

4.2.4    A total of 90 responses have been received. The table below summarises the 
responses which indicate marginal support for the Scheme to be amended to provide 
additional support to all working age claimants.

Page 13



3

TABLE 1 – CONSULTATION REPORT SUMMARY
Question 1: Please indicate whether you are currently in receipt of council tax 
support:

Respondents in receipt of LCTSS 32%
Wider community 68%

Question 2: In terms of the maximum level of award do you feel it should:

Stay the same at 80% 49% felt it should stay the same

Increase to 85% 50% felt it should increase

1% not answered
Question 3: Do you think it is fair to stop considering Family Premium for new 
claimants?

Yes 39%

No 38%

Don’t know 23% 
Question 4: Other comments

36 respondents provided comments, which are attached at Appendix B,.

4.2.5   Thirty six respondents provided additional comments. A summary of the themes has 
been provided at Appendix B. Members have been provided with a full schedule of all 
the comments when making their decision. Of the 36 comments 16 were in favour 
of the change to the Scheme, whilst 20 felt the Scheme should remain the same.

4.2.6    The Local Council Tax Support Scheme was considered by the Corporate Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee at a meeting held on 8th November 2016. The Committee 
scrutinised a report of the Director of Resources which presented feedback from the 
consultation process for amending the Local Council Tax Support Scheme. Members 
scrutinised the consultation process, the response rate, inclusivity of the process and 
discussed the impacts of the scheme. Members raised concerns regarding the poor 
response rate and this was discussed. The Committee were advised that the proposed 
increase should improve collection rates and that the change would bring the level of 
support provided more in line with the current support provided by other neighbouring 
Local Authorities. The proposals for the Local Council Tax Support Scheme 2017/18 
were received and noted.

5.    Alternatives considered
5.1. Options have been considered in relation to the Scheme remaining unchanged and 

changes to elements of the eligibility criteria to disregard earnings for a small number 
of working age claimants. It was considered, however, that a universal change to the 
minimum payment for all working age claimants provided the fairest approach and 
would target additional support to the most vulnerable groups. On this basis the 
proposal for consultation for 2017/18 seeks to reduce the minimum payment to 15% of 
Band A council tax, providing support at 85% of a Band A council tax.

Page 14



4

6     Financial Implications
6.1. Table 2 provides the financial implications associated with a change in the Scheme to 

85% of a Band A property. This assumes that 

  Take up remains constant with current levels of claimants; it is possible that 
take up will increase as more claimants would become eligible if the criteria 
was relaxed.

  Any increase in council tax for 2017/18 is cost neutral to the overall impact on 
the Collection Fund for the purposes of calculating the local council tax support 
scheme impact.

   No inflationary increases for premiums and allowances in 2017/18 have been 
included. Premiums and allowances are increased each year in line with DWP 
guidelines for non- passported claimants.

Table 2 – Financial implications

6.2. Local council tax support scheme funding

 6.2.1 The Scheme is budgeted for within the Collection Fund as a discount within the 
Council Tax account. Areas which are recommended to be reviewed to bridge the 
shortfall for Scheme changes are outlined below.

Scheme changed to 
85% award of Band A 
council tax

£m
Elderly  - No impact 7.492

Working Age Claimants 9.646
Current spend on Local council tax Support 17.138

Budget held within Collection Fund for support 2016/17 16.592
(Surplus)/deficit 0.546
Rochdale MBC element of the (surplus)/ deficit as one 
of the 3 precept authorities (86.5%) 0.472
Number of claimants likely to benefit from change

Total working age claimants at model date : 14,004

Working age claimants 
to benefit :  All

Page 15



5

£m
(Surplus) /Deficit from Table 2 above 0.472
Funded by :
Reduction in the Discretionary Hardship Fund *
The tax base includes £130k for hardship which was introduced as part of the 
2015/16 scheme. There has been very limited take up of hardship; this could be 
reduced by £80k to support any scheme changes. The savings relate to 86.5% 
for Rochdale’s element of any change.

(0.069)

Changes to collection rates within the council tax taxbase for 2017/18 The 
tax base includes a collection target of 95.8%; current collection levels would 
support a review of this collection rate. Every 0.1% change in the collection rate 
increases income to the Collection Fund by £75k, based on the 2016/17 tax base.
The in-year collection rate in 2015/16 for council tax owed by LCTS claimants 
was 75.2%. Analysis of collection rates for current and previous years arrears 
would indicate that the rate for 2017/18 could be increased to 96% when setting 
the council tax base later this year.

(0.130)

Net (surplus) 
 Net deficit 0.273
* The Discretionary Hardship Fund was introduced as part of the changes to the Scheme for 2015/16.
   

The proposal would require savings to be identified by the Council to meet the £0.273m 
shortfall.

7    Legal Implications
7.1. Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires local authorities 

to consider whether to revise or to replace its scheme each year. The revision of a 
scheme is a decision reserved to full Council.

7.2 Any revisions or a replacement scheme must have been considered and agreed no 
later than the 31st January 2017 for operation by 1   April 2017. Before any revisions 
or a replacement scheme is agreed the Authority must:

• Consult the major precept authorities, this being GM Police Authority and 
GM Fire & Rescue Authority.

• Publish a draft of the revisions or replacement scheme in such manner as 
it thinks fit, and

• Consult parties who are likely to have an interest in the operation of 
the scheme.

7.3. There are no requirements to undertake public consultation should the scheme remain 
unchanged.

7.4 In order to discharge its duties under the Equality Act 2010 the authority will need to 
consider the effects of proposals on people with a protected characteristic as defined 
by the act, which can be done by way of an equality impact assessment. Further 
details on this aspect is provided at 9 below.

8. Personnel Implications
8.1 There are no personnel implications arising as a result of this report.

9.   Corporate Priorities
9.1 The Local Council Tax Support Scheme is designed to support corporate priorities, in 

particular it:
 Supports governance arrangements remaining strong during this period of
      significant change;

Page 16



6

 Supports budget stability by close monitoring of high risk spend;
while at the same time providing support for the most vulnerable residents of 
the Borough.

10. Risk Assessment Implications
  10.1 All the issues raised and the recommendation(s) in this report involve risk 

considerations which would be required to be managed in this process, as set out 
below:

a) Net eligibility during the year may increase the support to be provided above the 
budget set within the council tax base. This would be a cost to the Collection Fund 
which would be charged to the Council in the following year.

b) Some claimants may experience reductions in income as a result of other Welfare 
Reform changes which may reduce collection rates. 

c) Ensuring the revised scheme is not subject to legal challenge on the basis of 
equality legislation.

11. Equalities Impacts
11.1    There are no workforce equality issues or equality/community issues arising from this 

report.

11.2. Rochdale Council is legally required to monitor and review the Scheme following its 
implementation to check that it is working as planned and to screen for unexpected 
equality impacts.  The Council needs to comply with the public sector equality duty in 
section 149 of the Equality Act 2010.  It is the responsibility of the Council to keep its 
local scheme under review, making any adjustments as necessary. 

The Equality Impact Assessment supporting this report indicates the need to consult on 
a review of the existing Scheme, in view of the findings from various reports into 
schemes nationally and how our local scheme compares; continued feedback from 
residents affected; and changes made locally by other Councils.

Background Papers
Document Place of Inspection

Local Council Tax Support Scheme and 
Technical Reforms to Council Tax 

Reviews of Scheme
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17
2017/18

Council Tax Support 
House of Commons Public Accounts 
Committee 48th report of 2013/14 – 
published 11th March 2014

Cabinet 17th December 2012

Cabinet 31st October 2013
Cabinet 28th July 2014
Cabinet 2nd November 2015
Cabinet 11th July 2016 and Cabinet 21st 
November 2016

House of Commons - Council Tax Support - 
Public Accounts Committee

Page 17

http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmpubacc/943/94302.htm
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmpubacc/943/94302.htm


7

Appendix A 

Local Council Tax Support Scheme - Proposals for 
2017/18: Summary report

Page 18



Page 1

Local Council Tax Support Scheme - Proposals for 2017/18: Summary report

This report was created on Thursday 29 September 2016 at 09:30.

The consultation ran from 21/07/2016 to 23/09/2016.

Contents

Question 1: Please indicate whether you are currently in receipt of council tax support: 2

Receiving CTAX? 2

Question 2: In terms of the maximum level of award do you feel it should: 2

Reward Level 2

Question 3: Do you think it is fair to stop considering Family Premium for new claimants, this is added when the Council works out

how much Council Tax Support a family can have? This would affect any new people from April 2017.

2

Assessed Need Reduction 2

Question 4: Other comments – please provide any other information you feel the Council should consider in its review of the

scheme

3

Other Comments 3

Question 5: Would you like to help us to provide services which are fair and sensitive to the needs of all our communities by

completing our equalities monitoring form?

3

Equalities 3

Question 6: Which age group are you in? 3

Age 3

Question 7: What is your gender? 4

Gender 4

Question 8: Do you identify with the gender you were assigned to at birth (male or female)? 4

Transgender 4

Question 9: Do you have caring responsibilities? 5

Caring 5

Question 10: Do you consider yourself to have a disability? 5

Disability 5

Question 11: Which group best describes your ethnicity? 6

Ethnicity 6

Other Ethnicity 7

Question 12: What is your Religion or Belief? 7

What is your Religion or Belief? 7

Other religion/belief 8

Question 13: What is your sexual orientation? 8

What is your sexual orientation 8

Question 14: Are you pregnant? 9

Are you pregnant? 9

Question 15: Have you given birth within the past 26 weeks? 9

Have you given birth within the past 26 weeks 9

Question 16: Are you a member of the armed forces or ex-member of the armed forces? 10

armed forces 10

Question 17: What is your postcode? 10

Postcode 10

Page 19



Page 2

Question 1: Please indicate whether you are currently in receipt of council tax support:

Receiving CTAX?

Yes, I am in receipt of council tax
support  

No, I am not in receipt of council
tax support  

Not Answered

 0 61

Option Total Percent

Yes, I am in receipt of council tax support 29 32.22%

No, I am not in receipt of council tax support 61 67.78%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 2: In terms of the maximum level of award do you feel it should:

Reward Level

Stay the same at 80% support,
based on a property at Council

Tax Band A
 

Increase to 85%  

Not Answered  

 0 45

Option Total Percent

Stay the same at 80% support, based on a property at Council Tax Band A 44 48.89%

Increase to 85% 45 50.00%

Not Answered 1 1.11%

Question 3: Do you think it is fair to stop considering Family Premium for new claimants, this is added when the
Council works out how much Council Tax Support a family can have? This would affect any new people from April
2017.

Assessed Need Reduction

Yes  

No  

Don't know  

Not Answered

 0 35

Page 20



Page 3

Option Total Percent

Yes 35 38.89%

No 34 37.78%

Don't know 21 23.33%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 4: Other comments – please provide any other information you feel the Council should consider in its
review of the scheme

Other Comments

There were 36 responses to this part of the question.

Question 5: Would you like to help us to provide services which are fair and sensitive to the needs of all our
communities by completing our equalities monitoring form?

Equalities

Yes, I would like to participate  

No, please take me to the end of
the survey  

Not Answered

 0 47

Option Total Percent

Yes, I would like to participate 43 47.78%

No, please take me to the end of the survey 47 52.22%

Not Answered 0 0%

Question 6: Which age group are you in?

Age

0-19

20-29  

30-39  

40-49  

50-59  

Over 60  

Prefer not to say

Not Answered  

 0 47

Page 21



Page 4

Option Total Percent

0-19 0 0%

20-29 7 7.78%

30-39 10 11.11%

40-49 16 17.78%

50-59 5 5.56%

Over 60 5 5.56%

Prefer not to say 0 0%

Not Answered 47 52.22%

Question 7: What is your gender?

Gender

Female  

Male  

Prefer not to say

Not Answered  

 0 47

Option Total Percent

Female 22 24.44%

Male 21 23.33%

Prefer not to say 0 0%

Not Answered 47 52.22%

Question 8: Do you identify with the gender you were assigned to at birth (male or female)?

Transgender

Yes  

No  

Prefer not to say  

Not Answered  

 0 48

Page 22



Page 5

Option Total Percent

Yes 40 44.44%

No 1 1.11%

Prefer not to say 1 1.11%

Not Answered 48 53.33%

Question 9: Do you have caring responsibilities?

Caring

Yes  

No  

Prefer not to say  

Not Answered  

 0 47

Option Total Percent

Yes 12 13.33%

No 29 32.22%

Prefer not to say 2 2.22%

Not Answered 47 52.22%

Question 10: Do you consider yourself to have a disability?

Disability

Yes  

No  

Prefer not to say  

Not Answered  

 0 47

Page 23



Page 6

Option Total Percent

Yes 12 13.33%

No 29 32.22%

Prefer not to say 2 2.22%

Not Answered 47 52.22%

Question 11: Which group best describes your ethnicity?

Ethnicity

White: British  

White: English  

White: Welsh

White: Scottish

White: Northern Irish

White: Irish

Any Other White Background

Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Group

Asian/Asian British: Indian

Asian/Asian British: Pakistani  

Asian/Asian British: Bangladeshi

Asian/Asian British: Kashmiri

Asian/Asian British: Chinese

Any Other Asian Background

Black/African/Caribbean/Black
British: African

Black/African/Caribbean/Black
British: Caribbean  

Any Other
Black/African/Caribbean

Background

Arab

Prefer not to say  

Any other ethnic group (please
specify below)

Not Answered  

 0 47Page 24



Page 7

Option Total Percent

White: British 32 35.56%

White: English 8 8.89%

White: Welsh 0 0%

White: Scottish 0 0%

White: Northern Irish 0 0%

White: Irish 0 0%

Any Other White Background 0 0%

Mixed / Multiple Ethnic Group 0 0%

Asian/Asian British: Indian 0 0%

Asian/Asian British: Pakistani 1 1.11%

Asian/Asian British: Bangladeshi 0 0%

Asian/Asian British: Kashmiri 0 0%

Asian/Asian British: Chinese 0 0%

Any Other Asian Background 0 0%

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: African 0 0%

Black/African/Caribbean/Black British: Caribbean 1 1.11%

Any Other Black/African/Caribbean Background 0 0%

Arab 0 0%

Prefer not to say 1 1.11%

Any other ethnic group (please specify below) 0 0%

Not Answered 47 52.22%

Other Ethnicity

There were 0 responses to this part of the question.

Question 12: What is your Religion or Belief?

What is your Religion or Belief?

Christian  

Buddhist

Hindu

Jewish

Muslim  

Sikh

No religion/belief  

Any other religion/belief (please
specify below)  

Prefer not to say  

Not Answered  

 0 48

Page 25



Page 8

Option Total Percent

Christian 19 21.11%

Buddhist 0 0%

Hindu 0 0%

Jewish 0 0%

Muslim 1 1.11%

Sikh 0 0%

No religion/belief 20 22.22%

Any other religion/belief (please specify below) 1 1.11%

Prefer not to say 1 1.11%

Not Answered 48 53.33%

Other religion/belief

There were 2 responses to this part of the question.

Question 13: What is your sexual orientation?

What is your sexual orientation

Heterosexual  

Gay Woman/Lesbian

Gay Man  

Bisexual

Other  

Prefer not to say  

Not Answered  

 0 47

Page 26



Page 9

Option Total Percent

Heterosexual 37 41.11%

Gay Woman/Lesbian 0 0%

Gay Man 1 1.11%

Bisexual 0 0%

Other 2 2.22%

Prefer not to say 3 3.33%

Not Answered 47 52.22%

Question 14: Are you pregnant?

Are you pregnant?

Yes  

No  

Not applicable  

Prefer not to say  

Not Answered  

 0 47

Option Total Percent

Yes 1 1.11%

No 28 31.11%

Not applicable 13 14.44%

Prefer not to say 1 1.11%

Not Answered 47 52.22%

Question 15: Have you given birth within the past 26 weeks?

Have you given birth within the past 26 weeks

Yes

No  

Not applicable  

Prefer not to say  

Not Answered  

 0 47

Page 27



Page 10

Option Total Percent

Yes 0 0%

No 30 33.33%

Not applicable 12 13.33%

Prefer not to say 1 1.11%

Not Answered 47 52.22%

Question 16: Are you a member of the armed forces or ex-member of the armed forces?

armed forces

Yes

No  

Prefer not to say  

Not Answered  

 0 47

Option Total Percent

Yes 0 0%

No 42 46.67%

Prefer not to say 1 1.11%

Not Answered 47 52.22%

Question 17: What is your postcode?

Postcode

There were 31 responses to this part of the question.

Page 28



8

Appendix B 

Local Council Tax Support Scheme - Proposals for 
2017/18: Summary of comments received

36 responses received.
16 responses in support of the change to the 
Scheme to 85%
20 responses wanted the Scheme to remain the 
same or reduce support.

General theme of comments Number of 
responses in this 
category

1 Agree to support for vulnerable groups, some 
comments about more support needed to 
pensioners, disabled and lone parents.

8

2 The increase in support not supported because of 
cuts to services. A number of comments about 
improving highways and refuse collection rather 
than support to Scheme

7

3 Higher banded properties should be considered in 
Scheme rather than just Band A. A number of 
comments received about Band B and C 
receiving support. One comment on social 
housing properties should receive support above 
Band A 

6

4 The Scheme should remain the same or be 
reduced

6

5 Reduce council tax increase for all rather than 
increasing support for Scheme

3

6 Not applicable to the consultation for the Scheme 2
7 More provision in the Scheme needed for those 

with illnesses including terminal illness and those 
in education

2

8 Supported the increase in the Scheme but felt 
that more needed to be done to reduce fraud in 
the Scheme

1

9 More help should be provided in the Scheme to 
low paid workers

1

Total 36

Page 29



APPENDIX 

Equality Impact Assessment

 

What are you assessing?  Please tick the appropriate box below.

Function Strategy Policy Project Other, please specify below

√

Service:

Resources

Section: 

Revenues & Benefits

Responsible Officer:

Keith McKenzie

Name of function/strategy/ policy/ project assessed:

Review of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
eligibility criteria for 2017/18

Date of Assessment:  30th June 2016

Officers Involved:

Keith Mackenzie  - Head of Revenues & Benefits Service

Tracey Bland – Corporate Finance Manager

1.What is the purpose of the function/strategy/policy/project assessed?

(Briefly describe the aims, objectives and purpose of the function/strategy/policy/project)

The document being assessed is the Local Council Tax Support Scheme, for the year 2017/18. This sets out 
the eligibility criteria and level of award of discount to be applied towards a claimant’s council tax bill.

Since April 2013, local authorities have had powers to provide discounts to council tax payers who meet the 

Page 30



eligibility criteria for support, following the abolition of the national council tax benefit scheme in 2012/13.

2.Who are the key stakeholders?

 Current and future claimants of local council tax support both working age and those in 
receipt of pension credit

 Customer representative groups such as CAB have an interest in the proposals. 
 Housing services and social landlords.
 Customer services staff and welfare rights organisations
 Elected members and officers of Rochdale BC
 partners / local agencies with an interest in supporting the most vulnerable
 other government agencies working in this field (DWP)

3. What is the scope of this equality impact assessment? That is, what is included in this 
assessment.  

Schedule 1A of the Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires local authorities to consider whether to 
revise or to replace its Local Council Tax Support Scheme each year. Any revisions or a replacement 
scheme must have been considered and agreed no later than 31st January 2017 for operation from 1st April 
2017.
The scheme has undergone some changes since it was originally agreed in 2013/14 as detailed at Table 1:

Table 1 – Rochdale’s Local Council Tax Support Scheme changes 2013/14 to 2016/17

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17
Cap on the level 
of award

Capped at 75% 
of Band A 
council tax

Capped at 80% 
of Band A 
council tax

Taper on 
income

30% of every £1 
of income above 
the eligible 
threshold

20% of every £1 
of income above 
the eligible 
threshold

Non dependant 
deductions

Deductions 
doubled to that 
of the DWP 
level

Still frozen at 
levels agreed in 
2013/14

Second adult 
rebate

Removed As original 
scheme

Backdating of 
claims

Removed

As 2013/14 
scheme

As original 
scheme
Local Hardship 
Fund introduced

As 2015/16 
scheme

The report proposes consulting on reducing the minimum payment for claimants from 20% to 15%, 
(award capped at 85% of a Band A property.) – additional cost of £472k

Page 31



4.Which needs is this function/strategy/ policy/ project designed to meet?

The aim of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme is to provide financial assistance by way of a reduction in 
the council tax bill payable for those claimants who qualify under the means tested criteria of the Scheme 
which compares income against an assessment of living allowances (known as applicable amounts).

5.Has a needs analysis been undertaken?

The Local Council Tax Support Scheme is designed to provide financial assistance to council tax payers 
who need assistance with the payment of their council tax. The Scheme criteria cover both working age and 
pension credit age claimants. 

Localisation of council tax support in place of a national council tax benefit scheme is part of a wider set of 
welfare reforms being delivered by the Government to improve the incentives to work and ensuring 
resources are used more effectively.  

A review of all Schemes was launched in December 2015 by Eric Ollerenshaw OBE which reported in 
March 2016. The terms of reference for the review were:

 To review the  effectiveness, efficiency, fairness and transparency of the different LCTS 
schemes

 consider their impact on the localism agenda
 make recommendations as to whether or not the schemes should be brought within Universal 

Credit.
 examine best practice, including how councils have been able to reduce or manage 

administrative costs, promote simplified schemes, and communicate the changes to residents. 

There were 17 recommendations made by the Review, 14 for the Government to consider and 3 for local 
authorities. The key recommendations for local authorities to consider relate to:

1. partnership working across councils for the design of future schemes, joint procurement for 
software and joint schemes across neighbouring councils.

2. ensure debt collection practices remain in line with latest Government guidance and that their 
processes are proportionate to the debt involved.

3. Departments within councils to work closely with each other to develop a holistic approach to LCTS 
council tax collection and identifying and supporting people who are struggling to pay.

Rochdale Council Revenues & Benefits Service :

1. already work closely across GM at head of service and operational levels. For example, at the GM 
Head of Service meeting on 10 June, there was a discussion about all options currently being 
considered for 2017/18. One authority is seeking to move from no minimum contribution to 12.5%, 
whilst  the remaining authorities have no plans at the current time to change their schemes.

2. have debt collection policies that are in line with Government guidance. There are well embedded 
practices to determine ‘can’t pay/won’t pay’ with tailored recovery remedies. In addition, 
summonses are not issued against working-age LCTS claimants with debts less than £300.

3. has close links with Adult Care for specific cases where vulnerability is identified. The Council also 
works with identified family groups (formerly known as troubled families) and a holistic view of these 
is considered, including LCTS, council tax debts, benefit cap.

6.Who is affected by this function/strategy/ policy/ project?

The Local Council Tax Support Scheme is designed to provide financial assistance to council tax payers 

Page 32



who need assistance with the payment of their council tax. The Scheme criteria covers both working age 
and pension credit age claimants. 

There are two applications routes for the Local Council Tax Support Scheme.  

1. Passported by Department of Works & Pensions (DWP)
Claimants who are already in receipt of benefits from the DWP and are either of working age but 
unemployed or are in receipt of pension credit can be  passported to local council tax support. If in 
receipt of a qualifying benefit e.g. income support the claimant is asked to confirm they wish to 
claim local council tax support via a short application form after which they will be awarded 
maximum Local Council Tax Support. 

2. Standard claims
Alternatively applicants apply directly to the Council if they are on low income. These “standard 

applications are assessed following the claimant providing details of their income, savings and family 
circumstances. Applications can be made using a variety of application methods, e.g. on-line; face-to-face;

7.Who has been involved in the review or development of this function/strategy/ policy/ project and 
who has been consulted?  State your consultation/involvement methodology.

The Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires councils to consult on the proposed change to the Scheme 
as follows:

1. consult with precept authorities 
2. publish a draft scheme in such manner as it thinks fit
3. consult such other persons as it consider are likely to have an interest in the operation of the 

scheme.

A consultation period of 10 weeks is recommended if changes to the Scheme are to be considered for 
2017/18 to ensure that the consultation exercise is completed within budgetary timetables. The 
consultation period is suggested to take place between 18th July 2016 and end on the 23rd September 
2016 to provide:

      capacity to scrutinise and agree a revised Scheme alongside the budget process for 2017/18 
and

      to meet the statutory requirement to have a revised scheme agreed by the 31st January 2017.

If the scheme is to be altered to provide more support to claimants the proposal is to consult as follows:

 Website awareness and online questionnaire
 Use Townships and Area Forums to raise awareness
 Posters at Council establishments
 Paragraph “flyer” on bottom of all Revenue and Benefits standard letters during consultation period 

to signpost to website about possible changes.

8.What data have you considered for this assessment and have any gaps in the data been identified.  
What action will be taken to close any data gaps?

Page 33



1. The CAPITA modelling database was used to provide the  original data for modelling the options 
using November 2013 data.

2.  Extracts from the monthly performance reports have also been used.
      3.    The following background papers are also considered

Local Council Tax Support Scheme 
and Technical Reforms to Council 
Tax 

Reviews of Scheme
2014/15
2015/16
2016/17

Council Tax Support 
House of Commons Public Accounts 
Committee 48th report of 2013/14 – 
published 11th March 2014

DCLG Localising Support for Council 
Tax Vulnerable people – key local 
authority duties

Three years on - 
An Independent Review of Local Council 

Tax Support Schemes

Cabinet 17th December 2012

Cabinet 31st October 2013
Cabinet 28th July 2014
Cabinet 2nd November 2015

House of Commons - Council Tax 
Support - Public Accounts 
Committee

Localising support for Council Tax: 
vulnerable people - key local 
authority duties - Publications - 
GOV.UK

Local Council Tax support schemes: 
an independent review - Publications 
- GOV.UK

9.Are there any other documents or strategies which are linked to this assessment? If so, please 
include hyperlinks to these documents below, where available.

See 8 above

10.What impact will this function/strategy/policy/project have on all the protected groups?  This 
includes both positive and potentially negative impacts.

Race Equality 

Existing data on applicants for Local Council Tax Support does not give any clarification on ethnicity. 
Currently 68% of eligible claimants (at May 2016) are “passported” claimants. Passported claimants are 
assessed by DWP and are usually in receipt of jobseekers allowance, income support or income related 
employment & support allowance. Rochdale Council receive limited non essential information from DWP in 
relation to these claimants. Non passported (“standard”) claimants apply directly to Rochdale Council and 
are usually in work but on low incomes. 

Disabled People

Page 34

http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmpubacc/943/94302.htm
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmpubacc/943/94302.htm
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmpubacc/943/94302.htm
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/localising-support-for-council-tax-local-council-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/localising-support-for-council-tax-local-council-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/localising-support-for-council-tax-local-council-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/localising-support-for-council-tax-local-council-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-council-tax-support-schemes-an-independent-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-council-tax-support-schemes-an-independent-review
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-council-tax-support-schemes-an-independent-review


All working age claimants would benefit from reducing the minimum payment to 15% of Band A 
Council Tax property charge, some groups would benefit more than others as demonstrated in table 
7. On average all claimants would benefit by £0.76 per week if the cap was lifted to 85%. Carers and 
disability claimants would see an above average reduction in weekly council tax payments of £0.81 
and £0.82 pence per week 

Change to weekly contribution to Council Tax  Lift cap to 85% , reducing the minimum payment 
from 20% to 15%.

Claimant 
numbers

Average weekly 
contribution to 
Council Tax

Average weekly 
contribution to Council 

Tax after change to 
cap 

Reduced 
contribution to 

Council Tax per 
week

Per week
£

Per week
£

Per week
£

Weekly change 14,004 6.06 5.30 0.76
By LCTSS groupings :

Carer 904 6.64 5.83 0.81
Disability 4,771 5.69 4.87 0.82
Families 3,072 6.86 6.14 0.72

Lone parents with 
children under 5 1,653 5.31 4.61 0.70

Single, couple and 
other claimants 3,604 5.80 5.05 0.75

Carers

See above

Gender

The eligibility criteria for the scheme has no differential impact between working age male or working age 
female applicants. 

All awards are neutral in that they are available equally to applicants irrespective of gender. Claimants of 
pension age are protected to the level of awards under the previous national council tax benefit system.

Age

The Scheme’s eligibility criteria are positive in relation to age, as all claimants of pension age are protected 
under the previous national council tax benefit scheme’s criteria. There is no cap as to the level of award of 
council tax benefit support unlike working age claimants.

Page 35



Claimants of pension credit age account for 39% , approximately 9,000 of the total claimants for Local 
Council Tax Support. The average weekly council tax support is £15.93 for claimants of pension credit age, 
compared to an average £12.31 per week for working age claimants under the capped level of award 
introduced within the Local Council Tax Support Scheme.

Armed Forces and Ex-Armed Forces Personnel

The Scheme’s criteria disregards war widows and widows pension in line with the local disregards which 
featured under the previous national council tax benefit scheme.

The level of award is capped on the same basis as all other working age claimants.

Sexual Orientation

Existing data on applicants for Local council Tax Support does not give any clarification on sexual 
orientation. 

The eligibility criteria is neutral in relation to sexual orientation, as it does not expressly include, exclude or 
otherwise identify any particular group irrespective of sexual orientation. 
All awards are neutral in that they are available equally to applicants irrespective of sexual orientation. 

Gender Reassignment

Existing data on applicants for Local Council Tax Support Scheme does not give any clarification on gender 
reassignment. 

The eligibility criteria is neutral in relation to gender reassignment, as it does not expressly include, exclude 
or otherwise identify any particular group. 

All awards are therefore neutral in that they are available equally to all applicants irrespective of gender 
reassignment. 

Religion or Belief

The eligibility of the Scheme does not impact on any religion or belief more than any other group. All awards 
are neutral in that they are available equally to applicants irrespective of religion or belief.

Pregnant Women or Those on Maternity Leave

Existing data on applicants for the Local Council Tax Support Scheme does not give any clarification on 
pregnant women, those on maternity leave or having given birth within the last 26 weeks. The only 
information which is held relates to income from statutory maternity pay that a claimant may be receiving at 
the point an application is made as this forms part of the income assessment for the means tested support.

The Scheme’s eligibility criteria continues with the same level of protection of income and savings for 
pregnant women as applied under the national council tax benefit scheme when calculating the means 

Page 36



tested eligibility criteria. Although the level of award is capped on the same basis as all other working age 
claimants.

Marriage or Civil Partnership

Eligibility criteria and awards are neutral in that they are available equally to applicants irrespective of marital 
status.

11.What are your main conclusions from this analysis?

Changes to the level of cap on the award of discount under the Local Council Tax Support Scheme for 
working age claimants would provide financial support to vulnerable groups. A discretionary council tax 
support payment scheme provides targeted financial support on a case by case basis to vulnerable 
claimants who are experiencing exceptional hardship in relation to paying their council tax bill.

12.What are your recommendations?

1. To consider and approve, for consultation, the proposal to amend the Scheme for 2017/18. 
The proposal being to reduce the minimum payment for working age claimants from 20% to 
15%, (award capped at 85% of a Band A property.)

2. To consider and approve the formal consultation period to be adopted should amendments to 
the Scheme be accepted for consultation.

3. To note that the results of the consultation, should Scheme changes be agreed, are to be 
reported to Corporate Overview & Scrutiny Committee and Cabinet in early November 2016 
with the final Local Council Tax Scheme being agreed by Full Council on the 18th January 
2017.

4. To consider and agree that the Scheme is automatically updated annually for national 
changes affecting the operation for the award of local council tax support thus ensuring that 
criteria for award remains in line with the award of housing benefit. Inflation increases for 
deductions, premiums and allowances to increase in line with DWP guidance.

13.What actions are you going to take to address the findings of this assessment?  Please attach an 
action plan including details of designated officers responsible for completing these actions.

The actions are dependent on the decision taken by Cabinet on the amendment, if any, which will form the 
basis of the consultation. The report provides three options for consideration.

Signed (Completing Officer):___Tracey Bland________________
Date:___30/6/2016________

Page 37



Title: Council Constitution - Amendments to the 
Scheme of Delegation

Public/Private: For Publication

Report to: Council

Cabinet Member: Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Services and Regulation

Report Author: Elaine Newsome

Date: 14th December 2016

Director:    Assistant Director (Legal, 
Governance & Workforce)

Tel: 01706 924793  

Author Email:    
Elaine.Newsome@Rochdale.Gov.UK

Key Decision: No

Comments from Statutory Officers: Monitoring Officer:  Yes
Section 151 Officer: No 

1. Purpose of Report
1.1 To consider amendments to the Councils Scheme of Delegation as it relates to 

arrangements for Disciplinary and Grievance Appeals.

2. Recommendation

2.1 That the delegation to the Appeals Committee in respect of the hearing of personnel 
disciplinary and grievance appeals below the level of Assistant Director be rescinded;

2.2 That delegated authority be given to Directors or their nominated officer, in consultation 
with the Head of Workforce & Organisational Development, to hear and determine 
disciplinary and grievance appeals for staff employed below Assistant Director level. 

3. Reason for recommendation

3.1 Council is required to approve changes to its Constitution.

4. Background

4.1  Responsibility for all personnel related appeals is currently delegated to the Appeals 
Committee.  

The Employment and Equalities Committee, at their meeting on 22nd November 2016, 
considered and approved a series of proposals to streamline processes for staff 
disciplinary and grievance appeals.  They concluded that existing arrangements 
routinely resulted in lengthy and protracted processes which could be made more 
efficient if some aspects of the appeals process were delegated to officer level.  In their 
consideration of this matter, the Committee recommended Council to approve that, in 
respect of officers employed at below Assistant Director level, disciplinary and grievance 
appeals should be heard and determined by Directors or their nominated officer.  In 
support of this process, training and guidance would be provided to all officers involved 
in disciplinary and grievance appeals.  The relevant minute is attached at appendix 1.

The existing arrangements for appeals for staff at Assistant Director level and above will 
be retained.

Page 38

Agenda Item 7



4.2  Alternatives Considered

Council could resolve to retain existing arrangements. These are not considered to be fit 
for purpose. 

5. Financial Implications
5.1  None directly associated with this report.  There are resource implications for appeal 

hearings, however these will be significantly reduced under the proposed arrangements.   

6. Legal Implications
6.1 The Council is required to make arrangements in respect of disciplinary and grievance 

matters.  Constitutional provisions as proposed are in accordance with associated 
legislative parameters.

7. Personnel Implications
7.1 The proposal will ensure that the way in which employment matters are dealt with is in 

line with the ACAS Code of Practice and that Council’s HR policies and decision making 
is independent and impartial. 

8. Corporate Priorities
8.1 Streamlining of processes will contribute toward efficient and effective use of corporate 

resources and associated financial performance. 

9.  Risk Assessment Implications 
9.1 Current arrangements, upon review were found to be inefficient.  Protracted appeals 

processes can have a detrimental impact on staff wellbeing and morale.  

10. Equalities Impacts

10.1 Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment

Employment procedures are consistently applied across all sections of the Council and 
are evaluated to ensure they are compliant with equality legislation. 

10.2 Equality/Community Impact Assessments

There are no equality/community issues arising from this report.

Background Papers
Document Place of Inspection

None

Page 39



Appendix 1

Minute Extract Employment and Equalities Committee 22nd November 2016

The Committee considered a report of the Director of Resources which detailed the 
outcome of consultation with Trade Unions regarding changes to the Council’s 
Disciplinary and Grievance Policy and Procedures and requesting approval of the 
submitted Disciplinary Conduct and Capability Policy, and proposed procedures.  
The Employment and Equalities Committee at the meeting held on 13th September 
2016 approved proposed changes to the Council`s Disciplinary and Grievance Policy 
and Procedures for the purposes of formal consultation with Trade Unions.

Alternatives considered: 
The results of the consultation were reported to the Committee who were requested 
to approve the revised proposals, retain the existing arrangements or propose 
alternative arrangements.

Decision:
1. The responses to the Council`s Disciplinary and Grievance Policy and 

Procedures, following the outcome of consultations with Trade Unions, be noted;
2. The Disciplinary Conduct and Capability Policy, as detailed at Appendix 1 of the 

submitted report, be approved; 
3. The Head of Workforce & OD proceed to implement changes to staff conditions of 

service to take effect no later than 1st April 2017; 
4. The Head of Workforce & OD be delegated authority, in consultation with the 

Chair of the Employment and Equalities Committee, to make any necessary 
minor modifications to scheme documentation in the light of operational issues 
arising;

5. This Committee recommends that Council amend the Council`s Constitution to 
delegate authority to officers to hear and determine disciplinary and grievance 
appeals.

Reasons for decision:
To streamline the disciplinary process to ensure that the Council is able to manage 
appeals in an efficient and effective way. 

Note:
In accordance with Council procedure rules Councillor O’Neill requested his vote 
against the decision be recorded.

Page 40



Title: Appointments to the Planning and 
Licensing Committee

Public/Private: For Publication

Report to: Council

Cabinet Member: Cabinet Member for Corporate 
Services and Regulation

Report Author: Elaine Newsome

Date: 14th December 2016

Director:    Assistant Director Legal, 
Governance & Workforce

Tel: 01706 924793  

Author Email:    
Elaine.Newsome@Rochdale.Gov.UK

Key Decision: No

Comments from Statutory Officers: Monitoring Officer:  Yes
Section 151 Officer: No

1. Purpose of Report

1.1  To consider the appointment of 2 Councillors to the Planning and Licensing Committee to 
replace one member and fill a vacancy on the Committee.

2. Recommendation

2.1   That Councillors Linda Robinson and Phil Burke are appointed to the Planning and 
Licensing Committee.

3. Reason for recommendation

3.1  Council is required to confirm the membership of Committees.

3.2 The appointments would replace Councillor Joinson and fill one vacancy on the 
Committee.

4. Background

4.1  Council on the 19th October 2016 resolved to centralise all planning decisions within the 
remit of the Planning and Licensing Committee, and increase its membership to 15, with 
representation from all Township Committees.

Council is requested to consider changes to the membership of the Committee, these 
being the replacement of Councillor Joinson with Councillor Burke and the filling of a 
vacancy with Councillor Linda Robinson from within the Heywood Township Committee.  
The changes maintain Township representation.

5. Alternatives considered

5.1  Council could make alternative appointments from within the membership of Heywood 
and Middleton Township Committees or could choose to leave the seats on the 
Committee vacant. 

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



6. Financial Implications

6.1 None associated with this report.

7. Legal Implications

7.1 The Committee is required to consider planning applications within a prescribed timescale. 
Non-compliance leaves the Council vulnerable to legal challenge and the potential 
removal of its planning decision making powers.

8. Personnel Implications

8.1 None associated with this report.

9. Corporate Priorities

9.1 The Planning and Licensing function supports each of the Councils strategic Objectives.

10. Risk Assessment Implications 

10.1 To leave the seats vacant could impact on the Committees ability to be quorate and 
therefore its decision making capability. This could impact on the planning performance 
targets which the Council is required to meet.

11. Equalities Impacts

11.1 Membership of the Planning and Licensing Committee is comprised to afford as equal a 
representation as possible from each of the Township Committees to allow for 
communities to be represented in the decision making process.

Background Papers
Document Place of Inspection

None  N/A

Page 42



Title: Review of Members' Allowances Public/Private: For Publication

Report to: Council

Report Author: Steve Rumbelow

Date: 14th December 2016

Director:    Chief Executive

Tel: 01706924702  

Author Email:    
steve.rumbelow@rochdale.gov.uk

Key Decision: No

Comments from Statutory Officers: Monitoring Officer:  Yes
Section 151 Officer: Yes 

1. Purpose of Report
1.1 This report presents the findings of an Independent Remuneration Panel who recently 

examined the Council’s Scheme of Members’ Allowances. The Council is required to 
carry out periodic reviews of its allowances scheme.  In its report, the Independent 
Panel noted that Rochdale’s Basic Allowance for Councillors is low, both in 
comparison with other Councils in Greater Manchester (Rochdale’s is the second 
lowest of the 10 GM authorities) and in real terms. The last full review of allowances 
was carried out in 2011 when the Council chose not to agree a recommended 
increase in the Basic Allowance.  This has resulted, as noted by the Independent 
Panel, in an allowance that does not fulfil its function of enabling most people to stand 
for Council and be an elected Member regardless of their personal financial 
circumstances.

1.2 The report also presents recommendations from the Independent Remuneration Panel 
in respect of Rochdale’s Basic Allowance and other allowances recognising particular 
roles and responsibilities which, while acknowledging the voluntary nature of the role, 
also reflect the substantial time commitment and complexity to being an elected 
Member of the Council.  

2. Recommendation
2.1 The actions of the Chief Executive in respect of the decision of the Council in July 

2013 to review the form of and approach to the Council’s Independent Remuneration 
Panel and the review of members’ allowances be noted and confirmed.

2.2 The report of the Independent Remuneration Panel attached at Appendix 1 be noted.

2.3 That recommendations of the Independent Remuneration Panel contained within the 
report of the Panel and listed in the Executive Summary (pages 1-3 of the report of the 
Independent Remuneration Panel attached at Appendix 1) be considered, and the 
Council make determinations on the matters contained therein.

2.4 The Assistant Director (Legal, Governance & Workforce) update the Scheme of 
Members’ Allowances subsequent to decisions taken at recommendation 2.3 above, 
together with related guidance for Members of the Council.

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 9



3. Reason for recommendation
3.1 The Council is required to determine a Scheme for Members’ Allowances following 

consideration of a report of an Independent Remuneration Panel convened in 
accordance with the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) Regulations 
2003.

4. Background
4.1 The Council is required by the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) 

Regulations 2003 to undertake periodic reviews of its Scheme of Members’ 
Allowances.  The Regulations state that “An authority shall make a scheme in 
accordance with these Regulations which shall provide for the payment of an 
allowance in respect of each year to each member of an authority”.  The review must 
be undertaken by an Independent Remuneration Panel that is required to make 
recommendations to the Council on a basic allowance, the allocation of special 
responsibility allowances and the application of other allowances specified in the 
Regulations.   

4.2 The Independent Remuneration Panel must comprise a minimum of three members, 
none of whom is also a member of the Council or of a committee or sub-committee of 
the Council; or is disqualified from being a member of the Council by virtue of s80 of 
the Local Government Act 1972 and s79 and 83(11) of the Local Government Act 
2000.  

4.3 In July 2013, the Council resolved that the Chief Executive review the form of and 
approach to the Council’s Independent Remuneration Panel and the review of 
Members’ allowances.  This review was undertaken and Panel membership and terms 
of reference determined in accordance with the legal framework. 

4.4 In considering membership of the Panel, representation from across a range of sectors 
was considered desirable, along with some prior experience of having undertaken 
similar reviews elsewhere.  The Panel identified to undertake the review and confirmed 
on 5th October 2016 comprised:-
 Dr Declan Hall PhD - an independent consultant specialising in elected Members’ 

allowances and support;
 Julian Appleyard OBE - Principal of Rochdale Sixth Form College and a National 

Leader in Education;
 Clive Memmott - Chief Executive of Greater Manchester Chamber of Commerce, 

who has experience of other Greater Manchester Independent Remuneration 
Panels.

4.5 The agreed terms of reference for the Panel were as follows - 

“In accordance with the 2003 Members' Allowances Regulations the Panel shall make 
recommendations to be considered at the Council meeting on 14th December 2016 
on:-

1. The amount of basic allowance that should be payable to its elected members 
and the expenses that it is deemed to include;

2. The responsibilities or duties which should lead to the payment of a special 
responsibility allowance (SRA) and as to the amount of such an allowance;

3. The duties for which a travelling and subsistence allowance can be paid and as 
to the amount of this allowance;

4. The co-optees to be paid a co-optees' allowance and the amount;
5. Whether the authority's allowances scheme should include an allowance in 

respect of the expenses of arranging for the care of children and dependants and 

Page 44



if it does make such a recommendation, the amount of this allowance and the 
means by which it is determined;

6. The implementation date for the recommendations, including whether any 
allowance should be backdated to the beginning of a financial year in the event 
of the scheme being amended;

7. Whether annual adjustments of allowance levels may be made by reference to 
an index, and, if so, for how long such a measure should run;

8. Any matters that are brought to the attention of the Panel in its consultation with 
Members and briefings from Officers.

Furthermore, in accordance with the Greater Manchester Combined Authority Order 
2011 Schedule 1 - Constitution (Remuneration page 18) the Panel shall consider:

9. Whether a SRA should be paid to Rochdale member[s] appointed by it to the 
GMCA in respect of duties and responsibilities undertaken as a member of the 
GMCA, and if so to specify the amount of any such allowance.

In arriving at their recommendations the Panel shall also take into account:

I. The views of Members both written and oral;
II. Allowances paid in comparable councils, namely the other GM metropolitan 

councils;
III. The Statutory Guidance on Regulation for Local Authority Allowances 2006.”

4.6 Members of the Council are asked to note that the issue of an allowance to be paid to 
the Council’s representative to the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) 
may be overtaken by events.  A proposal that the 2003 Regulations be amended to 
permit a joint Independent Remuneration Panel to consider allowances for members 
appointed to GMCA bodies was contained within a functions and governance review 
consulted upon and referred to the Secretary of State by the Combined Authority.  At 
the time of preparation of this report, the response of the Government to the proposal 
had not been made.

5. Alternatives considered
5.1 There is no alternative to the undertaking of a review of Members allowances as this is 

a statutory requirement.  

6. Financial Implications
6.1 The financial implications associated with the recommendations of the Independent 

Remuneration Panel are an additional cost of £172.6k in a full year. As the new rates 
are recommended for implementation from May 2017 the anticipated additional cost in 
2017/18 would be £158.2k.

6.2 If the recommendations are agreed, the additional costs would be funded from the 
budget pressures fund.

7. Legal Implications
7.1 The Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003 require local 

authorities to make a scheme of allowances for their Members and to establish and 
maintain an Independent Remuneration Panel to make recommendations to the 
Council about the scheme and the amounts to be paid.

8. Personnel Implications
8.1 There are no personnel implications arising from this report.

Page 45



9. Corporate Priorities
9.1 The undertaking of a review of Members’ allowances is a statutory requirement.

10.  Risk Assessment Implications 
10.1 There are no risk issues arising from this report.

11. Equalities Impacts
11.1 Workforce Equality Impacts Assessment

There are no workforce equality issues arising from this report.

11.2 Equality/Community Impact Assessments
There are no significant equality/community issues arising from this report.  The 2003 
Regulations do make provision for the establishment of a ‘dependents’ carers’ 
allowance’ to mitigate against any restrictions that caring responsibilities might have to 
prevent a person undertaking the duties of an elected member.

There are no background papers to this report.

Page 46



A Review

Of

Members’ Allowances

For

Rochdale Borough 
Council
________________________

A Report by the 

Independent 
Remuneration Panel

Julian Appleyard OBE
Declan Hall PhD (Chair)
Clive Memmott

November 2016

Page 47



1

Executive Summary – Recommendations

The Table below sets out the Panel's recommendations for the Basic Allowance and SRAs 
(2017/18), including methodologies, total number of SRAs and maximum amounts 
payable. In reality the total paid out in SRAs is likely to be less due to the 1-SRA only rule.

Rochdale Oct 2016 Review Recommended Maximum Payable 2017/18

POSITION No. 
Paid

Basic 
Allowance

Method to 
arrive at BA & 

SRA

Total 
P/Mbr 

(BA+SRA)

Sub Total Per 
Category

BASIC ALLOWANCE 60 £10,451 1133.6 hrs - 33% 
PSD X £13.76  £627,060

SPECIAL RESPONSBILITY ALLOWANCES  SRA annual    
EXECUTIVE      

Leader & Regeneration 1 £31,353 3 X BA £41,804 £31,353
Deputy Leaders 2 £15,677 50% of Leader £26,128 £31,353

Other Cabinet Members 6 £14,109 45% of Leader £24,560 £84,653
Assistants to Portfolio 9 £2,822 20% of Cabinet £13,273 £25,396

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY (O&S)      
Chairs O&S Committees 3 £7,838 25% of Leader £18,289 £23,515

Vice-Chairs O&S Committees NA     
REGULATORY      

Chair Audit & Governance Committee 1 £6,271 20% of Leader £16,722 £6,271
Vice-chair Audit & Governance Committee NA     

Chair Planning & Licensing Committee 1 £10,451 1/3 of Leader £20,902 £10,451
Chair Employment & Equalities Committee 1 £6,271 20% of Leader £16,722 £6,271

TOWNSHIPS      
Chairs Townships 4 £7,838 25% of Leader £18,289 £31,353

Vice-Chairs Townships NA     
Chair Rochdale Township Action & Resources NA     

OPPOSITION POSTS      
Leader Main Opposition Group 1 £10,974 35% of Leader £21,425 £10,974

Main Opposition Spokespersons NA     
Leader Other Opposition Groups                                       

(Where Group has reached threshold of 6 Members) 0 £3,135 10% of Leader £13,586 NA

Other Opposition Group Spokespersons NA    NA
OTHER      

Lead Member – Armed Forces 1 £2,822 20% of Cabinet £13,273 £2,822

Sub Total - Basic Allowance 60    £627,060
Sub Total - SRAs 30    £264,410
Total (BA+SRAs)     £891,470

Leader's SRA under GMCA Order* NA £5,500 on par with Oldham £47,304 £896,970

Page 48



2

The Panel also recommends:

Maintaining the 1-SRA Only Rule and Exceptions
That the 1-SRA only rule is maintained with the exception of Members that are 
appointed to the GMCA, Transport for Greater Manchester Committee (TfGMC), and 
Greater Manchester Waste Disposal Authority (GMWDA) – see below.

The Co-optees’ Allowance 
The Panel is not making a recommendation regarding the Co-optees’ Allowance.

The Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance (DCA)
That the Dependants' Carers' Allowances is set out more clearly in the allowances 
scheme and is reset at a maximum claimable rate based on the Government's 
National Living Wage, currently £7.20 per hour. The maximum number of hours per 
week that may be claimed should also be reset at 15 hours per week. The 
allowances scheme should also be clarified to point out that the DCA is a 
contribution rather than full reimbursement of carers' expenses.

Travel and Subsistence Allowances - Within the Borough
That the Basic Allowance continues to be deemed inclusive of all in-Borough travel 
and subsistence costs.

Travel and Subsistence Allowances - Outwith the Borough
That the current approved duties and conditions for which the Travel and 
Subsistence Allowances may be claimed outwith the Borough are maintained and 
the mileage rates are reset at HMRC approved mileage rates as follows:

 Car or van - first 10,000 miles: 45p per mile
 Car or van - after 10,000 miles: 25p per mile
 Motorcycles: 24p per mile
 Bicycle: 20p per mile
 Passenger Supplement: 5p per passenger per mile

Recommended SRAs in accordance with the GMCA Order 2011
That the Rochdale Borough Council’s Members' Allowances scheme maintains 
provision for the payment of Members it is required to appoint to the TfGMC and 
GMWDA as follows:

TfGMC
 Ordinary Members (3): £3,912

GMWDA
 Ordinary Members (2): £2,148

Page 49



3

That, in accordance with the 2011 GMCA Order (amended in 2015) the Leader is 
paid a SRA of £5,500, as a Member/Portfolio Holder on the GMCA.

That the allowances scheme is amended to clarify that the SRAs paid in accordance 
with the amended GMCA Order are not subject to the 1-SRA only rule.

Issues arising - linking remuneration to performance
The Panel is not making any recommendations in attempting to link remuneration to 
performance, primarily on the grounds of practically. 

Indexation
That the following indices are applied to the allowances paid to Members of 
Rochdale Borough Council:

A. Basic Allowance and SRAs (including those paid in accordance with the 
GMCA Order):
 Indexed to the annual percentage salary increase for local government 

staff (at spinal column 49) as agreed each year by the National Joint 
Council for Local Government Services and applicable to the same year it 
applies to Officers but implemented from the start of the municipal rather 
than financial year.

B. Mileage Allowance (Outwith only):
 Members’ mileage allowances rates indexed to HMRC Approved Mileage 

Allowance Payment rates.

C. Subsistence Allowances (Outwith only):
 Subsistence allowances should continue to be indexed to the same rates 

that are applicable to Officers.

D. The Dependants' Carers' Allowance:
 Maximum hourly rate claimable indexed to the National Living Wage.

The Panel also recommends that indexation should run for four years (2017-2021), 
which is the maximum length of time permitted by the 2003 Regulations. 

Implementation 
That the new scheme of allowances based on the recommendations contained in 
this report is adopted from the date of the Council's Annual Meeting in May 2017.

Page 50



4

A Review of Members’ Allowances for Rochdale Borough Council

Independent Remuneration Panel

November 2016

Regulatory context

1. This report is a synopsis of the deliberations and recommendations made by 
the Independent Remuneration Panel (the Panel) for Rochdale Borough 
Council to advise the Council on its Members’ Allowances scheme.

2. The Panel was convened under The Local Authorities’ (Members’ Allowances) 
(England) Regulations 2003 (SI 1021) (“the 2003 Regulations”). These 
regulations, which arise out of the relevant provisions contained in the Local 
Government Act 2000, require all local authorities to establish and maintain an 
advisory Independent [Members] Remuneration Panel to review and provide 
advice on Members’ allowances on a periodic basis. 

3. All Councils are required to convene their Panel and seek its advice before 
they make any changes or amendments to their Members’ Allowances 
Scheme. They must ‘pay regard’ to their Panel’s recommendations before 
setting a new or amended Members’ Allowances Scheme. On this particular 
occasion, the Panel has been reconvened under the 2003 Regulations [10. 
(5)], which states: 

Where an authority has regard to an index for the purpose of annual 
adjustment of allowances it must not rely on that index for longer than a 
period of four years before seeking a further recommendation from the 
independent remuneration panel established in respect of that authority on 
the application of an index to its scheme.

4. It is this mechanism, known as the '4 year rule', that ensures Panels are 
convened at least every four years if a council wishes to continue indexing 
their allowances. It provides an opportunity for Panels to publicly scrutinise 
their Councils allowances schemes and enhance public accountability.

Terms of Reference

Page 51



5

5. The terms of reference provided to the Panel for this review were as follows:

In accordance with the 2003 Members' Allowances Regulations the Panel shall 
make recommendations to be considered at the Council meeting on 14 
December 2016 on:-

i. The amount of basic allowance that should be payable to its elected 
members and the expenses that it is deemed to include

ii. The responsibilities or duties which should lead to the payment of a 
special responsibility allowance (SRA) and as to the amount of such an 
allowance

iii. The duties for which a travelling and subsistence allowance can be 
paid and as to the amount of this allowance

iv. The co-optees to be paid a co-optees' allowance and the amount

v. Whether the authority's allowances scheme should include an 
allowance in respect of the expenses of arranging for the care of 
children and dependants and if it does make such a recommendation, 
the amount of this allowance and the means by which it is determined

vi. The implementation date for the recommendations, including whether 
any allowance should be backdated to the beginning of a financial year 
in the event of the scheme being amended

vii. Whether annual adjustments of allowance levels may be made by 
reference to an index, and, if so, for how long such a measure should 
run

viii. Any matters that are brought to the attention of the Panel in its 
consultation with Members and briefings from Officers

Furthermore, in accordance with the Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
Order 2011 Schedule 1 - Constitution (Remuneration page 18) the Panel shall 
consider:

ix. Whether a SRA should be paid to Rochdale member[s] appointed by 
the Council to the Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) in 

Page 52



6

respect of duties and responsibilities undertaken as a member of the 
GMCA, and if so to specify the amount of any such allowance.

6. In arriving at their recommendations the Panel shall also take into account:

A. The views of Members both written and oral
B. Allowances paid in comparable councils, namely the other Greater 

Manchester Metropolitan Councils
C. The Statutory Guidance on Regulation for Local Authority Allowances 

2006.

Membership of the Independent Remuneration Panel1

7. The Rochdale Borough Council Members' Allowances scheme was last 
reviewed by its Independent Remuneration Panel in July 2013 - a review that 
was minor in scope and recommendations. When considering that review 
report, the Council asked the Chief Executive to review the form and approach 
to the Council’s Independent Remuneration Panel and the review of members’ 
allowances, and to report further to the Group Leaders. The subsequent, 
unrelated resignation of the former Panel Chair led to the recruitment of a new 
Panel, consisting of the following appointees:

 Julian Appleyard: Principal of Rochdale Sixth Form College and a 
National Leader in Education; has worked across 
England delivering senior and whole staff training 
on quality improvement. 

 Dr Declan Hall: an independent consultant specialising in 
members’ allowances and support and a former 
academic at the Institute of Local Government, 
The University of Birmingham.

 Clive Memmott: Chief Executive of Greater Manchester Chamber 
of Commerce, the overarching body for the ten GM 
Chambers, and an experienced non-executive 
director who has experience of other GM 
metropolitan council IRPs.

1 See Appendix 1 for  non-prejudicial declarations of interest by Panel members

Page 53



7

8. The Panel was supported by Mark Hardman, Governance and Committee 
Manager (Governance and Committee Services) who was the organisational 
lead in facilitating and supporting the work of the Panel.

The Review Process and Methodology

9. In undertaking the review the Panel adopted a 2-fold process. In the first 
instance the Panel Chair undertook preliminary research, benchmarking and 
putting together the written information necessary for the rest of the Panel. This 
also included attending Council offices at Number One Riverside, Rochdale on 
12-13 October 2016 to receive factual briefings on the Council and how it 
operates from relevant Officers.

 
10. It was also during this visit to the Council that a representative range of 

Members met with the Chair to discuss their roles and responsibilities and to 
raise any issues of concern. Any Member not invited but who wanted to meet 
with the Chair was accommodated.

11. In addition every Member was sent a short questionnaire through which they 
could make their views known and raise any concerns directly with the Panel. 
The questionnaire also had the methodological advantage of ensuring all 
Members were being asked a common set of questions, the main point being 
that all Members had at least one opportunity to exercise their voice during the 
review.

12. From these initial discussions and review of the evidence the Panel Chair 
summarised the main themes emerging and options on a way forward for the 
Panel to consider. Subsequently on 18 November 2016 the full Panel met at 
Number One Riverside, Rochdale to discuss the preliminary findings, review all 
the written evidence including written submissions and meet with the Leader of 
the Council and Leader of the Opposition and the Chief Executive for 
outstanding clarifications and to obtain an overview on the challenges facing 
the Council.

13. In compliance with the terms of reference and for benchmarking purposes the 
Panel also took into account the range and levels of allowances paid in 
comparable local authorities, namely the other Greater Manchester Councils.

14. The full range of interviewees and written information received and considered 
by the Panel is set out in the appendices as follows:

Page 54



8

 Appendix 1: List of information and evidence that was included in the 
Information Pack for Panel Members

 Appendix 2: Members who met with the Panel
 Appendix 3: Members who made written submissions to the Panel
 Appendix 4: Officers who briefed Panel
 Appendix 5: Summary of benchmarking of Rochdale Borough Council 

Allowances against other GM Councils

Key Messages - Basic Allowance: Low compared to Peers

15. A key theme emerging from the representations was that the Rochdale Basic 
Allowance is low compared to peers and is inequitable. On one level this 
perception is accurate as compared to peers the Basic Allowance (and senior 
SRAs) are low. The current Basic Allowance (£7,812) does not reflect a fair 
rate. This in itself is not a watertight case to increase allowances but when 
applying the recommended methodology to arrive at the recommended Basic 
Allowance in particular, it is low in both relative and real terms. Thus the 
perception of the Basic Allowance is further supported by the objective 
evidence.

16.Aside from the issue of parity there is one of equity, the Basic Allowance 
undervalues the work of Members. While the BA and SRAs were never 
intended to reflect the 'market value' of the workload and responsibilities 
undertaken by Members, they are intended to go a large way to recognising 
that there is a substantial time commitment and complexity to being an 
elected Member that is not recognised in their current remuneration. 

17.This is highlighted by the original policy underpinning the work of 
remuneration panels when considering the principles for establishing a 
Members Allowances Scheme2:

The financial support for Councillors must also reinforce the culture of the 
modern council and address, as far as possible, any disincentives to serving in 
local politics. People do not enter public service to make their fortune. But neither 
should they pay a price for serving the public.

18. In effect there was a view and backed up by the evidence that the Basic 
Allowance in particular was not fulfilling its function; namely to enable most 

2 Modern Local Government – In touch with the People: Cm 4014 July 1998, 3.54

Page 55



9

people to stand for Council and be an elected Member regardless of personal 
financial circumstances.

The Rochdale Model of Remuneration

19. While the Basic Allowance is indeed low the plethora of SRAs available means 
that the majority of Members receive an SRA. This has occurred mostly at the 
lower tiers while the executive SRAs have been left to stagnate over the years. 
As a consequence of keeping the Basic Allowance low there has been a 
partially compensating extension of SRAs that are available. The incremental 
addition of SRAs has been done in a piecemeal fashion over the years that no 
longer reflect the current context and do not constitute a coherent whole. It is 
through this inconsistent accretion of SRAs that has led to the current Rochdale 
model of remuneration that is now in need of a systematic review.

20. Consequently, the Panel has undertaken a fundamental review of the whole 
Members' Allowances scheme that rebalances the Basic Allowance and 
number of SRAs payable based on the fundamental principle that Members 
should not incur undue personal financial costs by being an elected Member.

Recognising the Business Case for Allowances

21. The Panel has been cognisant of the economic restraints within which the 
Council has operated in the past and the continuing challenging financial 
prospects for the next couple of years. The Panel has sought to strike a 
balance between alleviating the glaring anomalies in the current Members' 
Allowances scheme and ensuring that the recommendations are transparent, 
based on a logical construct, defendable and more in line with peers. While this 
has led the Panel to recommend increases in the Basic Allowance and senior 
SRAs in particular the Panel has also recommended decreases in a number of 
SRAs and the discontinuation of others when deemed necessary.

The Panel's Recommendations - Recalibrating the Basic Allowance

 Rochdale current Basic Allowance: £7,812
 Other GM Councils Mean Basic Allowance: £10,645
 Other GM Councils Median Basic Allowance: £10,405

Page 56



10

 Recommended Basic Allowance 2017/183: £10,451

22. In considering Rochdale Basic Allowance the Panel was mindful of the 2006 
Statutory Guidance (paragraph 67) which states: 

Having established what local councillors do, and the hours which are devoted to 
these tasks the local authorities will need to take a view on the rate at which, and 
the number of hours for which councillors ought to be remunerated.

23. This guidance highlights three considerations when arriving at the 
recommended Basic Allowance, namely:

 The 'hours' or time required to be an effective ordinary Member
 The amount of this time that should be remunerated, often known as 

the Public Service Discount (PSD)
 The rate of remuneration

Time required to be a Member

24. One issue raised with the Panel was the difficulty of political groups in recruiting 
new Councillors particularly with reference to the time commitment required 
and the relatively low level of remuneration. The current Basic Allowance it was 
argued does not provide sufficient financial compensation that is necessary to 
free up enough time to enable candidates from more diverse backgrounds, 
particularly younger people in employment, to be a Member. 

25. That said, the Panel was also mindful of not setting allowances at a level that 
'attracts' candidates for financial reasons, as an element of public service is 
explicitly built into Members' remuneration. The Panel has recommended a 
Basic Allowance which reflects a "reasonable recompense" that would allow 
most people to stand and be a Councillor without suffering undue financial 
hardship. In other words, allowances should be an ‘enabler’ and seek to reduce 
financial barriers to being a Councillor rather than provide full compensation for 
work undertaken and responsibilities held. Against this backdrop, there was 
also a counterbalancing view that being a backbench Member should not be 
‘professionalised’ and should not be seen as a full time job. 

26. As the Basic Allowance is primarily a time-based allowance that must be paid 
equally to all Members, it should take into account the full range of duties and 
activities that Members are expected to undertake including:

3 All recommendations relate to 2017/18

Page 57



11

 Attending meetings of the Council, Cabinet, Committees and related 
bodies

 Ward casework and constituent meetings
 Attendance at meetings of external organisations (Outside Bodies)
 Sitting on Township Committees and Sub Committees and related 

Forums, Working Groups and other Township-specific bodies that may 
have been established.

 Emails, reading reports, agendas and research, preparation and 
relevant training where necessary

27. The most up to date source of what time is required to be an effective Member 
is from the Local Government Association (LGA) Census of Councillors 2013 
which shows that on average an elected Member of a metropolitan council who 
does not hold any position of significant responsibility puts in 21.8 hours per 
week on 'Council business'.4 In effect, it is the equivalent of just over a half time 
job spread over a whole week and in a context whereby an increasing number 
of meetings are now held during the day.

Recognising the Public Service Principle

28. In arriving at the recommended Basic Allowance the Panel has to recognise 
that not all the time put in by Members should be remunerated as there is an 
element of public service or pro bono publico in being a Member.

29. The standard amount of time that is discounted for public service is between 
30% and 35% on the basis that, of the average time spent on Council business 
by all English Councillors, almost 30% is the proportion that is spent "engaging 
with constituents, surgeries and enquiries."5 The Panel has opted for a public 
service discount of 33% as Members of metropolitan councils have more 
constituents to represent than most unitary and district councils and more direct 
contact with constituents than would be the case for County Councillors who 
are responsible for more strategic services. 

30. Thus, out of an assessment of an average of 21.8 hours per week required to 
be an effective ordinary Member, 33% of that time (7.2 hours) should not be 
remunerated.

4 This does not include on average an additional 5.8 hours per week on group/party business. Breakdown of 
means hours by type of council and by positions held supplied to Chair of Panel in email from S. Richards, LGA 
30 September 2014
5 See Councillors Census 2013, LGA, Table 7 page 42. This is for all English Councillors regardless of type of 
council and position held - the only data available.  

Page 58



12

Rate for Remuneration

31. In the past Remuneration Panels were issued with advisory guidance from the 
Local Government Association (LGA) setting out a 'day session' rate that 
Panels could (and did) adopt in setting a Basic Allowance. In 2010 this day 
session rate was £152.776 or approximately £19 per hour. The LGA 
discontinued the publication of the day session rate the following year by which 
time it was over £20 per hour, partly because many Panels found such a rate 
hard to defend or justify methodologically (it was weighted to reflect male non-
manual average earnings) and partly because there has been a change in how 
average earnings are published in that they are now set out on a local authority 
area basis.

32. Panels now typically base the rate for remuneration on the average earnings for 
all full time employees resident in their particular council district. A locally based 
rate of remuneration relates the Basic Allowance to the average earnings of 
those whom Members represent and thus has a greater robustness. The most 
recent data available (2016) from the Office of National Statistics (ONS) as 
published in its Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE) gives a mean 
gross hourly earnings for all full time employees resident in the Borough of 
Rochdale as £13.76.

33. Consequently, in consideration of the three variables utilized to arrive at a Basic 
Allowance the Panel has adopted the values as set out in Table 1 below:

Table 1: Variables and their sources in arriving at the Basic Allowance

34. By following the approach set out in the 2006 Statutory Guidance the Panel 
arrived at a recalibrated Basic Allowance based on the following calculation:

6 See LGalert 62/10, Members' Allowances, 23 June 2010

Variable Amount Evidence provided

Time/Hours 1133.6 hours 
per year

Based the LGA Councillor Census 2013 figure of 
21.8 hours per week multiplied by 52 weeks.

Public Service 
Discount

33% 
(374 hours) Based on LGA Councillors Census 2013 Table 7

Rate for 
Remuneration

£13.76 per 
hour

Based on ONS ASHE table 8.5a: mean gross hourly 
earnings of all full time employees resident in 
Rochdale Borough 2016

Page 59



13

 1133.6 hours minus 33% = 759.5 remunerated hours x £13.76 per hour = 
£10,451

Benchmarking

35. The representations received from Members expressed the view that the 
Rochdale Basic Allowance should be in line with that paid across the other 
Greater Manchester (GM) councils. Indeed, benchmarking shows that the 
current Rochdale Basic Allowance is low when compared to the mean and 
median Basic Allowance (£10,645 and £10,405 respectively) paid in the other 
GM councils. It is not the lowest, which is Trafford (£6,492) but Trafford retains 
a low Basic Allowance/numerous SRAs remuneration model (see Appendix 5), 
a model this Panel has rejected. Nonetheless, the recalibrated Basic Allowance 
of £10,451 would put it on a par with peers.

36. As a further check the Panel benchmarked the recalibrated Basic Allowance 
against remuneration for non-executive directors (NEDs) of NHS Trusts. 
Although the roles of a NHS NED and an elected Member are not strictly 
analogous the Panel felt that it helped put the Rochdale recalibrated Basic 
Allowance in context, especially as NEDs are given an explicit time 
commitment.

Table 2: Remuneration of NEDs of NHS Trusts

NHS Trust
Stated time 

commitment
Annual Remuneration

Pennine Care Foundation 
Trust 

3-4 days per month £10,000 and £15,000 per year.7

Calderstones Partnerships 
NHS Foundation Trust

3-4 days per month £13,000

Non Foundation Trusts 3 days per month £6,157

37. Although it is recognised that this time expectation is often an understatement, 
the same often applies to Councillors. The Panel is simply contrasting the 
difference in expected time requirements and relative remuneration. The Panel 
is content that the benchmarking shows the recalibrated Basic Allowance to be 
a fair and reasonable remuneration.

7 See Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust Annual Report 2015/16 p.228, 
https://www.penninecare.nhs.uk/media/494847/annual-report-2015-16-low-res.pdf

Page 60

https://www.penninecare.nhs.uk/media/494847/annual-report-2015-16-low-res.pdf


14

38. The Panel recommends that the Basic Allowance should be £10,451 from 
the date of the Council annual meeting in May 20178.

Special Responsibility Allowances

39. In recommending SRAs and posts that merit an SRA the Panel was mindful of 
the 2006 Statutory Guidance (paragraph 72) which states that: 

If the majority of Members of a Council receive a Special Responsibility 
Allowance the electorate may rightly question whether this was justified. Local 
Authorities will wish to consider very carefully the additional roles of Members 
and the significance of these roles, both in terms of responsibility and real time 
commitment before deciding which will warrant the payment of a Special 
Responsibility Allowance.

40. The Panel considered each of the Special Responsibility Allowances currently 
paid by the Council and also those roles that currently do not attract a Special 
Responsibility Allowance regarding their 'significance' in terms of responsibility 
and real time commitment with an aim, in the context of a substantially 
enhanced Basic Allowance, to keep the maximum number of SRAs payable at 
no more than 50% of the Members (known as the 50% rule) except where 
circumstances change and an additional Opposition SRA becomes payable.

The Leader's SRA

 Leader's current SRA: £23,412
 Other GM Councils Leaders’ Mean SRA: £34,669
 Other GM Councils Leaders’ Median SRA: £30,681
 Recommended Leader's SRA: £31,353

41. Although the Leader's SRA (£23,412) has not been substantially revised since 
2003/04 the role has undergone significant change. The role of the Leader in 
2003 when executive roles were relatively new has proved to be larger than the 
original assessment. It is clear that to be Leader of Rochdale Borough Council 
now requires a full time (plus) commitment and certainly precludes any 
meaningful paid employment in the normal sense. The Leader attends Council 
offices most days and even when not at the Council Offices the Leader has to 

8 All recommendations are to be implemented from the date of the annual meeting of the Council May 2017 - 
see below.

Page 61



15

be available to talk to or email Officers and other Members from early morning 
until late evening. Then there are all the external demands on the Leader's time 
which have increased, particularly at the regional and sub regional level with a 
Combined Authority and devolution rolling out which is only set to grow larger 
over the next few years. Although the Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
(GMCA) responsibilities are addressed below, the reality is that regardless of 
whether there was a GMCA, the Leader of Rochdale Council would have a sub 
regional and regional, and indeed national, dimension to it. This was evident 
before the GMCA was set up in 2011 as the Leader became the key post in 
representing Rochdale at relevant forums regionally and nationally, such as the 
Association of Greater Manchester Authorities (AGMA) and the Local 
Government Association (LGA).

42. The Leader's role has also grown in responsibility since the role has been 
reviewed. The Localism Act 2011 enhanced the powers of all Leaders by 
requiring all Councils operating the executive model of governance to adopt the 
strong Leader model. Consequently the Leader now has all executive powers 
vested in the post and is responsible for the discharge of all executive 
functions. In particular, the Leader is now appointed for 4 years and in turn 
appoints the Deputy Leaders and Executive Portfolio Holders,  determines the 
remit of the executive members and any delegation of executive powers to 
committees; all these were previously Council functions. In effect the Leader 
now has the same level of responsibility as an elected Mayor - it is their method 
of appointment and tenure that differs. In Rochdale Borough the Leader now 
has responsibility for:

 Appointing the Cabinet and delegations of executive arrangements, 
including delegations to the Township Committees

 Chairing the Cabinet;
 Chairing other Boards and Working Groups as appropriate;
 Maintaining a corporate oversight of issues and addressing issues which 

crossover areas of portfolio responsibility;
 As Lead Member, or Portfolio Holder, for regeneration the Leader is also 

responsible for physical regeneration of the Borough, communications 
and strategic projects;

 External relations within Greater Manchester and at a national level

43. The Leader's current SRA (£23,412) is set at a multiple of three times the Basic 
Allowance in accordance with a methodology set out in the 2006 Statutory 
Guidance (paragraph 76) known as the factor approach. A multiple of 3 times 
the Basic Allowance is the most common factor used in arriving at a Leader's 
SRA. Benchmarking shows a mean SRA of £34,669 across the other GM 

Page 62



16

Councils, which is 3.3 times the mean Basic Allowance9. Not only is the 
Leader's SRA across GM the lowest but when the Basic Allowance is included, 
giving a total of £31,224, it is also the lowest in GM, where the mean total 
remuneration across the other GM Councils is £45,315.

44. Consequently, benchmarking and the enhanced role of the Leader has 
convinced the Panel that the Leader's SRA should be arrived at by maintaining 
the current multiple of 3 x the (recommended) Basic Allowance, which equates 
to £31,353. 

45. As with the Basic Allowance the Panel extended benchmarking to a non-
councillor role, in this case comparing remuneration of the Leader to that of the 
non-executive Chairs of NHS Trusts. The Chairs of locally based NHS Trusts 
are paid the following annual amounts:

 Calderstones Partnership NHS Foundation Trust: £45,000
 Pennine Care NHS Foundation Trust £45,000 to £50,000 
 Pennine Acute Hospital NHS Trust: £35,000 to £40,000

46. Moreover the expressed time commitment for non-executive Chairs of 
Foundation NHS Trusts is 3 days per week and for a Chair of an ordinary NHS 
Trust it is 2-3 days per week.

47. The Panel recommends that the SRA for the Leader of the Council should 
be set at 3 x the recommended Basic Allowance (£10,451), which equates 
to £31,353 per annum. 

The Deputy Leaders of the Council (x2)

48. In recommending other SRAs the Panel has in the main followed the approach 
laid out in the 2006 Statutory Guidance (paragraph 76) which states:

A good starting point in determining special responsibility allowances may be to 
agree the allowance which should be attached to the most time consuming post on 
the Council (this maybe the elected mayor or the leader) and pro rata downwards 
for the other roles which it has agreed ought to receive an extra allowance.

49. This is known as the 'pro rata' approach in that the other remunerated posts are 
assessed as a ratio or percentage of the Leader's role. By definition the size of 

9 The somewhat higher multiple of 3.3 times the mean Basic Allowance is skewed upwards as Salford has an 
elected mayor. Elected mayors of principal councils are invariably paid on a par with MPs at the time.

Page 63



17

the Leader's roles is 100%. The Panel has chosen to maintain this approach 
and adjusted the ratio for SRAs where there is a demonstrable case to do so.

 Deputy Leaders’ current SRA: £12,88810

 Other GM Councils Deputy Leaders’ Mean SRA: £20,553
 Other GM Councils Deputy Leaders’ Median SRA: £18,407
 Recommended Deputy Leaders’ SRA: £15,677

50. The Leader has appointed 2 Deputy Leaders each with their own portfolio. 
Currently they each receive an SRA of £11,712, set at 50% of the Leader's 
SRA. They are the lowest paid Deputy Leaders in Greater Manchester even 
when the additional marginal cost of 2 Deputy Leaders at £12,888 (the 
differential between the 2 Deputy Leaders' SRAs and SRA paid to the other 
Cabinet Members) is taken into account.

51. The Deputy Leaders undertake the traditional role of attending briefings with 
the Leader, acting as a sounding board and stepping in for the Leader in the 
Leader's absence, which occurs more frequently as the Leader has had to 
undertake a larger GM wide role. Indeed it means that the Deputy Leaders (as 
do most other executive members but to a lesser extent) have acquired a larger 
GM wide role. This includes deputizing for the Leader at the GMCA when 
required and being appointed to GMCA committees, e.g., the Deputy Leader 
with the finance lead is also on the GMCA and AGMA Joint Audit Committee 
and the GM Pensions Fund Management Panel. 

52. As such the current ratio (50% of the Leader's SRA) is still appropriate in 
setting the recommended SRA for the Deputy Leaders which equates to 
£15,677. 

53. The recommended SRA for the 2 Deputy Leaders is £15,677, which is 50% 
of the Leader's SRA. 

Other Cabinet Members (x6)

 Other Cabinet Members' SRA current SRA: £10,536
 Other GM Councils Other Cabinet Members’ Mean SRA: £14,892
 Other GM Councils Other Cabinet Members’ Median SRA: £14,889
 Recommended Other Cabinet Members' SRA: £14,109

10 The actual SRA is £11,712 for each Deputy Leader; £12,888 is the marginal cost above the SRA paid to the 
other Executive Members for both Deputy Leaders.

Page 64



18

54. There was an argument presented to the Panel to vary the SRAs for other 
Cabinet members depending on the size and scope of their respective 
portfolios. As a general rule Panels do not make this distinction and in the main 
Cabinet Portfolio Holders are paid an equal SRA. The reasons are two-fold. 
Firstly, there is the problem of meaningful metrics - how to measure distinctions 
in responsibility between portfolios? A portfolio may have a large budgetary 
responsibility to deliver services but much of the spend could be routine, while 
another portfolio may have a smaller budgetary responsibility but that spend 
may be more by driven local priorities rather than national directives which 
gives the 'smaller' Portfolio Holder greater discretion within their remit. 
Secondly, there is now a mechanism to even out glaring distinctions between 
portfolios. The remit of a particular portfolio is now the responsibility of the 
Leader who can rebalance a portfolio if it was felt necessary. Consequently the 
Panel is not making a recommendation to pay differential SRAs to the other 
Cabinet Members (Portfolio Holders).

55. Legislation puts a cap on the number of Cabinet Members; it cannot contain be 
more than ten (10) members including the Leader and Deputy Leader[s]. 
Currently there are 6 other Cabinet Members, a reduction of one since May 
2013 so they are each have acquired a slightly larger remit from the last review. 
They each receive an SRA of £10,536; set at 45% of the Leader's SRA. 
Although the SRA for other Cabinet Members in Rochdale is not the lowest 
across GM Councils, which is Bury at £10,395, it is only by £114. 

56. Since the last review the other Cabinet Members, as well as acquiring larger 
remits, have also acquired greater delegations and are beginning to take a 
somewhat larger GM wide role, although not enough at this stage to be 
recognised through a separate SRA paid in accordance with the GMCA Order. 
However, it is sufficient to maintain the current ratio, i.e., 45% of the Leader's 
recommended SRA, in setting the SRA for the other Cabinet Members which 
equates to £14,109. The Panel might have utilised a higher ratio for both the 
Deputy Leaders and other Cabinet Members SRAs thus placing them on a par 
with their GM peers but some of their responsibilities are devolved through the 
Township arrangements.

57. The recommended SRA for the 6 other Members of the Cabinet is £14,109, 
which has been set at 45% of the Leader's recommended SRA. 

The Assistants to Portfolio Holders (x9)

Page 65



19

 Assistants to Portfolios’ current SRA: £2,616
 Other GM Councils Assistants to Portfolios’ Mean SRA: £6,625
 Other GM Councils Assistants to Portfolios’ Median SRA: £6,929
 Recommended Assistants to Portfolios’  SRA: £2,822

58. The Leader also appoints 9 Assistants to Portfolio Holders, each Assistant 
being assigned to a Cabinet Member. They are not formal deputies to Cabinet 
Members and are not executive members under the Local Government Act 
2000. Thus they cannot operate as formal substitutes for the Portfolio Holders, 
exercise any executive powers nor have assigned to them any delegated 
decision making. In law, they cannot vote at Cabinet meetings or make 
decisions on behalf of their respective Cabinet Member; the current protocol 
also indicates they may not present reports or answer questions on behalf of 
their Cabinet Member at Council. All of which led the Panel to query whether 
this SRA was merited.

59. Nonetheless, the Assistants to Portfolio Holders do have a role profile which 
specifies that they may carry out such duties as their Cabinet Member 
determines, including deputizing in the latter's absence except in respect of 
decision making and any limitations or conditions that their Cabinet Member 
may specify. Moreover, it is expected that each of the Assistants to the Portfolio 
Holders are assigned a discrete remit or topic in which they will take the lead on 
the Portfolio Holders behalf. For example, the Assistant to the Leader with the 
portfolio for regeneration is assigned the remit for Town Centre development. In 
effect they are in place as the full executive "Members cannot do it all."

60. Currently each Assistant to Portfolios receives an SRA of £2,616, set at 25% of 
the other Cabinet Members' SRA. Despite the non-statutory basis of the post, 
i.e., they are not required in law, they are in place in 7 of the other 9 GM 
Councils, with a mean SRA of £6,625. The SRAs paid to the Assistants to the 
Executive have the greatest variation of all posts, with the lowest being £1,226 
(Bury) and the highest being £10,073 (Salford), a difference of over 800%. The 
reason for this variation arises out of the fact that these posts are at the 
discretion of the Leader in determining their workloads, remits and indeed 
numbers, all of which varies from council to council. Thus it is difficult to make 
meaningful comparisons for benchmarking purposes as the number and remits 
varies.

61. Nonetheless, the Assistants to the Portfolios do have meaningful roles to 
undertake and merit an SRA. In setting their SRA the Panel has not been 
guided by the benchmarking due to the variation in numbers and roles across 
GM. Moreover, the Panel understands that the workloads of the Assistants to 

Page 66



20

the Portfolios can be variable depending on relationships and how their 
respective Portfolio Lead interprets the role. As such the Panel has decided 
that their current SRA is broadly appropriate and reset it at 20% of the 
recommended SRAs for other Cabinet Members, which equates to £2,822.  

62. The recommended SRA for the 9 Assistants to the Portfolio Holders is 
£2,822, set at 20% of the SRA for the Portfolio Holders.

Chair of Planning and Licensing Committee (x1)

 Planning & Licensing Chair current SRA: £7,812
 Other GM Councils Benchmarking: NA
 Recommended Planning & Licensing Chair  SRA: £10,451

63. Among the GM Councils Rochdale is unique in that it has a single committee 
for Planning and Licensing. The other GM Councils have separate Planning 
and Licensing Committees, with the latter function often further supported by 
SRAs paid to the Licensing Committee Vice Chair, and to a lesser extent 
Chairs, Vice Chairs and Members of Licensing Panels where these post 
holders often get involved in taxi licensing issues - in Rochdale nearly all such 
types of licensing issues are delegated to Officers.

64. Both Planning and Licensing are statutory functions and where those functions 
are not delegated to Officers they must be discharged by a committee. 
Decisions of the Planning and Licensing Committee are quasi-judicial in that 
they have the force of law. The rationale for having a single committee for 2 
statutory functions was that many planning applications where determined by 
elected members were undertaken by the Planning Sub-Committees of the 4 
Townships and the prescriptive nature of the Licensing Act 2003 meant there 
was limited specific business for a Licensing Committee convened under that 
Act to undertake. 

65. The Planning and Licensing Committee dealt with planning matters that, in 
accordance with a delegation scheme agreed by the Council, could not be 
determined at a Township level. However, the Council (19 October 2016) 
agreed the transfer of all planning related delegated functions from the 
Township Planning Sub-Committees to the Planning and Licensing Committee. 
Although it is expected there will be greater delegation to Officers under the 
new arrangements it will require the Planning and Licensing Committee to 
consider more applications than in the past, particularly contentious 
applications, and the committee has increased in size from 11 to 15 Members 

Page 67



21

to afford equal representation to all the Townships. In the new planning 
arrangements it is expected that the Chair of the Planning and Licensing 
Committee will be more high profile and often subject to local lobbying.

66. As the Council's statutory Licensing Committee (established in accordance with 
the Licensing Act 2003), the Planning and Licensing Committee is responsible 
for liquor and gambling licensing. However, the largest part of this work relates 
to liquor and gambling applications that are the subject of objections and 
requests made for the review of licenses. In turn these are considered by ad 
hoc Licensing Panels, consisting of 3 Members.  The Chair of the Planning and 
Licensing Committee will sit on and chair approximately third of the 12-14 
meetings per year of Licensing Panels, in addition to the monthly meetings of 
the full committee. The Planning and Licensing Committee also has 
responsibility for electoral matters. As such the Planning and Licensing 
Committee is meeting more frequently than any other committee.

67. The current SRA (£7,812) for the Chair of Planning and Licensing Committee 
has been set, as have all the SRAs for the remunerated committee chairs, at 
1/3 of the Leader's SRA. Due to the dual statutory remit of this committee, the 
return of responsibility for determining local planning applications, the 
frequency of meetings and the lead role the Chair is expected to undertake in 
chairing the Licensing Panels, the Chair of the Planning and Licensing 
Committee has a larger workload and responsibility than other committee 
chairs and their SRA should reflect this position.

68. Because of the unique arrangements in Rochdale, benchmarking is of limited 
guidance. The mean SRA paid to the Chairs of Planning Committees in the 
other GM Councils is £8,395 and £3,194 for Vice Chairs (paid in 5 out of the 9 
other GM Councils). The mean SRA for the Chairs and Vice Chairs (paid in 5 
out of 9 other GM Councils) of Licensing Committees is £8,338 and £3,388 
respectively. The Panel has decided that the SRA for the Chair of Planning and 
Licensing should be increased by the same proportion as that of the 
recommended SRAs for executive members. Therefore, the ratio of 1/3 of the 
Leader's SRA ratio remains valid, which equates to £10,451.

69. The recommended SRA for the Chair of Planning and Licensing 
Committee is £10,451, which 1/3 of the Leader's SRA.

Chairs of the Township Committees (x4)

 Township Chairs’ current SRA: £7,812

Page 68



22

 Other GM Councils Benchmarking: NA
 Recommended Township Chairs’ SRA: £7,838

70. There are 4 Township Committees, established in 1992, and they are now an 
integral part of the Council's decision making process. They have some 
responsibility for local delivery of devolved services including:

 Environmental Management, excluding Refuse Collection, Recycling and 
Bereavement Services) 

 Highways
 Community Centres
 Township Funds
 Leisure Projects - commissioning
 Development Control (on consultative basis for major applications and 

call in for by ward Members when relevant when Council decision on 19 
October 2016 is fully implemented)

 Other regulatory matters which impact locally such as Traffic Regulation 
Orders

71. Each Township Committee has devolved capital and revenue resources, 
including a revenue Township Fund (calculated at £2 per township resident). 
Examples of how these funds and budgets can be used include local grants 
schemes; funding community and environmental projects; funding priorities 
identified in the Township Plan, etc. The Township Committees have 
established their own Sub-Committee arrangements and terms of reference for 
dealing with devolved services and the expenditure of devolved funds and 
budgets.

72. They are also the arena to monitor and review all services and activities 
provided by the Council in the Township. They are also the prime vehicle by 
which the Council engages with the public, with their meetings starting with an 
Open Forum session giving local residents the opportunity to raise issues of 
local concern. All Members sit on a Township Committee. The full committees 
meet six times per year and the Chair and Vice Chair are elected by the 
Committee Members. 

73. Currently the Township Chairs receive the standard chair's SRA of £7,812. 
Only 3 other GM Councils have devolved arrangements where they remunerate 
their respective Chairs so benchmarking is difficult in this regard. The Panel 
has not kept the current ratio of 1/3 in arriving at the recommended SRA for the 
Township Chairs (which would place their SRA on a par with the Chair of 

Page 69



23

Planning and Licensing). On the other hand it received no evidence that the 
current SRA (£7,812) was in need of substantial revision and as a monetary 
sum is broadly appropriate. Consequently, the Panel has reset the SRA for the 
Chairs of the Township Committees at 25% of the Leader's recommended SRA 
which equates to £7,838.

74. The recommended SRA for the Chairs of the Township Committees (x4) is 
£7,838, which is 25% of the Leader's SRA.

Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny Committees (x3)

  Scrutiny Chairs’ current SRA: £7,812
 Other GM Councils Scrutiny Chairs’ Mean SRA: £7,700
 Other GM Councils Scrutiny Chairs’ Median SRA: £7,789
 Recommended Scrutiny Chairs’ SRA: £7,838

75. Overview and Scrutiny is a statutory function which has to be discharged by at 
least one Overview and Scrutiny Committee. Overview and Scrutiny is the 
process whereby executive decision-makers are held to account. Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees also have an important role to play in the Council’s policy 
and budget development process. Since May 2015 Rochdale Borough Council 
has three Overview and Scrutiny Committees, as follows:

 Communities, Regeneration and Environment
 Health, Schools and Care
 Corporate

76. More specifically, their work falls into several areas as defined in law or 
statutory guidance. Firstly, the Overview and Scrutiny Committees are 
consulted by the Cabinet as part of the Council's Budget and Policy Framework 
before making a final recommendation to Council for adoption. They can be 
consulted on other matters where it is deemed important to get the views of 
Members on a particular topic.

77. Secondly, they consider the Plans and related targets produced for each 
Council Directorate as they apply to their particular terms of reference. These 
Plans inform Members of work programmes of the Directorates and set out the 
indicators to be reported to the Committee as part of the performance 
management framework. The Committees are then able to call for more 
detailed reports on areas of identified concern.

Page 70



24

78. Thirdly, as well as generally scrutinising the work of the Cabinet, the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees also exercise the statutory function of 'Call-in'. This is 
a process by which that, in the event that two or more Councillors feel that an 
executive decision made by the Cabinet, a Cabinet member, the Health and 
Wellbeing Board or Integrated Commissioning Board, or a Township 
Committee/Sub-Committee should receive a further consideration, they can, 
within a set timescale, “call-in” the decision for scrutiny by submitting a formal 
notice with reasons and a supporting statement to the Chief Executive. The 
Committee considers the decision made and the report which led to that 
decision, the reasons why the decision has been called in, and the response of 
the decision maker and the relevant Officer. On the basis of the evidence 
provided, the Committee has three options, namely:

I. to accept the decision, in which case the decision takes immediate effect;
II. to refer the decision back to the decision maker for re-consideration, 

providing reasons as to why they feel it should be re-considered;
III. If it is considered the decision may be contrary to the Council's budget or 

an agreed policy, the matter may be referred to full Council for 
determination as to whether the original decision should be upheld or 
whether it should be referred back for reconsideration.

79. A called-in decision can only be referred back to the decision maker once but 
the decision maker should take into account the views of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee and/or full Council in re-considering the decision, but will is 
within its rights to re-affirm the original decision.

80. Fourthly, the Overview and Scrutiny Committees may identify topics for study 
and review to be undertaken by a Working Group of Councillors. These studies 
or reviews can consider activities and policies of the Council, or activities and 
policies which cut across other public service providers. The Committee will 
determine the Terms of Reference, together with the timetable and study 
methodology, for such exercises and approve recommendations for submission 
to the Cabinet (and/or other bodies as appropriate).

81. The Overview and Scrutiny Committees are scheduled to meet 7-8 times per 
year although they typically add 1-2 meetings per year as required. In addition, 
while a call-in of an executive decision only occurs between 1-3 times per year 
(2013/14-2015/16), the Chair of the relevant committee is required to lead in 
the process.

Page 71



25

82. Currently the Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees each receive the 
standard chair's SRA of £7,812 set at one third of the Leader's SRA. No 
evidence was received to suggest the current SRA needed substantial revision 
and the Panel has assessed the Overview and Scrutiny Committees on a par 
with the Township Committees and has marginally adjusted the Chairs SRAs 
by resetting it at 25% of the Leader's recommended SRA which equates to 
£7,838.

83. The recommended SRA for the Chairs of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees (x3) is £7,838, set at 25% of the Leader's SRA.

Chair of the Audit and Governance Committee (x1)

  Audit & Governance Chair current SRA: £7,812
 Other GM Councils Audit Chair Mean SRA: £7,145
 Other GM Councils Audit Chair Median SRA: £7,145
 Recommended Audit & Governance Chair SRA: £6,271

84. The Audit and Governance Committee was established in May 2015 arising out 
of a merger of the former Audit and Risk Management and Standards 
Committees with the addition of some constitutional functions. It was 
established on efficiency grounds following the implementation of the revised 
elected Member Standards regime introduced under the Localism Act 2011 
resulting in less business being submitted to the former Standards Committee. 
It also gave greater force to a fully integrated governance body for the Council 
directly overseen by Members.

85. The Audit and Standards functions remain statutory functions of the Council but 
there is no requirement to have a committee to deal with either Audit or 
Standards - although it is recommended as good practice by the Chartered 
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) to have a committee to 
discharge the Audit function. In effect the merger was a reflection of the lighter 
workloads and responsibilities of the Audit and Risk Management and the 
Standards Committees.

86. The Audit and Governance Chair is paid the standard Chair's SRA of £7,812. 
The mean SRA paid to Chairs of equivalent committees in the other GM 
Councils (6 out of 9) is £7,145. However, once again, benchmarking provides 
limited guidance in this case. The Audit and Governance Committee is typically 
scheduled to meet 6 times per year but occasionally has an additional meeting 
fitted in due to business arising. By the same token the projected work 

Page 72



26

programme of Audit and Governance is such that only 5 meetings have been 
scheduled for 2016/17. In particular the Standards remit has decreased 
substantially since 2013, with no Standards Hearings being required the past 
couple of years. In part this is a reflection that where there are complaints 
against Members they are expected to be dealt with by the Monitoring Officer 
and the new statutory post of Independent Person (external to the Council). 
There are also fewer complaints being made as the sanctions that can be 
imposed by the Audit and Governance Committee if and when it upholds a 
complaint have been restricted under the Localism Act.

87. As such the Audit and Governance Committee cannot still be seen as on par 
with Township and Overview and Scrutiny Committees once workload and 
responsibility is taken into account. The Panel has reset the SRA for the Chair 
of the Audit and Governance Committee at 20% of the Leader's recommended 
SRA, which equates to £6,271.

88. The recommended SRA for the Chair of the Audit and Governance 
Committee is £6,271, set at 20% of the Leader's SRA.

Chair of the Employment and Equalities Committee (x1)

  Employment & Equalities Chair current SRA: £7,812
 Other GM Councils Benchmarking: NA
 Recommended Employment & Equalities Chair SRA: £6,271

89. The Employment and Equalities Committee considers staffing issues, including 
changes to corporate conditions of service for all employees and certain 
industrial relations and equalities matters such as Equality Impact 
Assessments. It is scheduled to meet 4 times per year although additional ad 
hoc meetings are required as necessary which is typically 2-3 times per year. 

90. The Chair of the Employment and Equalities Committee is paid the standard 
Chair's SRA of £7,812. Benchmarking is not applicable as only one other GM 
Council, Trafford, remunerates an equivalent post. Elsewhere employment and 
equalities issues are dealt with by putting some of the function with Audit and/or 
Governance Committees and ad hoc panels as necessary, or even standing 
employment panels with no remuneration. Nonetheless, the Panel regards this 
committee as on a par with the Audit and Governance Committee

91. The recommended SRA for the Chair of the Employment and Equalities 
Committee is £6,271, set at 20% of the Leader's SRA.

Page 73



27

Lead Member for the Armed Forces

 Lead Member for Armed Forces current SRA: £7,812
 Other GM Councils Benchmarking: NA
 Recommended Lead Member Armed Forces SRA: £2,822

92. The Council has appointed a Lead Member for the Armed Forces with 
responsibility for delivering the Armed Forces Community Covenant which 
seeks to address, in conjunction with local communities, the disadvantages that 
the Armed Forces community faces in comparison to other citizens and 
recognise their sacrifices. The Armed Forces Lead Member reports to the 
Council and currently receives an SRA of £7,812, set at 1/3 of the Leader's 
SRA. It is impossible to benchmark this post as across the GM Councils it is 
unique to Rochdale.

93. The Panel considered whether this post still merited an SRA but on the basis 
that the Lead Member for the Armed Forces is a reflection of a particular 
Council priority the Panel decided that an SRA should be payable. However, 
the Panel considers the Lead Member for the Armed Forces is a role not that 
dissimilar to that of the Assistants to Portfolios and the SRA should be reset at 
20% of a full Cabinet Member, which equates to £2,822.

94. The recommended SRA for the Lead Member for the Armed Forces is 
£2,822, set at 20% of the SRA for the Portfolio Holders. 

Committee Vice-Chairs and Sub-Committee Chairs

95. The following Committee Vice-Chairs and Sub Committee Chair receive an 
SRA (set at 25% of their Chair's SRA) of £2,616:

 
 Vice-Chairs - Overview and Scrutiny Committees (3)
 Vice-Chairs - Townships in conjunction with also being Chair of respective 

Township Planning Sub-Committees (4)
 Chair - Rochdale Township Action and Resources Committee (a Sub-

Committee of Rochdale Township) (1)  
 Vice Chair of Audit and Governance Committee (1)

Page 74



28

96. The Panel has decided to recommend the discontinuation of SRAs for these 
posts. This is not to say there is not a job of work to do, as there is. Vice-Chairs 
need to stand in when required, keep well informed on their committees’ remit 
and attend agenda briefings with their Chair, but that alone does not entail a 
significant responsibility that merits an SRA. 

97. Moreover, the fact that not all Rochdale Council Committee Vice-Chairs and 
Township Sub-Committee Chairs receive an SRA indicates that being a Vice-
Chair or Township Sub-Committee Chair does not in itself necessarily carry 
significant responsibility that is sufficient to merit an SRA. The application of 
SRAs to some of these posts but not others has arisen in a piecemeal fashion 
as a response to particular situations and particular times. 

98. The Vice-Chairs with the strongest case to be paid an SRA, namely the Vice-
Chairs of the Township Committees, who as part of their remit also chaired 
Township Planning Sub-Committees, no longer have such as strong case. On 
the 19 October 2016 the Council decided that in light of tighter controls over 
timescales for the determination of planning applications, and related financial 
and risk implications to the Council, decision making arrangements for 
development control and planning matters were revised so that planning and 
development control decisions are to be taken by either the Planning and 
Licensing Committee or by Officers in accordance with a revised scheme of 
delegation. Informal Township arrangements will be developed to consider 
matters such as the use of developer contributions and pre-application. Thus, 
the rationale for paying SRAs to the combined role of Township Vice-
Chairs/Chairs of Planning Sub-Committees, as agreed in a Council decision on 
18 May 2011 in response to a previous review,  is now gone.

99. There might have been a greater case to maintain these SRAs when there was 
a low Basic Allowance but as the Panel is proposing a different model of 
remuneration within which the recommended Basic Allowance recognises that 

Whilst such responsibilities may be unique to a particular member it may be that 
all or most members have some such responsibility to varying degrees. Such 
duties may not lead to a significant extra workload for any one particular member 
above another. These sorts of responsibilities should be recognised as a time 
commitment to council work which is acknowledged within the basic allowance 
and not responsibilities for which a special responsibility allowance should be 
recommended.11

11 Statutory Guidance 2006, paragraph 73

Page 75



29

100. It is for this reason that the majority of councils do not remunerate Vice-Chairs 
of Committees and Chairs of Sub-Committees as a matter of course. This is 
backed up by the benchmarking that shows only 2 other GM Councils 
remunerate Scrutiny Vice-Chairs, but an additional Council pay their Chairs of 
Scrutiny Review Panels, and only two others remunerate their Area Committee 
Vice-Chairs. 

101. The Panel recommends that from Annual Meeting in May 2017 the 
following SRAs for Vice-Chairs are discontinued:

 Vice-Chairs of Overview and Scrutiny Committees (x3)
 Vice-Chairs of Townships/Chairs of Township Planning Sub-

Committees (x4)
 Chair of Rochdale Township Action and Resources Sub-Committee 

(x1)
 Vice Chair of Audit and Governance Committee (x1)

Opposition SRAs 

102. The 2003 Regulations require that where the Council is controlled by one or 
more political groups (defined as having a minimum of 2 Members) then at 
least one SRA must be paid to an Opposition Member. The current Rochdale 
Borough Council allowances scheme fulfils this requirement and more by 
making specific provision for Opposition SRAs as follows:

 Main Opposition Group Leader (x1): £9,372
 Main Opposition Group Spokespersons (x9): £786
 Other Opposition Group Leaders12 (x0): £7,726
 Other Opposition Group Spokespersons (x0): £786

103. This extensive provision relates to when there was a different political 
composition of the Council, in particular where there was no overall control and 
Opposition Group Leaders exercised a greater responsibility. In the current 
political context the scope of the Opposition SRAs payable are 
disproportionate; all Members of the Main Opposition Group receive an SRA. 
The enhanced recommended Basic Allowance recognises that all the 
Opposition Members have a spokesperson role particularly in regards to the 

12 The Other Opposition Group SRAs are only paid where another Opposition Group has at least 6 group 
members.

Page 76



30

remits of those committees that they sit on. The Panel has decided to 
discontinue this SRA.

  Main Opposition Group Leader current SRA: £9,372
 Other GM Councils Main Opposition Group Leader Mean SRA: £10,616
 Other GM Councils Main Opposition Group Leader Median SRA: £10,349
 Recommended Main Opposition Group Leader SRA: £10,974

104. The SRA for the Leader of the Main Opposition has been set at 40% of the 
Leader's SRA. The Panel has not maintained this ratio. The Main Opposition 
Group Leader may have a substantial workload not that dissimilar to an 
Executive Member but does not exercise a similar responsibility. Yet, the Panel 
feels the role is larger than that of the Chair of Planning and Licensing as the 
Leader of the Opposition has a remit across the Council. As such the Panel has 
decided to reset the SRA for the Leader of the Main Opposition Group at 35% 
of the Leader's recommended SRA, which equates to £10,974.

105. The recommended SRA for the Leader of the Main Opposition Group is 
£10,974, set at 35% of the Leaders' SRA. 

 
106. Currently there is no other Opposition Group that meets the Council’s criteria of 

having 6 group members for their SRAs to be paid. Regardless, if these SRAs 
were to be paid then they would be disproportionate and the Panel has decided 
to reset the SRA for a Leader of another qualifying Group at 10% of the 
Leader's recommended SRA, should it be payable. There is not a strong case 
to maintain provision for an SRA to be paid to other qualifying Opposition 
Group Spokespersons.

107. The Panel recommends that following SRAs are discontinued, paid or 
made available for the other Opposition posts:

 Main Opposition Group Spokespersons (x9): Discontinued
 Leader qualifying Other Opposition Group (x1): £3,135
 Other Opposition Group Spokespersons (x9): Discontinued

Other SRAs considered

108. The Panel considered whether there was a case to remunerate other posts not 
currently in receipt of an SRA, particularly Members appointed to Adoption and 

Page 77



31

Fostering Panels, but the evidence to support any additional SRAs was limited 
so the Panel is not making any recommendations in this regard.

Maintaining the 1-SRA Only Rule and Exceptions

109. In common with most Councils13 Rochdale Borough Council has adopted what 
is known as the 1-SRA only rule; in that regardless of the number of 
remunerated posts held by an elected Member they can be paid 'one SRA 
only', excluding those SRAs paid for GM posts. No evidence was received to 
change this practice.

110. The Panel recommends that the 1-SRA only rule is maintained with the 
exception of Members that are appointed to the GMCA, Transport for 
Greater Manchester Committee (TfGMC), and Greater Manchester Waste 
Disposal Authority (GMWDA) – see below.

The Co-optees’ Allowance 

111. Currently there is no provision to pay a Co-optees' Allowance. This is an annual 
allowance, typically less than £1,000 where it is paid, that may be paid to 
Members who have been co-opted onto a council committee or sub-committee 
under the 2000 Local Government Act. When Standards Committees were 
statutory committees with substantial powers of sanction and with statutory co-
optees, the Co-optees' Allowance was more commonly paid, but since the 
implementation of relevant sections of the Localism Act 2011 in July 2013 the 
Co-optees' Allowance is less common.

112. No evidence was received to indicate that the Council needs to make available 
a Co-optees' Allowance. The only Co-optees the Council appoints are the 
statutory appointments in relation to scrutiny and they are not full voting 
Members of such committees. Thus, the Panel is not making a 
recommendation regarding the Co-optees’ Allowance.

The Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance (DCA)

113. While no issues were raised with the Panel by Members regarding the DCA it is 
noted that it has not been claimed for a few years despite a number of 

13 Out of the 10 GM Councils only Trafford permits the payment of more than 1 SRA. Where a Member in 
Trafford holds 2 remunerated posts they are paid 1.5 SRAs.

Page 78



32

Members being eligible to claim it. The Panel understands that there may be 
reluctance on the part of eligible Members to claim the DCA as it appears as a 
published expense against a Members’ name in the annual statutory 
publication of remuneration and reimbursements received by each Member. 

114. The Panel takes this opportunity to point out that this allowance was given 
recognition in statute and is specifically designed to reduce a potential barrier to 
being an elected Member for those with caring responsibilities. The Panel 
suggests that if it is known that a Member has caring responsibilities then the 
DCA is specifically brought to their attention. It should be also pointed out that 
the approved duties for which this allowance may be claimed is governed by 
statute.

115. However, the DCA does require some clarification and updating particularly 
regarding the maximum rate and number of hours per week for which the DCA 
may be claimed. It is now good practice to set the maximum rate claimable at 
the National Living Wage and note that this is a contribution to the cost of 
caring for dependants while on approved duties. Furthermore, the current cap 
of 7.5 hours per week that can be claimed under the DCA does not reflect 
Members workloads. A more realistic cap is 15 hours per week. 

116. The Panel recommends that the Dependants' Carers' Allowances is set 
out more clearly in the allowances scheme and is reset at a maximum 
claimable rate based on the Government's National Living Wage, 
currently £7.20 per hour. The maximum number of hours per week that 
may be claimed should also be reset at 15 hours per week. The 
allowances scheme should also be clarified to point out that the DCA is a 
contribution rather than full reimbursement of carers' expenses.

Travel and Subsistence Allowances - Within the Borough

117. Currently the Basic Allowance is deemed to include all travel and subsistence 
expenses incurred by Members while carrying out council related duties within 
the Borough. There was some representation that argued all travel and 
subsistence related expenses incurred while carrying out council related duties 
should be reimbursed whether they are within or outwith the Borough. 
However, it is pointed out that most of the duties which were quoted for which 
in-Borough travel and subsistence allowances should be paid, such as 
undertaking ward duties or informal meetings, would not meet the standard 
definition of approved duties. Moreover, it is common practice across the other 

Page 79



33

GM Councils to include all within authority travel and subsistence expenses in 
the Basic Allowance.

118. The Panel recommends that the Basic Allowance continues to be deemed 
inclusive of all in-Borough travel and subsistence costs.

Travel and Subsistence Allowances - Outwith the Borough

119. It is a different context when a Member has to travel outwith the Borough to 
represent the Council at regional and national meetings or attend conferences. 
In these cases Members are incurring expenses that are beyond 'incidental' 
and are not typically incurred through a Member's routine work. The Panel 
received no evidence to change the current approved duties and conditions for 
which the Travel and Subsistence Allowances may be claimed outwith the 
Borough and recommends that they continue with one exception, namely the 
mileage rates. The current mileage rates are now outdated and the Panel 
recommends they are reset at HMRC approved mileage rates as follows:

 Car or van - first 10,000 miles: 45p per mile
 Car or van - after 10,000 miles: 25p per mile
 Motorcycles: 24p per mile
 Bicycle: 20p per mile
 Passenger Supplement:  5p per passenger per mile

Recommended SRAs in accordance with the GMCA Order 2011

120. The Panel has been asked to consider whether a SRA should be paid to 
Rochdale member[s] appointed by the Council to the Greater Manchester 
Combined Authority (GMCA) in respect of duties and responsibilities 
undertaken as a member of the GMCA, and if so to specify the amount of any 
such allowance. The GMCA is prohibited from paying allowances to any of its 
Members or appointees to its committees. This point was made specifically in 
the 2015 amendment to the GMCA Order, and any remuneration in this regard 
has to be paid through the schemes of the constituent councils.  

121. However, Section 113 of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and 
Construction Act 2009, as amended by the Cities and Local Government 
Devolution Act 2016, enables the Secretary of State by order to make changes 
in relation to the functions of an existing combined authority. Such changes can 

Page 80



34

be made where the authority has, after undertaking a governance review and 
concluding that conferring on the CA additional functions would be likely to 
improve the exercise of statutory functions in the CA’s area, prepared and 
published a scheme.

122. Following such a governance review  the GMCA has consulted on a proposal 
that Regulation 20 of the Local Authorities (Members Allowances) (England) 
Regulations 2003 be modified to enable the constituent councils to establish a 
joint independent remuneration panel to make recommendations on allowances 
payable to their members appointed to [the GMCA or] committees and joint 
committees of the GMCA. The response to the proposal from the Secretary of 
State is awaited. The Panel’s consideration is therefore conducted in the 
knowledge that its considerations might be overtaken by events.

123. As with all the GM Councils' Members' Allowances schemes the Rochdale 
scheme already contains provision for the payment of Members it is required to 
appoint to the TfGMC and GMWDA as follows:

TfGMC
 Ordinary Members (3): £3,91214

GMWDA
 Ordinary Members (2): £2,148

124. Through the agreement of the GMCA and 10 GM Councils the SRAs for 
appointees to the TfGMC (a committee of the GMCA) and GMWDA (an 
authority in its right but with no powers to pay allowances) were reviewed about 
5 years ago at a GM wide level by the Manchester Panel on behalf of all GM 
Councils. It was done so a common set of SRAs would be paid across all the 
GM Councils as to do otherwise would, it was feared, have led to Members 
undertaking the same role on TfGMC and GMWDA being paid different rates or 
not at all. The Manchester Panel had no statutory remit beyond its own Council 
but its recommendations were sent to each GM Council for their own Panel to 
consider and make recommendations to the Council. As far as is known all the 
GM Panels and Councils agreed and adopted the recommendations of the 
Manchester Panel.

14 Both the TfGMC and GMWDA have provision for SRAs for the Chairs, Vice Chairs and Deputy Chairs but 
as the Council had no Members appointed to positions of responsibility on the TfGMC and GMWDA it 
resolved in 2011 the Council to only pay the Basic Allowance to its Members appointed to the TfGMC and 
GMWDA. In due course these SRAs will be addressed by the restructuring of the GMCA.

Page 81



35

125. The future of the SRAs paid to the Councils' appointments to the TfGMC and 
GMWDA is not within the Panel's terms of reference. They would also be in 
scope should the Secretary of State be minded to agree the GMCA governance 
review referenced above.

126. The rolling implementation of devolution since the previous review has created 
a different set of challenges for all GM Council Leaders/District elected Mayor 
and the Rochdale Leader in particular. Each Leader on the GMCA has a 
particular policy lead; the Leader of Rochdale is the GMCA and AGMA portfolio 
lead for Planning and Housing which also involves appointments to other 
relevant bodies, such as being Chair of the Greater Manchester Planning and 
Housing Commission. Also the Leader, as with all Leaders/District elected 
Mayor on the GMCA, sits on the GM Health and Social Care Strategic 
Partnership and the GM Police and Crime Panel.

127. The GM region is the only region thus far to take control of its combined health 
and social care budgets, which is more than £6 billion. More recently, through 
the GMCA Devolution Agreement with the Government, there is to be a further 
significant devolution of powers and responsibilities to GMCA designed to drive 
economic growth and reform of public services. 

128. The Panel has no doubt that the basis of the Leader's current remuneration is 
out of date. While this has been partially recognised through the recommended 
Leader's SRA it has not taken into account the significant growth in the 
Leader's workload and responsibility at the GMCA. This aspect of the Leader's 
role clearly merits an SRA in accordance with the GMCA Order 2011. The 
issue is where to pitch this SRA in what is an evolving context.  

129. Seeking guidance by looking at how other GM Councils have addressed the 
issue is diminished in that the only other GM Councils that pay their Leader an 
additional SRA for their GMCA duties are:

 Oldham: £5,543
 Trafford: £9,591
 Wigan: £6,100

130. Seeking good or standard practice by looking at how other Combined 
Authorities have addressed the issue is of even less assistance. The GMCA is 
the pathfinder for all English Combined Authorities; it has the most developed 
structures and devolved responsibilities with concomitant governance 
arrangements, most significant being the first CA elected Mayor from May 
2017. There are other metropolitan regions where some of the relevant councils 

Page 82



36

have yet to agree even in principle to the whole concept of combined 
authorities. The GMCA is the only CA Order that specifically refers 
remuneration of its Members back to their constituent Councils’ remuneration 
panels. In effect it is an issue that has yet to be addressed in other Combined 
Authorities. 

131. An obvious comparison within the GMCA is the SRA (£28,250) paid to the 
Chair of the TfGMC, but whereas the Chair of TfGMC is expected to devote the 
majority of their time to TfGMC duties the Leader of Rochdale is still expected 
to devote the majority of their time to Rochdale Borough related duties. 

132. Nonetheless, the Panel has established a baseline for the Leader's GMCA SRA 
by working on the principle that it should not be less than the lowest Leader’s 
GMCA SRA in the 3 other GM Councils where it is paid, which is Oldham 
where the Leader is paid a GMCA SRA of £5,543, or less than a Deputy Chair 
of the TfGMC each of whom receives an SRA of £5,161. Bearing this in mind, 
the Panel has decided at this juncture that a GMCA SRA for the Leader set at 
£5,500 is fitting. The Panel recognises that the GMCA will in all likelihood look 
at these SRAs on a GMCA-wide basis when it carries out its restructuring and 
as such the Panel is satisfied this is an appropriate recommendation based on 
the current workload and responsibility carried out by the Leader on the GMCA.

133. The Panel recommends that the Leader is paid a SRA of £5,500 as a 
Member/Portfolio Holder on the GMCA.

134. The Panel further recommends that the allowances scheme is amended to 
clarify that the SRAs paid in accordance with the amended GMCA Order 
are not subject to the 1-SRA only rule.

Issues arising - linking remuneration to performance

135. The Panel received representation expressing some disquiet that the flat rate 
Basic Allowance is paid to all Members regardless of their workloads. While by 
no means pervasive, there was a sense of inequity arising from a perception 
that while the vast majority of Members work hard for their Basic Allowance, 
some Members demonstrated few signs of carrying out the duties for which 
they are paid.

136. The simple fact is that the Panel is unable to vary the Basic Allowance to 
differentiate between the work loads of Members. Under the 2003 Regulations 

Page 83



37

a Member by virtue of being elected is entitled to the full Basic Allowance. Apart 
from resigning the only way not to pay the Basic Allowance is for a Member to 
be in breach of the 'six month' rule. If a Member does not attend an approved 
duty at least once every six months then they cease to be a Councillor and 
therefore no longer paid as such. This light touch had more logic 40 years ago 
when Members’ work was more meetings centred, in a context where they had 
fewer meetings to attend, particularly community and stakeholder meetings. 
Moreover, as the principal remuneration was through an attendance allowance 
it meant if a Member did not attend their scheduled meetings they did not get 
paid. The 2003 Regulations specifically prohibit the payment of an attendance 
allowance. 

137. Even if the Panel could find flexibility within the legislation the practical issues 
remain problematic. The most obvious metric by which to gauge workload is 
attendance at meetings which in theory can be recognised through an SRA. 
While attending meetings is not the sole focus of a Members' work it is an 
important one that can be measured. If a Member is not attending the majority 
of their scheduled meetings and training events they are not representing the 
interests of their constituents and the Council in general to the best of their 
ability.

138. Yet some Members might not attend all their scheduled meetings, or have 
fewer scheduled meetings than most Members, as they feel their efforts are 
best focused in their ward or representing their constituents to the Council. 
Furthermore, a variation of remuneration that is linked to the percentage of 
meetings attended does not take into account the number of committees a 
particular Member is scheduled to attend each year. A handful of Members only 
have a dozen or so scheduled meetings per year to attend while others may 
have over 3 dozen; it is easier for former to have a 100% attendance record 
than the latter even though the latter may actually attend many more meetings.

139. Moreover, while in the past there were a couple of Members who were 
conspicuous by their absence from the Council Chambers there is little 
evidence showing it remains the case. The political process was the final and 
remains the final arbiter regarding Member performance.

Indexation

140. The Panel recommends that the following indices are applied to the 
allowances paid to Members of Rochdale Borough Council:

Page 84



38

 Basic Allowance and SRAs (including those paid in accordance with 
the GMCA Order):

 Indexed to the annual percentage salary increase for local 
government staff (at spinal column 49) as agreed each year by the 
National Joint Council for Local Government Services and 
applicable to the same year it applies to Officers but with an 
implementation date from the start of the municipal rather than 
financial year.

 Mileage Allowance (Outwith only):
 Members’ mileage allowances rates indexed to HMRC Approved 

Mileage Allowance Payment rates.

 Subsistence Allowances (Outwith only):
 Subsistence allowances should continue to be indexed to the same 

rates that are applicable to Officers.

 The Dependants' Carers' Allowance:
 Maximum hourly rate claimable indexed to the National Living 

Wage.

141. The Panel also recommends that indexation should run for four years 
(2017-2021), which is the maximum length of time permitted by the 2003 
Regulations. For authority for indexation to be extended beyond the 
fourth anniversary of the establishment of the new scheme of allowances 
the Council is required to first seek advice from the Panel.

Implementation

142. The Panel recommends that the new scheme of allowances based on the 
recommendations contained in this report is adopted from the date of the 
Council's Annual Meeting in May 2017.

Page 85



39

APPENDIX ONE - Information reviewed by the Panel

1. Terms of Reference

2. Rochdale Council Members' Allowances Scheme 2016/17 including full 
schedule of SRAs payable and methodologies for determining allowances

3. The Councils annual statutory publication of Members' allowances and 
expenses received by each Members including category sub totals, 2015/16

4. Panel Members' Allowances Review Report May 2011 including Council 
Consideration and decision at annual meeting 18 May 2011

5. Panel Members' Allowances Review Report July 2013 including Council 
Consideration and decision at meeting 18 July 2013

6. Rochdale Borough Council, A Guide to the Council's Decision-Making 
Structure, including a flow diagram of council committees, etc. 

7. Terms of Reference for Committees

8. Calendar of Council Meetings 2016/17, including membership of Cabinet and 
Committees including Chairs and Vice-Chairs

9. Briefing and background papers:

 Corporate Peer Challenge submission 2015
 Report of the Local Government Association Peer Challenge Team 

2015
 Corporate Plan 2016-2019
 Place Plan for the Borough 2016-2021
 The GMCA and Association of Greater Manchester Councils
 Summary of recent governance changes

10. Member role profiles where appropriate

11. Copy of aide memoir sent to all Councillors

12 Members Allowances Statutory Guidance 2006 

13. Summary of hours worked (mean per week) by Councillors (Census of 
Councillors 2013)

14. Pay increase: National Joint Council for Local Government Services LGS Pay 
2014-16 and Pay Offer: National Joint Council for Local Government Services 
LGS Pay 2017-19

15. Benchmarking - summary of allowances paid across the GM Councils 
2016/17 or the latest data available

Page 86



40

16. The Local Authorities (Members' Allowances) (England) Regulations 2003, SI 
2003/1021

17. The Greater Manchester Combined Authority Order 2011, Schedule 1, 
SI2011/908 

18. Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE), Table 8.5a., average hourly 
earnings (gross) for all full time employees resident in the Borough of 
Rochdale, provisional results, 26 October 2016

Page 87



41

APPENDIX TWO - Member Interviewees

Members who met the Chair (12-13 October 2016)

1. Cllr S. Ali: Vice-Chair Corporate O&S Committee (Labour)

2. Cllr J. Blundell:15 Assistant to Cabinet Member for Regeneration 
and Chair of Pennines Township Committee 
(Labour)

3. Cllr J. Beswick: Deputy Leader of Council and Cabinet Member for 
Corporate and Regulation (Labour)

4. Cllr C. Biant: Chair Rochdale Township Action and Resources 
Delegated Sub-Committee O&S Committee
(Labour)

5. Cllr A. Brett: Deputy Leader of Council and Cabinet Member for 
Finance (Labour)

6. Cllr A. Dearnley: Leader Majority (Conservative) Opposition Group 
and Shadow Portfolio Holder for Regeneration

7. Cllr I. Duckworth: Shadow Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhoods and 
Community (Conservative)

8. Cllr J. Emsley: Cabinet Member for Culture, Health and Wellbeing 
and Chair of Health and Wellbeing Board (Labour)

9. Cllr R. Farnell: Leader of Council and Labour Group and Cabinet 
Member for Regeneration, Member of GMCA and 
AGMA Executive Board and GM Police and Crime 
Panel

10. Cllr J. Hartley: 'Backbench' Member (Labour)

11. Cllr M. Holly: Chair of Corporate O&S Committee (Labour)

12. Cllr A. Hussain: Chair Employment and Equalities Committee 
(Labour)

13. Cllr A. Kelly: Leader Minority (Liberal Democrats) Minority 
Opposition Group

14. Cllr P. Malcolm: 'Backbench' Member O&S Committee (Labour)

15. Cllr D. Martin: Cabinet Member for Children's Services (Labour)

15 Cllr Blundell was interviewed by the Panel Chair over the telephone, 19 October 2016.

Page 88



42

16. Cllr A. McCarthy: Lead Member for the Armed Forces (Labour)

17. Cllr S. O'Neil: Chair Rochdale Township Committee (Labour)

18. Cllr L. O'Rourke: Chair Audit and Governance Committee O&S 
Committee (Labour)

19. Cllr R. Paolucci- Escobar: Vice-Chair Pennines Township Committee and 
Pennine Township Planning Sub Committee and 
Shadow Portfolio Holder for Corporate and 
Regulation (Conservative)

20. Cllr P. Rush: Chair Heywood Township Committee O&S 
Committee (Labour)

21. Cllr B. Sheerin: Assistant to Cabinet Member for Adult Care 
(Labour)

22. Cllr P. Sullivan: Vice-Chair Health, Schools and Care O&S 
Committee and Shadow Portfolio Holder for 
Children's Services (Conservative)

23. Cllr C. Wardle: Chair of Planning and Licensing Committee 
(Labour)

24. Cllr M. Zaman: 'Backbench' Member O&S Committee (Labour)

Members who met the Panel (18 November 2016)

Cllr A. Dearnley: Leader Majority (Conservative) Opposition Group 
and Shadow Portfolio Holder for Regeneration

Cllr R. Farnell: Leader of Council and Labour Group and Cabinet 
Member for Regeneration, Member of GMCA and 
AGMA Executive Board and GM Police and Crime 
Panel

Page 89



43

APPENDIX THREE - Written Submissions from Members

1. Cllr A. Brett: Deputy Leader of Council and Cabinet Member for 
Finance (Labour)

2. Cllr L. Brosnan: Assistant to Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods 
and Community (Labour)

3. Cllr J. Gartside: Shadow Portfolio Holder for Business, Skills and 
Employment (Conservative)

4. Cllr P. Malcolm: 'Backbench' Member O&S Committee (Labour)

5. Cllr R. Paolucci- Escobar: Vice-Chair Pennines Township Committee and 
Pennine Township Planning Sub Committee and 
Shadow Portfolio Holder for Corporate and 
Regulation (Conservative)

6. Cllr S. Rowbotham: Chair Health, Schools and Care O&S Committee 
(Labour)

7. Cllr P. Rush: Chair Heywood Township Committee O&S 
Committee (Labour)

8. Cllr P. Sullivan: Vice-Chair Health, Schools and Care O&S 
Committee and Shadow Portfolio Holder for 
Children's Services (Conservative)

9. Cllr C. Wardle: Chair of Planning and Licensing Committee 
(Labour)

Page 90



44

APPENDIX FOUR - Officer Briefings

Officers who met the Chair (12-13 October 2016)

Steve Rumbelow: Chief Executive

Mark Hardman: Governance and Committee Manager 

Officers who met the Panel (18 November 2016)

Steve Rumbelow: Chief Executive

Mark Hardman: Governance Projects Officer

Page 91



45

APPENDIX FIVE - Benchmarking

BM1 RBC BM Group - Other GM Councils: BA + Exec + Scrutiny SRAs (October 2016)
Comparator 

Council
Basic 

Allowance
Leader or 

Elected Mayor
Leader 
Total

Deputy 
Leader

Executive 
Members

Assistant or 
Deputy Execs

Chairs/Lead 
Scrutiny

V/Chairs 
Scrutiny

Chairs Scrutiny 
Panels/WGs

Bolton £11,416 £30,681 £42,097 £18,407 £12,011 £5,151 £5,151   

Bury £8,205 £25,985 £34,190 £15,597 £10,395 £1,226 £6,500   

Manchester £16,307 £40,725 £57,032 £17,128 £17,128 £6,852 £10,287   

Oldham# £9,239 £27,717 £36,956 £19,402 £16,630 £6,929 £8,325   

Salford £10,405 £58,595 £69,000 £34,445 £13,430 £10,073 £8,395   

Stockport £9,926 £29,778 £39,704 £16,374 £14,889  £5,956  £1,191

Tameside £11,640 £36,036 £47,676 £23,495 £20,099 £8,352 £9,581 £3,194  

Trafford# £6,492 £25,968 £32,460 £18,176 £12,983 £7,789 £7,789 £3,859  

Wigan# £12,179 £36,540 £48,719 £21,952 £16,464  £7,317   

Highest £16,307 £58,595 £69,000 £34,445 £20,099 £10,073 £10,287   

Lowest £6,492 £25,968 £32,460 £15,597 £10,395 £1,226 £5,151   

Median £10,405 £30,681 £42,097 £18,407 £14,889 £6,929 £7,789   

Mean £10,645 £34,669 £45,315 £20,553 £14,892 £6,625 £7,700   

Rochdale* £7,812 £23,412 £31,224 £12,888 £10,536 £2,616 £7,812 £2,616  
# Leader receives additional GMCA SRA: Oldham £5,543, Trafford £9,591 & Wigan £6,100 * Rochdale figure reflects extra marginal cost for 2 Deputy Leaders @ £11,712 SRA each

P
age 92



46

BM2 RBC BM Group - Other GM Councils: Main Regulatory SRAs (October 2016)

Comparator 
Council

Chair of 
Planning

V/Chair 
Planning

Chair of 
Licensing

V/Chair 
Licensing

Chairs 
Licensing 

Panels/Subs

Members 
Licensing 

Panels

Chair of 
Audit &/or 

Governance
V/Chair 
Audit

Chair HR or 
Employment 

Appeals
Chair 

Standards
V/Chair 

Standards

Bolton £8,017 £2,758 £7,589 £2,472        

Bury £6,500  £6,500   £25 p/d > 
10 meetings £6,500     

Manchester £10,287 £3,431 £10,287 £3,431  £516    £1,716  

Oldham £8,315  £8,315       £646  

Salford £8,395  £8,395    £8,395     

Stockport £8,338  £8,338  £3,573  £5,956   £1,191  

Tameside £9,581 £3,194 £6,198 £2,307 £6,198  £9,581 £3,194  £6,198 £2,307

Trafford £10,388 £3,895 £10,388 £3,895 £3,246  £7,789 £3,895 £7,789 £2,295  

Wigan £10,974 £2,762 £13,553 £3,388   £3,658   £7,317  

Highest £10,974 £3,895 £13,553 £3,895 £6,198  £9,581 £3,895  £7,317  

Lowest £6,500 £2,758 £6,198 £2,307 £3,246  £3,658 £3,194  £646  

Median £8,395 £3,194 £8,338 £3,388 £3,573  £7,145 £3,545  £2,006  

Mean £8,395 £3,194 £8,338 £3,388 £3,573  £7,145 £3,545  £2,006  

Rochdale £7,812  Inc in 
planning

   £7,812 £2,616 £7,812   

P
age 93



47

BM3 RBC BM Group - Other GM Councils: Opposition & Other SRAs (October 2016)

Comparator 
Council

Main 
Opposition 

Leader

Main 
Opposition 

Deputy Leader
Opposition 

Leads
Other Opposition 
Group Leaders

Area 
Chairs Other SRAs/Comments

Bolton £10,349 £6,209  £2,883  Execs w/o portfolio £6,500

Bury £8,578 £3,428  £4,290  2nd Opposition Group Deputy Leader £1,716

Manchester £17,128 £6,852 £1,715   Airport Board Mbr £10,287, Spokesperson City Centre + Mbr Fostering Panel 
£6,852, Mbr Adoption Panel £5,519

Oldham # £13,859 £5,543 £2,771  £5,821 Oldham Care & Support + Unity Partnership Chairs £8,315

Salford £8,395   £8,395   

Stockport £8,933   £1,020 + £306 
p/mbr £5,956  

Tameside £11,269   £2,307 £9,581 V/Chrs Licensing Panels £2,307, V/Chrs Area Assemblies £3,194, > 5 Standards 
Hearings p/yr £100 p/hearing, Chair Council Business £11,269. 1 1/2 SRAs paid

Trafford £12,983 £2,595 £2,595 £2,595  V/Chair Employment £3,895, Shadow Scrutiny Lead Mbrs £1,590, Opposition 
Spokespersons on Planning + Licensing £2,595

Wigan £4,047      

Highest £17,128 £6,852 £2,771 £8,395 £9,581  

Lowest £4,047 £2,595 £1,715 £2,307 £5,821  

Median £10,349 £5,543 £2,595 £2,883 £5,956  

Mean £10,616 £4,925 £2,360 £4,094 £7,119  

Rochdale £9,372  £768  £7,812 V/Chairs Townships + Chair Rochdale Township Action & Resources 
£2,616, Lead Member Armed Forces £7,812

# Oldham - £5,821 = middle band 2 of 3 bands payable depending on size of "district"  

P
age 94



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET MEMBER REPORT TO THE COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE LEADER OF THE COUNCIL AND THE CABINET MEMBER FOR REGENERATION 
TO THE 

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL ON WEDNESDAY, 19th OCTOBER 2016

Thank you Mr Mayor for the opportunity to report to the council the latest developments on various 
matters relating to the Regeneration, Communications, Strategic Projects and Greater Manchester 
Relationships Portfolio.

Facing the financial challenge

Cabinet has recently looked at another round of proposals that generate further savings of £1.5 million.
These will bring the final tally of cutbacks total to £39 million - needed to set a legal and balanced budget 
for next year (2017/18). We are using £5 million of balances to cushion the impact.

We have estimated we will still need to identify a further £11.4 million of ongoing savings for 2018/19.

As I have said before, you cannot axe a total of £200 million since 2010 from local services as a result of 
unfair government austerity cuts without taking painful decisions. 

The Stage 2 savings have now gone out to public consultation.

The heart of the council’s ambitions

The council has set out its ambitions for the next five years in a new plan that focuses on people, place 
and prosperity.

These priorities, called the Place Plan, are designed to improve the lives of everyone across the borough 
and explain how the council wants to create a prosperous borough that residents can be proud of.

Backing up the Plan are three manifesto pledges: Improving schools, creating jobs and cleaner 
streets and include specific actions to achieve these priorities.

It also aims to put the borough of Rochdale at the heart of the Greater Manchester region and ensure it 
reaps the benefits from devolution by creating a place that attracts new residents, investors and 
businesses.

Riverside library is open

One Riverside’s library has now fully re-opened after the floods last Christmas. Despite severe budget 
constraints, the Council is not proposing to close any main or branch library in the borough

We are increasing our investment in libraries by doubling the number of computers available for public 
use and have enrolled every school child into their local library.

Our huge ambitions for jobs and prosperity

The Greater Manchester Spatial Strategy - that's the huge plan which sets out how the city region will 
look like in 20 years' time – is out for public consultation. The plan identifies the land required to build 
225,000 new homes and create 300,000 new jobs over the next 20 years as the city region’s economy 
prospers and population grows.

Included in the strategy is the Northern Gateway - a huge opportunity for our borough. The Spatial 
Strategy for Rochdale will bring major economic benefits for our borough with the creation of 19,000 new 
and better skilled jobs and 15,000 new homes.

Page 95

Agenda Item 10a



More than 70 per cent of new homes will be built on brownfield sites – but that will not be sufficient to 
meet future needs. Having said that, at the end of the 20 years , Rochdale’s greenbelt will shrink from 
63% to 58% and still be the greenest borough in Greater Manchester.

These are ambitious plans which are vital to Rochdale's future prosperity. We have a once in a lifetime 
opportunity to reverse the steady economic decline of the borough over the past 50 years. It's as big as 
that.

We’re streets ahead

I was asked recently  to give a presentation on the state of the British high street at a major conference in 
the capital.
 
It’s no secret that like towns and cities up and down the country Rochdale has suffered with high streets 
shops closing at a rate of knots.
 
I was able to highlight what we’ve done here in Rochdale to address the decline. I’m sure you’re all aware 
of the innovative schemes we’ve developed, not least free parking and our business rates discount 
scheme, but this was a brilliant opportunity to speak to a wider audience about Rochdale’s ten-point plan 
to rescue the high street. 
 
It was good to get the national recognition we deserve for our plans to improve the borough and the hard 
work being undertaken to turn it into a destination of choice for shoppers and businesses alike.

We’re the business!

Along with the borough’s business community’s brightest I attended this year’s dazzling business awards 
at the town hall.

We have a thriving business community here in Rochdale which exemplifies the pioneering tradition our 
borough is known for. I was particularly pleased to see our talented young people being honoured with 
the apprentice of the year award.

Apprenticeships are a vital first step on the career ladder for many youngsters and those who have been 
shortlisted this year have clearly grasped this opportunity with both hands.

ROCHDALE TOWN CENTRE

Rochdale Riverside Retail and Leisure Development

Rochdale Town Centre continues to be a major priority for the council. Following the announcement that 
M&S, Next and Reel Cinema have completed agreements to occupy units in the ‘Rochdale Riverside’ 
development, we are continuing to secure other tenants to occupy the scheme and hope to make further 
announcements soon. 

The Genr8 design team have recently completed the design and layout of the preferred scheme and 
intend to submit a detailed planning application in late October 2016.  

Rochdale Town Hall 

The Stage 1 Heritage Lottery Bid for the restoration of the town hall was submitted in December 2015. 
The Heritage Lottery Fund was very enthusiastic about Rochdale Borough Council’s plans to revitalise 
our fantastic town hall, and have asked us to refine our bid and resubmit it in December 2016.  

Tetrosyl comes to town

Car parts giant Tetrosyl have moved into their £1million new headquarters in Rochdale Town Centre and 
took on an extra 33 local employees in the first week

Page 96



Baillie Street public realm improvements

Designs for the new paving along Baillie Street and lower Yorkshire Street have been finalised. The 
works started on site in September and the scheme will improve the surfacing and install natural stone 
paving to complement that used around the recently completed river re-opening scheme and enhance the 
conservation area.  

Market 

A feasibility study to consider options for the relocation of the outdoor market and an indoor market hall 
has been completed. The study undertaken with Quarterbridge Ltd, a market specialist who has worked 
on other North West markets has recommended that the outdoor market is located on The Butts adjoining 
the recently completed river re-opening scheme.  The market will be run by an external operator and a 
procurement process to appoint the operator is underway.

Town Centre Business Rates Reduction Scheme

Since the launch of the council’s unique business rates support scheme in Rochdale town centre last 
year, there has been a flow of new private sector investments into the town. 

The scheme was so successful in its first year that we have extended it to provide a further 30% discount 
in the third year, in addition to the 80% in year one and 50% in year two. The scheme has also been 
extended to Heywood and Middleton town centres. 

Independent Retail Business Support Scheme

Following the decision by the Government to end retail business rates relief we have decided to provide 
extra support to new independent retailers setting up a shop in our town centres.  The scheme provides 
up to £5,000 grant for fit-out or new shop fronts for eligible retailers.  

Jobs and Investment Fund

We have decided to take our innovative £1M local investment scheme to Parliament. We are asking the 
Government to match our investment fund pound for pound to double the amount we are able to offer 
local firms. The fund is used to attract firms to the borough, create jobs and apprenticeships and help 
them buy new machinery to boost productivity.

The fund is already reaping rewards. This manifesto pledge has already resulted in £371,000 worth 
grants going to local firms to help them expand and modernise their operations - creating 125 new jobs 
and 11 apprenticeships so far.

Rochdale Railway Station

Passenger numbers at the station have increased by 40% over the last four years.  It is expected this will 
continue to rise following the completion of an additional ‘turn back’ platform at the station earlier this 
year.  This will support additional services from Rochdale via Manchester Victoria to other parts of the 
north west region later this year

The completion of the Ordsall chord rail link will provide a direct Trans Pennine express rail service to 
Manchester airport via Piccadilly. 

The council has recently met with representatives of Arriva North, the new franchisee and Network Rail to 
discuss the potential for further investment at Rochdale station as part of the new franchise. 

This could include a new façade and passenger facilities and the matching refurbishment of the subway 
entrance onto Maclure Road.  This will enhance the attractiveness of this key gateway into the town 
centre for visitors and complement further investment in the area, such as the relocation of the Fire 
Service Museum.  

Page 97



MIDDLETON TOWN CENTRE

Edgar Wood & Middleton Townscape Heritage Initiative

Works to the Edgar Wood designed former Guardian Newspaper buildings on Market Place are nearing 
completion which include the reinstatement of a number of architectural features and a new shopfront.

Work will begin this month on 51-53 Rochdale Road and a scheme to restore the Exedra and Staircase 
within Jubilee Park is currently with the Heritage Lottery Fund for approval. We are developing a number 
of other projects for completion before the end of the THI in 2017, most notably the Long Street Methodist 
School.

Improvements to Northern Gateway to Middleton Town Centre

Paving works have been completed on Market Place, Long Street, Rochdale Road and Mellalieu Street, 
with works due to be completed in November to repair the boundary wall to Jubilee Park and reinstate 
railings along the Long Street boundary of the park. We are engaging with local businesses and landlords 
to deliver a property improvement scheme along the gateway and a number of new businesses have 
opened within this area during this period.

Middleton Triangle

The public realm and property improvement scheme is progressing. The paving works are due to 
complete in October, with Jackson & Jackson having being appointed to complete the property 
improvements after winning the tender. The contractor will be meeting the tenants prior to start on site 
mid-October. 

BUSINESS PARKS 

Kingsway Business Park

Within the last month, a planning application has been received for the extension of the JD Sports 
European Distribution Hub located at Kingsway Business Park, which will bring the total floorspace to 
nearly two million sq ft. This will create around 200 new full time jobs, bringing the total employment 
figure to 1,200 which will increase in response to seasonal demand to over 2,000.

This expansion will consolidate JD Sports position as a major employer in the borough, and Kingsway’s 
role as a strategically important business park with excellent motorway links.

The ‘Kingsway 216’ warehouse/distribution speculative building has now been completed. This 
opportunity is being extensively marketed, and whilst there have been a number of interested parties, no 
deal has yet been completed.

Construction work continues on four smaller speculative units, ranging in size from 35,000 to 75,000 sq ft 
at Plot K. Work is due to complete in late 2016, and this will help to diversity the overall Kingsway 
property portfolio.

Hareshill Business Park (Heywood)

Work has completed on the 95,000 sq ft ‘Link 95’ unit at Hareshill Business Park and this is now available 
to the market, and is being marketed through the RDA’s Business & Investment Team. The launch is due 
to take place in October. 

Heywood Distribution Park

Work completed in May on the two new units. Moran Logistics has signed a lease for one unit to creative 
an additional north west hub and a larger unit is being marketed by the Park’s agents, CBRE. There is 
also interest in the last remaining plot, which could accommodate around 500,000 sq ft. Currently the Page 98



business park is close to 90% occupancy, demonstrating the popularity of the location and the need for 
additional commercial space in this area.

Stakehill Industrial Estate

Howard Tenens are making significant progress with their refurbishment of the formerly vacant unit at the 
entrance to the Estate. When completed, this will deliver nearly 300,000 sq ft of floorspace which can be 
subdivided to meet the needs of a variety of occupiers. This property will come to the market in early 
2017. 

Commercial Estates Group who own around half of the estate has recently completed a number of deals 
which now sees the majority of their portfolio at Stakehill occupied. Most significant of these is the deal 
with Mansell Finishes, a company manufacturing window framing and partitioning solutions, who have 
taken a 65,000 sq ft unit which had been vacant for a number of years.

This leaves very little available space on the industrial estate, with only the recently vacated Aldi units, 
the Tesco unit and the former Sainsburys unit available. One of the Aldi units has been bought by a 
developer and is being extensively redeveloped for relaunch to the market in 2017.

OTHER REGENERATION ACTIVITY 

M62 J19/South Heywood Area Wide Improvement Programme

Detailed design work has been progressing on the road link from Junction 19 of the M62 in recent 
months. An initial public engagement exercise was held in July, with a further round having just taken 
place in early October. The local business community have also been consulted. As mentioned in my last 
report, public funding has been secured from Transport for Greater Manchester for the road construction. 
The current intention is for a planning application to be submitted in mid November2016. 

Councillor Richard Farnell
Portfolio Holder for Regeneration

Thank you Mr Mayor, I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the Council about these 
or any other matter relating to the Portfolio.

Page 99



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET MEMBER REPORT TO THE COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE
MEETING OF THE COUNCIL ON WEDNESDAY, 14th DECEMBER 2016

Thank you Mr Mayor for the opportunity to report to the Council the latest developments on 
various matters relating to the Finance Portfolio. I am pleased to present my report to 
Council as Portfolio Holder for Finance.

a) Finance

Monitoring of Current Year: Services continue to spend against their approved 
budgets in 2016/17. An updated 2016/17 position was presented to Cabinet on the 
21st November on the Revenue Budget, Capital Programme and the Collection 
Fund. There are no significant issues within the revenue and capital budgets, and 
the Collection Fund is currently reporting a surplus of £5.7m.

Budget Preparation: A key focus of activity over the past months in terms of finance 
has been the planning for the 2017/18 budget and provisional budgets for 2018/19 to 
2020/21. The gap for 2017/18 and 201/19 being estimated at £38.8m.

We have now concluded consultation on the Group 1 savings proposals and 
decisions were taken by Cabinet on 21st November and Employment and Equalities 
Committee on 22nd November. 

Consultation for Group 2 savings proposals commenced on 24th November and 
closes on the 9th January 2017. These proposals, if approved, together with the use 
of one off funds would allow a balanced budget position to be presented to Budget 
Fixing Council on the 1st March 17. 

Our budget work has been based on a number of assumptions around Government 
Funding and these have been reviewed in light of the Chancellors Autumn Statement 
however the most significant review will be once we receive the provisional figures 
and the final settlement from the Government. The impact on the budget is being 
assessed and will be reported to Cabinet on 2nd February 2017.  

b) Revenues & Benefits

Direct Debit: Collection of council tax and business rates is crucial to enable the 
Council to have the resource to fund essential services to residents. I am pleased to 
report that collection is improving.

Direct Debit as you are aware is our preferred method of paying council tax. At the 
end of October, 79.2% of all council tax paid (£45.8m) is being collected by Direct 
Debit, this is an increase from the same time last year of £2.7m. Take-up activity 
continues during 2016/17 as officers look to increase achieving the target of 80%, 
noting that in the current economic climate this is very challenging.

Council Tax Collection Update: At 30 October, 63.5% of council tax due in the 
year had been collected; this is exactly the same level as last year. Collection from 
working-age residents receiving Local Council Tax Support is 45.6%, which is 1.1% 
up on the same time last year. The target is to achieve 94.5% overall collection by 

Page 100

Agenda Item 10b



the end of the financial year and we are on target to achieve this.

£2.6m of previous years council tax arrears was collected to the end of October, 
compared with £2.5m at the same time last year. The target is to further improve 
arrears collection by the end of the financial year. 

Business Rates Collection Update: At 30 October, 61.8% of business rates due 
had been collected; this is 0.7% down on the same time last year however we are 
still confident that we will maintain the 2015/16 collection performance of 98.5%. 

£1.0m of previous years business rate arrears was collected to the end of October, 
compared with £0.9m at the same time last year. The target is to further improve 
arrears collection by the end of the financial year.

Housing Benefits: I can report that the maximum period before a claim is worked 
on is still around the target of 2 weeks.

We are still dealing with increasing workloads following the introduction of Universal 
Credit, referrals from HM Revenues and Customs (HMRC) and more recently 
implementing the first stage of the reduced Benefit Cap and preparing for the next 
phase in December. 

We continue to focus on reducing waiting times for processing claims, maintaining 
accuracy and delivering a good customer experience.

Discretionary Housing Payments: the latest position is 659 awards; totalling 
£352,226 from the annual DWP grant for 2016/17 of £535,391. Funding has been 
increased in 2016/17 by £143k to provide local relief around benefit cap reduction 
cases. We aim to fully utilise the Government’s funding again this year to support 
those most vulnerable residents as they look to manage the welfare changes.

Blue Badges: processing of Blue Badges remains up-to-date with all applications 
being dealt with in a timely manner.

Local Council Tax Support: claims are assessed alongside housing benefit and 
timescales for processing are consistent. I reported back to Cabinet on the outcome 
of consultation for the 2017/18 scheme and a recommendation is before Council this 
evening. I’m hoping for all party support on this.

c)       Internal Audit

Quarter 2 Report 2016/17: A report was presented to the Audit and Governance 
Committee on 6 December 2016 summarising the work of Internal Audit during the 
second quarter of 2016/17. 

Counter fraud: The Quarter 2 report from Internal Audit included a summary of the 
outcomes from counter fraud work in the 6 months to 30 September 2016. The key 
outcomes achieved were as follows:

 483 fraud referrals were received with 75% resulting in positive outcomes;

 A total of 11 sanctions have been achieved, consisting of 5 prosecutions, 4 
formal cautions and 2 fines for fraud;

 £227,409 has been identified in terms of additional savings and 

Page 101



overpayments which will be recovered. This includes savings of over £50,000 
arising from following up on the outcomes from the National Fraud Initiative, a 
nationwide data matching exercise that is undertaken every two years; and

 Various savings (included in the above) being achieved through days of 
action undertaken in liaison with a wider team of experienced investigators 
who collectively form part of the Partnership Enforcement Team. These 
savings relate to areas such as Council Tax, Business Rates, Housing 
Benefits and Council Tax Support.  

Options for appointment of the external auditor: In accordance with recent 
legislation, the Council has a requirement to appoint an external auditor for the audit 
year 2018/19 by 31 December 2017. A report was presented to Audit and 
Governance Committee on 6 December 2016 outlining the various options available 
under the legislation. Following discussions by the Greater Manchester Association 
of Metropolitan Treasurers (GMAMT), the favoured option is to opt in to the sector 
led body appointed by the Secretary of State. This decision will require approval by 
Full Council prior to the sector led body being informed by no later than 9 March 
2017.  

Risk Management: Current developments within the Council’s risk management 
processes include:

 A new version of the Performance Manager risk register IT system was 
released in October 2016 and training was provided to 59 Risk Champions or 
key users across the Council;

 Council Services have been making changes to internal risk management 
procedures in order to address the gaps identified in the ‘Self-Assessment’ 
process carried out in July 2016; and

 Risk Management Group meetings were held during November to consider 
Information Governance risk controls and the coordination of risk reviews 
within teams.

Councillor Allen J Brett

Portfolio Holder for Finance

Thank you Mr. Mayor, I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the 
Council about these or any other matter relating to the Portfolio

Page 102



1

ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET MEMBER REPORT TO THE COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR HOUSING AND ENVIRONMENT TO THE 
MEETING OF THE COUNCIL ON WEDNESDAY, 14TH DECEMBER 2016

Thank you Mr. Mayor for the opportunity to report to the Council the latest developments 
on various matters relating to the Housing and Environment Portfolio.

ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

Streetscene and Greenspace Development

 Rights of Way Capital & Revenue Programme on schedule with major schemes 
completed including the re-opening of the path through Stakehill Industrial estate.

 Christmas trees are currently being installed including a new style picket fencing 
next to the Gracie Fields Statue.

 The Service is providing assistance with the floods across the Borough including 
clean ups, providing skips, liaising with utility companies and local contractors.

 The Council’s playing pitch strategy is out for consultation and I am encouraging 
everyone who has an interest in playing pitch sports to send us their comments.

 Improvement works to Heywood Cemetery entrance has started and is expected to 
be completed early in the New Year.

 A new Memorial Hall at Rochdale Cemetery is currently in the design stage and we 
will be including extra toilets and other memorial and informational facilities which 
will benefit many bereaved families, friends and visitors

 North West in Bloom was a massive success with the council entries alone gaining 
16 awards; this is by far the best success we have ever had at these awards:

o Gold Medal Awards for Rochdale and Heywood;
o Silver Gilt for Pennines plus specific Gold Medal Awards for Queen’s Park in 

Heywood and Hollingworth Lake. 
o Silver Gilt for Rochdale Town Centre in its first year of entry.  
o Revealing the Roch won a Heritage Award.  
o “In Your Neighbourhood” category highest level of achievement “Outstanding” 

for Jubilee Park in Norden, Hare Hill Park in Littleborough, Hopwood Park in 
Heywood and Moss Row Allotments.  

o Added to this the community entries also did extremely well.  A point to note is 
Rochdale was the highest awarded Council in the North West. This shows 
strength in depth of partnership between EM Services and Community In Bloom 
groups.

 Denehurst Park redevelopment is under way with the first minor contracts let and 
major contract for all the drainage, footpaths, tree work etc sent out to tender 
23/11/16.

 25 new allotment plots have been made available at Kellett Street as the first of 100 
new plots which will be created in the next 18 months.

Page 103

Agenda Item 10c



2

 Shift working trial in place for litter bin emptying and channel sweeping on our larger 
roads to improve street cleansing and reduce costs of current provision.

Waste  & Recycling

 An initiative to help residents in Milkstone and Deeplish recycle more food waste is 
underway. Residents are being offered larger wheeled bins in exchange for their 
smaller caddies to help them cope with the amount of food waste that larger 
families are producing

 We are also rolling out food waste collections to targeted flats and communal areas 
where logistics allow. To date 12 communal areas/flat blocks in Middleton have 
switched to food waste collections and more are targeted in the other 3 townships. 

 Environmental Management scooped another national award at the LARAC
conference in Nottingham recently for the Best Communications Campaign 2916. 
The Recycling Team and our Recycling Officer Dave Leeming also narrowly missed 
out on a trophy coming runner up in the Best Recycling Team and Best Recycling 
Officer categories.

 A separate trial initiative was carried out on a small targeted group of properties 
around the Duke Street/Industry Road area of Rochdale in October and early 
November. The initiative generated signed pledges from 75% of householders and 
received glowing accolades from a number of grateful residents. The streets are 
now being monitored twice a week for the next 6 weeks to measure how well the 
behaviour of residents has improved.

 Recycling tonnages continue to perform well with a kerbside rate of 55% in 
September and 51.9% in October. Garden waste is beginning to fall away at this 
time of the year which accounts for the fall in rate during October. Last year the 
recycling rate for October was 41.4%.

HIGHWAYS, PROPERTY AND FACILITIES MANAGEMENT

HIGHWAYS

Borough wide:
 The first year of the capital highways programme is substantially complete.
 We are programmed to complete the pothole and gully replacement  programme by 

end of march 2017.
 The team responded rapidly, in association with Balfour Beatty and other services, 

to the flooding at the end of November.   

Rochdale:
 Christmas Tree Island is complete.
 Lower Yorkshire and Bailee Street improvements are on - going with a completion 

date programmed for April 2017.
 Mellor Street and Spodden bridge repairs started on site in mid – July and are 

programmed to finish by the end of February 2017 

Middleton :
 The public realm works in Long Street Middleton are complete.
 Middleton Gardens Triangle paving is complete. 

Page 104



3

Heywood:
 Junction 19 planning application was submitted at end of November and the works 

are due to be completed 2020/21.

As the Portfolio Holder for Highways I chaired the second Highway Champions meeting on 
the 7th November, 2016, the next meeting is due on the 12th December 2016. My fellow 
Highways Champions will be reporting in more detail to members at Township meetings.

HIGHWAYS (Street Lighting)

 Routine maintenance is carried out on all assets on a 3 year program that runs from 
January to December each year, as at end of Nov the program is 90% complete 
and on schedule.

 As of end of Nov the Service Provider has taken an average of 2.29 days to repair a 
street light.

PROPERTY (Project & MPS)

 The team has been commissioned to deliver works at Bowlee (£1.8m) and 
Sandbrook school (£0.8m).  A further commission has been received to commence 
the design at St Andrew’s school (value £1m).

 The Asset Management Group Maintenance Programme for 16/17 is now entering 
the final quarter where most schemes are beginning to commence work on site for 
delivery by the end of the financial year.

 Managed Property Services (MPS) have recently taken delivery of 14 new fleet 
vehicles from Northgate, which will help to achieve lower day to day running costs 
and an estimated annual saving of approximately 17K, over a three year term.

 MPS continues to successfully deliver reactive and planned maintenance to all the 
Council’s property and schools portfolio with good feedback from the Home 
Improvement Agency & Home Security Scheme.  

 The year two electrical apprentices continue to thrive in both the workplace and at 
college, receiving positive feedback from both mentors and tutors alike. It is hoped 
that more apprentices can be recruited in the near future. 

Facilities Management – Schools
 The Facilities Management Service have now taken over the management of the 

School Crossing Patrol Service and are currently meeting with all clients with a view 
to the service moving forward from April 2017.

 Facilities Management have been asked by a number of schools who manage their 
own catering and cleaning service for support and assistance in various aspects of 
the service.  This business is increasing the income for the service.

Town Hall 
 Year to date figures continue to move in the right direction on both income and 

performance, these are reflecting a 44% increase on 2015/16 for commercial 
activity.

 The Town Hall has hosted a series of events that contribute to a positive image for 
Rochdale which include:

 The Gin Festival which also contributed to a 20% reported increase of trade 
for the wider Rochdale business base including the transport networks.

 Rochdale Business awards.
 Hosting a civic reception to congratulate Rochdale Hornets.
 The Boroughs success at the Southport flower show.

 The Music service is fully embedded and are hosting regular events in the Great 
Hall.

 The Town Hall is experiencing a 40% increase in Tours.
 The planned opening of the Clock Tower dining room on Saturdays and Evenings 

Page 105



4

has not taken place due to a shortfall in available staff resource.  Recruitment is 
taking place to address this issue.  It is hoped this matter will be resolved by 
February 2017.

 Remedial work is due to commence on the 1st floor servery to allow for the 
essential improvements to the main kitchen to ensure we are compliant with food 
hygiene regulations and able to cater for the increase in trade. 

N1R
Children’s library

 The Children’s library is now operational with the rest of the works for N1R being 
completed by the end November.  

Technical
 RDA have commissioned Technical to complete the design of seven new industrial 

units to the land adjacent to Dodgson Street. Planning submission is imminent with 
a proposed construction starting early 2017 - approximate costs 500k

STRATEGIC HOUSING

Discretionary Crisis Fund and Local Welfare Provision
The Discretionary Crisis Fund has:-

 Supported 514 vulnerable residents in the first 5 months of this financial year. 
 3,046 individual items have been awarded with a total spend of £156,345.
 96% of the money spent has been used for providing essential household items for 

those resettling in to the borough after leaving temporary accommodation. 
 Emergency crisis awards, for household energy for example, made up 4% of the 

total spend.

Welfare Reform
 In relation to the further welfare reforms, an impact assessment has been 

undertaken to try to determine who will be affected, where they live and how they 
access advice and support; in response to this a targeted communications plan has 
been developed and actioned. 

 The plan included reviewing of the Council’s webpages, delivering presentations 
and briefings to staff, community champions, faith groups, schools and community 
centres and developing an easy read guide for members and staff.   Members have 
been sent an easy read guide on the changes.

 The Council has commissioned the Bond Board to provide support for those 
affected by the Benefit Cap living in the private rented sector. 
Residents will be offered:- 

 one to one advice sessions, 
 financial health checks 
 access to interpreters where required
 Intensive follow up with individual households over the phone, home and / or 

possible office visits; whichever is the most appropriate. 
 Residents living in Social Housing will be supported by their housing 

provider.

Universal Credit data 
 There total caseload of Universal Credit claims at 13th October 2016 was 3,655. 

The proportions of claimants are as follows:-
 27% Middleton, 18% Heywood, 55% Rochdale
 34% aged 16 to 24, 57% aged 25 to 49, 9% aged 50 and over
 61% not in employment, 39% in employment

Homelessness Strategy Update

Page 106



5

 The Draft Strategy Refresh is currently under a period of formal consultation which 
ended on 14/11/16.

 Feedback so far from a variety of sources and stakeholders has been generally 
positive and constructive.

 Some modifications to the strategy will be needed to take account of the current 
direction of travel being taken by the government with cross party support for a 
Homelessness Reduction Bill that is likely to become statute sometime in 2017. 

 The Homelessness Reduction Bill is likely to formalise the requirement for councils 
to undertake Homelessness prevention as part of their statutory requirements. 

 The impact of any new legislation has yet to be assessed and elected members will 
be informed in early 2017 once we are able to establish the likely outcome of the 
process of consultation however, it will underpin the need for effective partnership 
working across statutory and non-statutory agencies which is something that is 
already a key theme of our Strategy refresh.

 Prime Minister Theresa May has announced additional funding to be made 
available for councils to develop an ‘end to end response to homelessness 
prevention and reduction’. 

 The Homelessness Prevention Programme will be administered through the DCLG 
and is set to target 3 areas; Prevention and Reduction; people at risk of sleeping 
rough; long-term rough sleepers. 

 Rochdale Borough along with colleagues across GM have already been working 
towards a potential homelessness prevention ‘offer’ as part of the devolution 
agenda. This has been recognised by government ministers and GM has been 
recognised as a potential Homelessness Prevention Trailblazer and with the 
support of colleagues in Public Sector Reform we are in the process of finalising a 
bid for Homelessness Prevention Programme funding. This will help support the 
development of a cross authority prevention offer.

Housing on Former Council Owned Sites
 The 108 properties on the Furrows Park/Martindale Crescent site have all been sold 

with 65 % of sales utilising the governments help to buy scheme. 
 At Dean Street Keepmoat have sold all 77 properties. A total of 37% of all sales on 

the scheme have utilised the governments help to buy scheme.
 Countryside Properties and SDL Group are making good progress with the Roch 

Bank development on Nile Street in Rochdale.  All 61 properties were completed 
 57 properties were occupied, reservations had been taken in respect of 3 

properties, only 1 property remained available to let
 Countryside Properties are currently on site at George Street, Heywood where they 

are developing 43 new homes for private rent. 

Empty Properties
 The number of persistent long term empty properties has continued to reduce as a 

result of the intervention of the Empty Property team. 
 The award of New Homes Bonus, as a result of bringing empty properties back into 

use and the number of new build properties, to be paid in 2017-18, will exceed the 
projected target by £236,000.

 The team, working with Groundwork Oldham and Rochdale, will shortly commence 
the conversion of the former adult services offices, Denehurst House, into 
residential apartments, a community café and community space.

 Members will be asked in the New Year to consider the adoption of a programme of 
compulsory purchases to address derelict land and buildings where the property 
owners are refusing to bring about change.

Energy Efficiency
 The external wall insulation scheme partially funded by grants from Warm Zones, a 

national charity, is now underway with over 60 properties now benefiting from 

Page 107



6

improved energy efficiency. The target for the year is 200 properties across the 
borough.

 The replacement boiler scheme is now also underway. The scheme is intended to 
replace 100 inefficient and faulty boilers during this financial year. Due to initial 
administrative difficulties with the external grant provider the scheme has only 
replace 6 boilers to date but many more potential customers have been identified 
and are currently being processed.

Private Rented Sector
 The multi-agency inspections of commercial and hot food establishments 

commenced under Operation Maverick have continued and is still proving very 
effective in identifying unauthorised and sub-standard housing, along with a range 
of other offences.

PROPERTY (ESTATES & ASSETS)

Proposals for an Asset Development Fund were submitted to and approved at Cabinet on 
11 July. £1m per annum over 4 years. To provide premises for small and starter 
businesses, to generate additional revenue income, and to work towards the 
administration’s manifesto commitment of providing more small industrial units.  A planning 
application has been submitted in preparation to invest in the first phase - a seven unit 
extension to the Council’s Dodgson Street Industrial Estate.

To date in 2016/17 the Council has realised capital receipts in excess of £1.2m from asset 
disposals.

The Council has commissioned consultants to review the current portfolio and to provide 
advice on options available to realise additional value from the Council’s investment 
portfolio. An Asset Investment Strategy, to inform the development of the investment 
portfolio, is being prepared. Industrial estates continue to be 100% occupied. The 
Marketing Strategy for the managed workspace is being worked on to improve occupation 
and income levels.

The Council has agreed to support its leased-out community centres by undertaking 
essential works to the buildings. To date, 4  community centres have accepted the 
Council’s offer to undertake works over the next 12 months. 

Progress against the actions in the Asset Strategy are being monitored through the 
Council’s operational asset management group and will be reported to members where 
necessary.

Through the GMCA the Council has bid for funding from central government through One 
Public Estate (OPE) to invest in additional resources to prepare proposals for delivering 
efficiencies across the public sector property portfolio. At the heart of the borough’s 
proposals is the creation of health and social care hubs, which is considering the 
restructuring of integrated services by way of township-based EASY (Early Access to 
Services for You) Hubs. Property initiatives being pursued included Kirkholt developments, 
Rochdale Infirmary, Middleton and Littleborough town centres.

CORONERS HOSTED SERVICE

Members may be aware that the current Senior Coroner at Rochdale, Mr Nelson, is retiring 
in May 2017. With the agreement of Oldham and Bury Councils we have recruited a 
replacement Coroner and I can announce that Joanne Kearsley, currently Acting Senior 
Coroner at Stockport Council, has been appointed to replace Mr Nelson next year.  Ms 

Page 108



7

Kearsley comes with significant experience and a willingness to work closely with officers 
to provide a high quality service whilst recognising the financial difficulties facing local 
authorities.

REGISTRATION AND CELEBRANT SERVICES

The Registrars service has recently recruited a number of new Supply Registrars to deliver 
ceremonies for the Council as the demand for civil ceremonies and weddings remains 
healthy, particularly for the Town Hall, which was visited by over 500 people during the 
recent Wedding Show in October 2016.

Councillor Neil Emmott
Portfolio Holder for Housing and Environment

Thank you Mr. Mayor, I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the 
Council about these or any other matter relating to the Portfolio

Page 109



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET MEMBER REPORT TO THE COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR BUSINESS, SKILLS AND EMPLOYMENT 
TO THE

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL ON WEDNESDAY, 14th DECEMBER 2016

Thank you Mr. Mayor for the opportunity to report to the Council the latest developments 
on various matters relating to the Business, Employment and Skills Portfolio.

BUSINESS

A range of support continues to be offered to local businesses to contribute to their growth 
and job retention and creation in the borough. The Business Growth Hub Advisor post that 
the Council part funds is an important part of this service, and joint visits to businesses are 
regularly undertaken with RDA staff. Visits with the Leader of the Council have also been 
undertaken. The Business Growth Adviser can help businesses looking to grow to navigate 
a very varied and extensive range of support from national, regional and local 
organisations. A logistics company were recently supported to move to the borough and 
have received business rates relief from the Council to make the move viable.  The move 
will allow them to expand and create 16 new jobs.

The Council and RDA attend business networking events across Greater Manchester 
promoting the local business offer and making contacts with businesses and professional 
advisors to ensure that the borough is a place where they know they can do business. In 
October we co-hosted a networking event with Rochdale Football Club, attracting over 60 
delegates. We continue to work with the club as they look to extend their own business 
connections.

In October we attended an event at a local business, who is working with 3 of our high 
schools. The schools have been set a challenge to design a new product and will be facing 
a Dragon’s Den type panel in early December. The company is keen to continue with the 
project with further schools in the new year – fostering good relations with schools and 
business.

Early November saw the 6th annual Rochdale Business Awards take place in the Town 
Hall. Over 300 people celebrated the success of our local businesses, with businesses as 
diverse as baby clothing design through to the engineers who worked on the Flying 
Scotsman, being recognised.

Preparation is well underway to celebrate the borough's small and independent businesses 
on Saturday 3rd December.  In the 30 days leading up to Small Business Saturday, 30 local 
small businesses – the “Rochdale 30” - were profiled on social media and met with the 
Mayor on 30th November.   On the day itself the Rochdale Exchange Shopping Centre will 
host a market featuring a range of small traders, many who work from home, giving them 
an opportunity to benefit from the footfall in the shopping centre.  In Littleborough 
businesses are filming a video to provide a great opportunity to demonstrate a vibrant and 
exciting town centre.  Other areas will be staging shop window competitions.

The Council continues to support the borough's two Town Centre Management 
Companies. In Middleton, the Town Centre Management Company ensures the vibrancy of 
the town centre by hosting a range of entertainment to attract shoppers and the annual 
OktoberFest. These events have received good feedback from local shops, market stall 

Page 110

Agenda Item 10d



holders, shoppers and residents alike.  

Rochdale Town Centre Management Company were also heavily involved in the 
successful Rochdale in Bloom and Pubwatch award entries, and the Rochdale Beer 
Festival in partnership with CAMRA.

Both Town Centre Management companies are supporting businesses to benefit from the 
festive season including their local Christmas light switch on events and Small Business 
Saturday. Both companies are also promoting the new Council funded scheme to part fund 
new shop fronts to encourage occupancy of vacant units and the recently expanded 
discounted business rates scheme.

EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS

National data released in November shows some positive news for the borough.
The percentage of working age adults claiming Employment and Support Allowance has 
fallen for the 6th successive quarter and the gap between the borough and the north west 
and national average closed slightly. However the borough still has the highest rate in 
Greater Manchester.  Wage data shows that average resident weekly wages (an indicator 
of prosperity) in the borough have increased to £470.10 and the borough has moved from 
8th to 6th in Greater Manchester. Workplace wages (an indicator of the quality of jobs)
in the borough have also risen slightly to £437.50.

The Council's Employment Links Team is a successful deliverer of government and 
European funded contracts. Currently the team provide support to borough residents who 
are looking to return to work and update their skills. Performance on the number of people 
gaining new qualifications and getting a job is the highest in Greater Manchester and as a 
result of this high performance, more resources are being made available to ensure more 
borough residents are able to get this help.

Our Community Champions continue to perform strongly, helping people of the borough 
who are in need by giving their time and expertise for free.  So far this year, 3,679 people 
have been helped by Champions, resulting in outcomes worth nearly half a million pounds.  
This includes helping people learn to read or write, to manage their money or deal with 
debt, to improve their skills or get a job, to cope with a crisis or a mental health issue.  
Referrals often come from our own Adult and Children's Services and the work they do is 
both impressive and important.  

The Greater Manchester Working Well Pilot, which helps people with health needs or other 
difficulties to get into work, training or a better life, has performed well as a pilot and the 
expansion programme, agreed with the government under the Greater Manchester 
Devolution powers, is now well under way.  The pilot is not yet complete but Rochdale has 
been a consistently strong performer. The agreement with government is that local 
authorities need to ensure local health, skills, and housing services are joined up and 
sequenced correctly to support the individuals.  Over 72 people, so far, have moved from 
long term benefits and health conditions into employment.  Hundreds more are on that 
journey and are getting the help they need to improve their lives.  

The Talk English programme, funded by the DCLG continues to perform very strongly:  It is 
currently over-performing as part of a consortium project across the North of England by 
239%.  This means that local people who need to improve their spoken English language 
skills are getting the help they need and it’s working.  A lot of the help provided in Talk 
English is done by trained volunteers and similarly to the Community Champions, we 
should recognise the important work of volunteers in the borough and thank them for their 
invaluable support.

Our pilot of integrated working in Kirkholt was very successful, increasing participation in 

Page 111



learning and employment. At the same time as these increases, demand for crisis and 
emergency services like police call outs, evictions and safeguarding interventions 
decreased for the households worked with.  Because the households were the highest 
level of demand, the impact was huge and resulted in a cashable saving of £3.68 for every 
£1 invested.  Similar work has started in College Bank and Lower Falinge, where it’s hoped 
that by bringing services together we can reach even more people and produce more 
innovation.  
Our skills outreach courses and support have made a real difference this year, plugging the 
gaps in the adult learning and skills system and reaching those adults who would not 
otherwise be able to participate in learning.  The support provided goes beyond training 
and helps people into employment to get the lowest skilled out of poverty. An example of 
the innovative work on Kirkholt was “Key to the Door”, who worked with lone parents and 
received the National Lottery Stars award for skills this year:  This is a small provider from 
the voluntary sector, delivering innovative programmes that are making a difference to our 
young people’s lives.  

External Funding

With Council support a local mental health organisation has secured £340,000 from the Big 
Lottery Fund to enable them to help adults improve their mental wellbeing via a range of 
activities.

The Council has met with representatives from Children in Need to be able to help and 
advise organisations that will be applying for future funding.

Councillor Peter Williams
Portfolio Holder for Business, Skills and Employment.

Thank you Mr. Mayor, I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the 
Council about these or any other matter relating to the Business, Skills and Employment  
Portfolio

Page 112



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET MEMBER REPORT TO THE COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CHILDREN’S SERVICES TO THE 
MEETING OF THE COUNCIL ON WEDNESDAY, 14th DECEMBER 2016

Thank you Mr. Mayor for the opportunity to report to the Council the latest developments 
on various matters relating to the Children’s Services Portfolio.

Early Years Provision
There are currently 94% of early years and childcare group settings within the Private, 
Voluntary and Independent Sector (PVI) with an Ofsted judgement of good or above.  
Work is underway to address areas for development identified through the statutory early 
years foundation stage profile.  This includes workforce training in all sectors and work with 
health colleagues to identify children at risk early in order for support to be put in place.

84.7% of children eligible for a 2 year old funded nursery place in the borough have taken 
up this offer.  This equates to 1351 children.
97% of 3 and 4 year old children are accessing their free entitlement in maintained and 
non-maintained early years and childcare settings.

SEND (Special Educational Needs and Disability) Inspection
The SEND inspection of the Local Authority and its partners took place in September.  This 
is a joint inspection by Ofsted and the CQC to assess progress in responding to legislation 
reforms for SEND.  This is a new inspection framework and Rochdale was the 7th Authority 
in England to be inspected.  The inspection took place over five days and involved focus 
groups of partners, meetings with parents, schools, colleges and other providers.  The 
letter was published in November and is available on the Ofsted website. 

The letter identified a number of strengths including:
 Education, Health and Care plans are undertaken in a timely manner and are of 

good quality.
 Co-location of services is beneficial.
 Involvement of parents/carers/young people in service redesign is strong.
 Post 16 provisions is strong and meet the needs of young people.

It also identified a number of areas for development. The most significant were:
 Capacity of schools to identify and meet needs of increasing SEN population, in 

particular those with autism.
 Weak educational outcomes for children and young people at SEN support stage.
 Timeliness of response, particularly in respect of those with autism.
 Promotion and awareness of the Local Offer.

A joint written statement of action from the LA and the CCG is being developed and is due 
to be submitted to Ofsted by mid-February.  Work in already underway to address priorities 
identified.

NEET (Not in Education, Employment or Training) / Unknowns and Participation 
Update: 

As we now in Quarter 3 (Oct-Dec) and the tracking of our young people over the Summer 
from Rochdale’s commissioned provider nears completion, we will now start to see a 
clearer picture of NEETs and Unknowns at 16 and 17.  As of September 2016 and as per 
Government guidance, we are only tracking 16 and 17 year olds (yr 12-13) and those with 
an EHC Plan to 25 and not 16-18.  The Government want to see a decrease in the NEET 
% nationally. Discussions across GM are underway to ensure consistency of approach 

Page 113

Agenda Item 10e



across all LA’s.

16-17 (yr12-13) NEET’s (Not in Education, Employment or Training) – 3.7% (183 young 
people) compared to 4.1% (314 young people) last month.

16-17 Unknowns – 2.8% (142 young people) This is well under the 5% National Average.

17 year olds (yr12s) Participating (EET) – 92.8%. No change from same point in 2015.  

Vulnerable Groups – cohort numbers are based on Rochdale Residents:
 Young people with SEND in EET: 91.2% compared to 93.7% at same point last 

year.
 Teenage parents in EET: 43.7% compared to 43.5% at the same point last year.
 Young Offenders in EET: 72.0% compared to 69.6% at the same point last year.
 Care Leavers in EET 16-18: 75.5% compared to 69.3% at the same point last year.

Youth Service
Make Your Mark Ballot
5,570 young people from across the Borough took part in the annual Make Your Mark 
Ballot which decides what Members of the UK Youth Parliament debate and vote on to be 
their campaign for in 2017. 

Question Time
This was followed up by a Question Time event at Matthew Moss Youth Centre in 
November, during National Youth Work Week, where young people were able to discuss 
the three top issues voted on locally, namely, transport safety, sexual harassment in 
schools and racial and religious discrimination with a panel comprising of Councillors, 
officers, local religious leaders and representatives from transport companies.

Mayors Youth Awards
The annual Mayor’s Youth Awards takes place on 5th December at the Town Hall. This 
year the event, which recognises children and young people, who have made a real 
difference to the people in their lives, through work in the community, sporting achievement 
or commitment to friends and family. This is organised and hosted by the Youth Service, 
Youth Carers Group.

Early Help Conference
On November 28th Early Help in Rochdale ran its 2nd annual conference - a very 
successful event, with 120 participants from a wide range of both adult and children’s 
services. The full day event drew participants from the council, GMP, NHS, schools and 
the community and voluntary sector.  Director of Children’s Services, Gail Hopper opened 
the conference followed by key note speeches from Alison Kelly speaking about 
Rochdale’s Neglect strategy and Honor Rhodes, a national expert from the Tavistock 
Institute for Couples Relationships. The rest of the day comprised 3 workshops on 
Family conflict and relationships work, Early Help Assessment changes, a new Graded 
Care profile and Neglect and early intervention. 

Feedback from participants was very positive and it was felt by all concerned that the 
important topics discussed will make a positive difference to our work with families in the 
future.

Rochdale Education and Learning (REAL) Trust
For the second year running all schools (nursery, primary, secondary and special) across 
the Borough, including all academies, have subscribed to the REAL Trust.  The REAL 
Trust provides over 450 training sessions a year to schools, attended by over 6,000 school 
staff.  The REAL Trust runs training and development sessions for all school staff 
(including support staff) as well as training for Governors. The REAL Trust has recently 

Page 114



moved into the basement training suite at Hopwood Hall College. This has enabled them to 
increase provision in a high quality training environment and is helping to strengthen links 
between our schools and one of the local colleges. Training is aimed at developing those 
who work with and care for our children, be they school staff, parents or carers in order for 
them to provide the best possible educational support and opportunities for children and 
young people to attain and achieve to the best of their abilities.

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children ( UASC)
Members will be aware from media coverage of the plight of unaccompanied children living 
in poor conditions across the world as a result of the turmoil and risks to safety in their 
home countries. The government has asked all councils to support both the high numbers 
of children arriving in Kent and to provide accommodation for those being brought to the 
UK from France, Italy and Greece. Other requests from middle eastern camps are likely to 
follow. 

Rochdale children’s services have been involved in the leading the work from a North West 
and GM perspective. All councils have agreed in the first instance to receive 4 young 
people, by the end of the year. The service has worked closely with neighbouring boroughs 
to ensure appropriate accommodation, education and health support is provided. The 
borough also continues to receive requests for support for those who arrive spontaneously 
in the area as a result of illegal trafficking. We continue to work with GMP and immigration 
in this respect whilst also offering protection to this highly vulnerable group.

Adoption Success
As reported to members previously the adoption service continues to be at the forefront of 
best practice, successfully matching record numbers of children with their forever families 
via adoption.  This month has seen published national comparator data that places 
Rochdale as 4th best performing council nationally and 2nd highest regionally, for the 
percentage of children leaving care through adoption.  

Foster Care celebration 
On 29th November the Annual Celebration for Foster Carers was held in Rochdale. This 
year in response to feedback from carers the event departed from tradition and a family 
friendly celebration was held with over 40 foster carers, their own birth children and 
children they care for attending the event. Amongst carers receiving awards from the 
Mayor was Mr & Mrs Holt who have been carers for Rochdale for 40 years, having 
successfully cared for over 300 children and young people. 

Children’s Services Staff Recognition Awards
On 15th November the 2nd annual event took place recognising the success and 
contribution of individual staff and teams in children’s services, as nominated by their 
peers. Over 90 nominations were received highlighting the success of partnership working, 
apprentices and new starters, leadership, innovation and those who go the extra mile to 
help young people. This recognition is very well received by all those nominated, not just 
the winners and feedback suggests this event makes a positive contribution to staff morale.

Councillor Donna Martin
Portfolio Holder for Children’s Services

Thank you Mr. Mayor, I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the 
Council about these or any other matter relating to the Children’s Services Portfolio

Page 115



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET MEMBER REPORT TO THE COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR ADULT CARE TO THE 
MEETING OF THE COUNCIL ON WEDNESDAY, 14th DECEMBER 2016

Thank you Mr. Mayor for the opportunity to report to the Council the latest developments 
on various matters relating to the Adult Care Portfolio.

Operations and Service Capacity
As we enter the winter season Adult Care is planning additional capacity to support the 
health care system if demand increases. Members will be aware that A and E departments 
across the country are very busy and already struggling to treat people within 4 hours. This 
means that it is doubly important that we are as well prepared as possible for any surge in 
demand that winter often brings. Adult Care has commissioned extra capacity in care at 
home and in residential care to help with this, and Adult Care teams also provide 
assessment services in the hospitals 7 days per week. The STARS service is also taking 
more referrals, but nevertheless is also continuing to help more people return home and 
live independently than it did last year. 

Members will be aware that delayed transfers from hospital for social care reasons are 
rising across the country. In my last report I referred to a new way of working which speeds 
up hospital discharges, known as Discharge to Assess. This is now being rolled out across 
our borough and I am pleased to report that we have improved our performance on 
delayed transfers from hospital due to social care reasons. 
 
Apart from winter pressures the demand for Adult Care services has remained quite stable 
over the past few months, with a slightly larger than expected rise in safeguarding referrals. 
Despite some difficulties in recruitment of Social Workers and Occupational Therapists, I 
am pleased to confirm that Adult Care is still able to respond to requests in a timely way. 
The social work part of the service has introduced a new case allocation system to ensure 
all cases with priority needs are allocated in a timely manner. We continue to work to 
reduce the time taken to respond to referrals for Occupational Therapy, the longest wait is 
now 6 weeks but any urgent needs are allocated immediately. 

There continues to be capacity problems in the Adult Social Care market. As members will 
know, the Care Act makes the Council responsible for ensuring that there are the right 
number of providers available, providing good quality care, to meet the social care needs 
of borough residents.  Almost all adult care providers across the country face difficulties in 
recruiting and retaining care workers in domiciliary care and in residential and nursing 
homes. The difficulties are most serious in domiciliary care and nursing home care. This 
situation is the same in our borough, although to a slightly lesser extent than some areas. 
We are still able to arrange most domiciliary care services in a timely fashion but nursing 
level care, especially for people with more complex needs, is proving to be very difficult. 

Nationally there is a shortage of nurses, and many wish to work in the NHS or other health 
providers rather than in nursing care homes. This leaves nursing care homes in the difficult 
position of relying heavily on temporary staff. I am most concerned about this matter as it 
affects the quality of care for people. This affects all boroughs across Greater Manchester 
and we are part of a project team working together across GM to identify solutions, along 
with CCG partners who have shared responsibility for this. Where there are quality issues 
with local providers the adult care team works closely with the provider, the CCG and the 
Care Quality Commission to agree improvement plans with providers and take any 
necessary steps to protect individuals. 

Page 116

Agenda Item 10f



Performance 
In my last report I mentioned that the national adult care performance report was expected. 
This has now been received and I am delighted by the results for our borough.

The results have 2 elements:

1. Results of a national survey undertaken by the Department of Health which asks a 
range of questions of people who use local adult social care services. This is 
independent of the Council. 

2. Statistical data comparisons, produced from the detailed financial and activity return 
which each council is required to submit at the end of the financial year.

Our results and how they compare to the average for our comparator group, the average 
for Greater Manchester and the all England average is available. If any member would like 
a copy please let Nina Collinge know and Nina will send one to you, 
Nina.Collinge@rochdale.gov.uk. 

There are a few areas that I would particularly like to highlight. 
 
In the user survey there is a measure known as the `social care related quality of life 
measure`. This is an indicator that shows how much difference social care makes to the 
persons quality of life based on a set of responses. Our performance on this is significantly 
ahead of the average for our peers, the average for GM and for all England. Our Adult 
Care Service ranks 3rd out of 16 in our comparator group. 

Another result that I am particularly proud of is the number of people who use adult social 
care who report that their services allow them more choice and control over their daily life. 
This is one of the most important measures as this is at the heart of adult social care – 
recognising the individual person’s wishes and putting care and support in place which, as 
far as possible, is designed in the way they want it to be. Again, our performance is 
significantly ahead of the average for our peer group, GM and all England. 

Finally and most importantly I am very happy to tell you that our service ranks better than 
the average for our peer group, Greater Manchester and all England in all areas in the 
service user survey. This reflects the real experience of our residents and I would like to 
thank all of you who have supported adult care and helped us to achieve this.  

We want to continue to improve across all areas. At the same time we continue to make 
difficult decisions about care packages and levels of care daily, in order to manage in line 
with the reduced funding available. However, I and the staff within adult care are 100% 
clear that respect for individuals and a personalised approach is very important and this will 
continue in our service. 

In terms of the statistical returns there are some specific areas where we are working to 
improve, especially cash budget use.  I am confident that we are making progress, based 
on the first 6 months of this year and that this will have increased in line with our plans by 
year end. 
 
And finally on performance I would also like to congratulate team members within our 
integrated Intermediate Care Service as this service has been shortlisted for two awards in 
the Local Government Chronicle Annual awards - Partnership of the Year and Health and 
Care Service of the Year.  We all have our fingers crossed for the finals.

Integration and Devolution
The Adult Care Service is continuing to work very closely with the NHS and other partners 
as we implement the new integrated commissioning arrangements and also develop a new 

Page 117



Local Care Organisation. The Local Care Organisation will bring Adult Social Care, GPs 
and Primary Care and Community Health Care Services together into a new partnership 
what will be tasked with developing services and taking responsibility for the whole health 
and care system for residents who are aged 60 and over. This is an exciting new 
development that will form part of our local plan to transform services, and will be part of 
our local bid to Greater Manchester Health and Care Partnership for transformation 
funding. Over a period of years this new partnership will improve health and care services, 
make them more personalised, and ensure more people are treated at home rather than in 
hospital. It is a big challenge but our Adult Care Services are totally behind it and fully 
involved in it. We must make the health and care system work better for our residents and 
we are determined that the new Local Care Organisation will bring about fully joined up 
care. I will be able to give more of an update on this at the next council meeting.  

Thank you

Councillor Iftikhar Ahmed 
Portfolio Holder for Adult Care 

Thank you Mr. Mayor, I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the 
Council about these or any other matter relating to the Adult Care Portfolio.

Page 118



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET MEMBER REPORT TO THE COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR NEIGHBOURHOODS AND COMMUNITIES TO 
THE 

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL ON WEDNESDAY, 14th DECEMBER 2016

Thank you Mr. Mayor for the opportunity to report to the Council the latest developments 
on various matters relating to the Neighbourhoods and Communities Portfolio.

Safer Communities

Increasing confidence & satisfaction priority has been focussing on ensuring residents 
had a safe and enjoyable Halloween and bonfire period with the Safe4Autumn Treacle 
Campaign. Important safety messages were shared to prevent incidents and antisocial 
behaviour occurring including: trick-or-treating safety, the fireworks code, warning parents 
about the fire safety of fancy dress costumes and only buying fireworks from responsible 
‘good guy’ retailers. We also promoted our three fabulous organised events as the safest 
way to celebrate Bonfire Night. 

Raising awareness of domestic abuse has also been a priority during this period. The 
updated domestic abuse strategy was launched in November with a fantastic event at the 
town hall, were representative from partners agencies talked about the importance of 
supporting victims and helping offenders change their behaviour to prevent abuse. This 
tied into the Greater Manchester ‘Sitting Right with You?’ yellow sofa campaign and our 
White Ribbon accreditation. 

Other communications work included the launch of the ‘Will this be your last time?’ new 
psychoactive substance (legal highs) and party drug campaign to raise awareness of the 
dangers, both criminal and health related.

Reducing Crime and ASB
Police and partner colleagues have been working on a range of preventative activity and 
communications around the seasonal ‘Operation Dark Nights’ initiative, to remind people of 
the need to take steps to ensure their homes and possessions are not easy targets for 
burglars.

We held an event to re-launch the Domestic Abuse Strategy on 25th November, which also 
served as an introduction to a range of awareness raising and engagement events to mark 
the International White Ribbon campaign fortnight. 

Our new ‘Striving for Change’ behaviour change programme for people who may have 
been involved in standard risk domestic abuse incidents and be seeking help with 
managing their relationships went live earlier this month. It will complement the already 
established ‘Strength to Change’ programme and, together, these programmes will provide 
a comprehensive offer for people of differing levels of risk to address and change their 
behaviour, and how they conduct themselves in relationships 

We are also locally supporting the GM wide ‘Sitting Right With You’ campaign, which aims 
to take a new approach to getting people to talk about the issue of domestic abuse and 
what can be done to tackle and prevent it. The ‘yellow sofa’ which is the centrepiece of the 
campaign has been to Rochdale on 25th November and we are aiming to have it return at a 
later date with the Key 103 campaign bus, to promote messages about domestic abuse 
and the help that is available to tackle it 

Page 119

Agenda Item 10g



The Partnership Enforcement Team has been undertaking a range of preventative and 
investigative activity this quarter, including work with the national ‘Scambusters’ team to 
disrupt the activities of a well-known rogue trader. They have also been working on a 
number of other investigations relating to trafficking and slavery, and to organised drug-
related crime, and carrying out their regular ‘Operation Maverick’ prevention visits and, with 
Sunrise Team, ‘Operation Noric’ CSE preventative action.          

Partners implemented Operation TREACLE, the seasonal campaign to prevent 
and reduce casualties and incidents linked to Bonfire Night and Halloween. 
Promotional films were shown to schools and supported with a talk, licensed 
firework selling premises visited and advised, and organised bonfires around the 
Borough actively promoted.

Community Safety staff and partners also delivered the annual Crucial Crew 
personal safety programme to Year 6 pupils from across the Borough 

Preventing Offending by Children & Young People
Youth Service provided a comprehensive summer activity programme ensuring young 
people had the opportunity to engage in a range of positive activities across the Borough.

Members of the Youth Council attended the Northern Powerhouse and Greater 
Manchester Youth Assembly (GMYA) meetings and engaged in workshops and 
discussions around Brexit and transport issues.  MYP met with Andy Burnham to discuss 
how he would support young people in Rochdale should he be elected as Mayor for 
Greater Manchester.

Developing Community Cohesion
There has been a slight drop in the number of Hate crime reports made to the Police since 
the last report to members. Hate crime awareness remains a priority locally and regionally 
and officers within the community safety team continue to raise awareness amongst 
communities of the different forms of hate crime and how to report them. The council is 
actively involved in discussions with colleagues across Greater Manchester authorities to 
understand and highlight local concerns and share successes. The development of 
different approaches to support victims and to understand the changing communities in the 
borough has allowed the council and partners to respond quickly and effectively to hate 
related tensions, allowing the partnership to continue to help victims of hate crime and 
prevent others from becoming victims. Previous successes around twinning of different 
communities across the borough are being considered again and we are exploring 
potential projects with the voluntary sector to increase the opportunity for different 
communities to come together and share their differences, but more importantly to learn 
about similarities. 

Prevent
With changes across the council, the capacity to deliver WRAP training to services around 
Prevent has reduced slightly. In recognition of this, the community safety team is 
increasing the number of ’trainers’ available to the council as a resource in order to 
maintain our support across services so staff are confident in identifying vulnerable 
individuals at risk of radicalisation. The Government published its Counter Extremism 
strategy over a year ago and following numerous recent conversations with the Home 
Office, we have also secured their commitment to supporting and developing vulnerable 
communities by empowering them to challenge divisive and extremist narratives that may 
exist. Work is ongoing in this regard and members will be kept updated regularly. 

Townships
The last round of Township Committees considered reports on a wide range of issues, 
including the proposed removal of BT payphones, the Playing Pitch Strategy, Hopwood 

Page 120



Hall Renovation, and details of the group two savings proposals. Delegated sub-
committees took place during November where schemes and projects were considered in 
line with Townships priorities. The Christmas Lights switch-on events took place in all four 
Townships between 19th November and 3rd December and all events were very well 
attended. 

At the RHS In Bloom presentation the borough achieved a total of 24 awards including 
three Silver Gilt and Gold awards for Heywood and Rochdale Townships. 

I met with the Leader and the Township Chairs last month to discuss the development of 
the Townships Plan 2016/19.  Streamlined plans for each Township are currently being 
produced and will be finalised by April 2017.

Libraries, Customer Services and Advice
Libraries support health needs across the borough.  Every library offers Mood Boosting 
books and Books on Prescription for adults and young people.  These books which 
support low level mental health issues are available to all customers and are also 
prescribed by GPs and partner organisations.  Libraries are used as venues by a wide 
variety of partner organisations to offer health interventions.  Sessions recently started in 
libraries include smoking cessation at Middleton and Diabetes Prevention at many 
libraries.
Libraries across the borough provide residents with IT access and support.  The number of 
computers in libraries has greatly increased over the last few months.  By March 2017, the 
number of computer’s in the borough’s libraries will be double the number in March 2016.  
There are very popular IT training sessions in 13 of the borough’s libraries to improve IT 
skills of residents.

On November 26th, hundreds of people attended Rochdale Central Library for the official 
re-opening of Rochdale Central Library, following the boxing day 2015 floods.  There were 
events and activities for all ages including children’s story and craft sessions, coding 
activities for children and 02 providing support with smartphones and tablets. The event 
also included the unveiling of a Plaque which will be permanently located inside Number 
One Riverside, which commemorates Number One Riverside being the former site of the 
Yelloway Coach Office.  The library is better than before the flood with 14 extra computers 
and an improved children’s library with a brand new storytelling chair.
Following the extremely successful, Pennines Township funded, Read and Feed initiative 
at Smallbridge Library in the Summer holiday earlier this year, it has been agreed that the 
scheme will be expanded in 2017. The scheme which tackles ‘holiday hunger’ and 
increases the number of children taking part in the summer reading challenge, will be run 
in 5 libraries across the borough.  It has been agreed that Township funding will be used to 
expand this scheme to libraries in each Township in July and August 2017.

Balderstone Library will once again be opening its doors on Christmas Day and everyone 
is warmly invited to come along for a late Christmas breakfast with coffee, pastries & 
festive treats, between 11.30am and 1pm.

Some of the exciting things that have happened in libraries over the last couple of months:
 The number of PCs in most libraries have doubled since April.  All libraries will have 

more computers or tablets for customers before April 2017.
 Middleton Library hosted a penguin-themed storytime, song & craft session.
 Junction Library have recently started a new lego club and a new reading group 

which is being run in Junction Community Centre.
 IT training sessions take place in 12 of the borough’s libraries.  More than 20 ICT 

volunteers offer support for customers.  Several of our volunteers gain jobs each 
month after being a library volunteer.

 Each library is currently collecting toys for charity

Page 121



Christmas is currently being celebrated with events in most libraries across the borough.

The annual Rochdale Literature and Ideas Festival was held for the fourth time in October 
and was the biggest and best yet.  Taking place between 19 October and 24 October, 
nearly 5000 people attend events across the borough.  Several events were sold out and 
ticket sales were the highest ever.  Events included Alistair Campbell, authors and 
comedians Mark Steel and Jennie Éclair, internationally acclaimed authors Joanne Harris, 
Ann Cleeves and Mark Billingham, plus Owen Jones and Simon Callow.  Arts Council 
funding was used to work with young people to produce a ‘Zine’ written by and for young 
people and 3 theatre events. 

Rochdale Citizens Advice Bureau continues to operate the Council’s Welfare, Housing and 
Debt Advice Contract. They deal with people through the telephone advice line and hold 
face to face appointments in 13 venues across the borough. More people were dealt with 
from April – November 2016 than any other 6 month period.  Over 6000 people were 
helped which is a 13% increase on the same time the previous year.

Emergency Planning/Business Continuity
Following recent emergency exercises, which included a multi-agency exercise at 
Hollingworth Lake and a desk top Town Centre evacuation exercise with Partner agencies, 
we have updated our emergency plan and included changes to the organisation.  The 
emergency plan is a ‘live’ document that is constantly reviewed with the support of the 
AGMA Civil Contingencies and Resilience Unit.  This links to the review of our business 
continuity plans and our disaster recovery plans that were also influenced by the 
experience of last year’s Boxing Day floods.

Voluntary Sector

CVS continues to support voluntary sector organisations form across the borough with 
regard to community accountancy services, application for bids and research funding and 
the development of internal policies and procedures.

‘An introduction to volunteering’ sessions are available and one to one matching interviews 
are provided for more vulnerable residents.  CVS continue to work with a full range of local 
organisations including voluntary, community, not for profit companies and public bodies in 
the development of relevant policies and procedures needed to enable the provision of 
high quality volunteering opportunities. Groups are also supported to develop new 
volunteering opportunities and advertise them through the National Volunteering Database 
“Do-IT” . In addition, the Council Voluntary Services Rochdale (CVSR) Health & Wellbeing 
Alliance continues to develop and a schedule of meetings has been arranged. The CEO 
has also continued to provide support for the Voluntary Sector Partnership.

The Development of the voluntary sector within the borough is part of the locality plan 
prevention workstream and this will be further supported through the provider of the new 
(April 2017) Community and Family Health and Wellbeing service.

Councillor Daalat Ali
Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhoods and Communities 

Thank you Mr. Mayor, I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the 
Council about these or any other matter relating to the Neighbourhoods and Communities  
Portfolio

Page 122



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET MEMBER REPORT TO THE COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CORPORATE & REGULATION TO THE 
MEETING OF THE COUNCIL ON WEDNESDAY 14TH DECEMBER 2016

Thank you Mr. Mayor for the opportunity to report to the Council the latest developments on various 
matters relating to the Corporate & Regulation Portfolio.

LEGAL, GOVERNANCE & WORKFORCE

Elections and Electoral Registration
The annual electoral register was published on 1 December 2016. Rochdale’s current electorate 
now stands at 159,296, an increase of 7,659 to the 2015 register. Members will be aware that the 
process for registration changed in 2014 and that new residents are now required to complete an 
individual registration form in addition to the household registration form.  For the purpose of 
compiling the register, the Council has issued 93097 household registration forms with a very 
positive initial response rate of 80%.  Arising from changes to householder details, a further 9921 
individual registration forms have been sent to newly identified residents so that we can verify their 
identity and add them to the register.  To date 4551 have been returned.  The elections team 
continue to follow up on outstanding properties and those returned will be added to the register as 
part of the monthly update process.     

In accordance with the wishes of Council, the Chief Executive has made a written representation to 
the Boundary Commission in respect of the review of Parliamentary Constituencies. The outcomes 
of consultation will be responded to in Spring 2017 with any revisions published later in the year.  
Final recommendations are due to be presented to Parliament in September 2018.

As part of the consultation process, the Council implemented a targeted communications strategy, 
aiming to raise awareness of the proposals in the wider community. In total, we have had 1679 
visitors to the web page on the boundary change proposals since it was launched. 

Local involvement in administering the Greater Manchester Combined Authority Mayoral elections 
has commenced and will progress further in the new year in the lead up to the 4th May election.  
 
Governance and Committees
The revised system for dealing with planning applications was introduced following the last meeting 
of Council.  I met with the Chairs and Vice Chairs from each of the Township Committee on the 23rd 
November to discuss arrangements for their continued involvement in local development issues.  
Each Township is in the process of identifying their preferences which will be implemented during 
the next cycle of meetings.

Insurance
We are currently starting to prepare to re-tender the Council’s insurance arrangements in order to 
have the new policies in place from 1st June 2017.
Information will need to be collated from across the Authority and under the new Insurance Act 2015 
we are required to disclose every material fact – this is anything which would influence the judgment 
of a prudent insurer in deciding whether to insure or not and the terms on which to do so.

HUMAN RESOURCES:

Savings Proposals 2017/18 to 2018/19

The HR Service is working hard with Service Managers to minimise the number of compulsory 
redundancies as part of the Group 1 and Group 2 savings proposals.  Additional proposals to 
change terms and conditions have been consultatied upon with staff and trade unions; it is 
estimated this will deliver a range of £0.5m to £1.5m of savings over the next two years.   

Staff Survey

Page 123

Agenda Item 10h



Staff have been encouraged by the Chief Executive to complete the new staff survey. The survey 
has had a good response rate from one third of staff, equating to 753 individuals.  All the feedback is 
currently being collated; results along with an action plan will be published in due course.

PLANNING

Development Management

The volume of planning applications continue at relatively high levels reflecting in a healthy income 
from planning fees. The receipt of a small number of large applications in November and December 
will result in application fee income exceeding budgeted levels considerably in advance of year end 
– acknowledging that the handling of such applications will have resource implications for the 
forthcoming year.
 
Core Strategy and the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework

The unanimous decision to adopt the Core Strategy at the last meeting of the Council was 
welcomed.  Focus is now placed with the production of follow up development plan documents 
including a site allocations document.  There is the benefit that this occurs at the same time that 
consultation on the Greater Manchester Spatial Framework commences.  Uniquely across Greater 
Manchester Rochdale will be in a position to facilitate community input into plans at regional, 
borough and community level.

GM Reform

I have pleasure in reporting that I’ve been able to see some of the innovation happening in 
Rochdale in the context of the reforms taking place across Greater Manchester.  It’s clear that a new 
way of delivering public services is going to be needed if we are to ever meet the demands on the 
public sector with an ever-shrinking purse.  The approaches being taken through things like Early 
Help, Integrated Place Teams and Working Well are a very good start on our journey to learning 
how to do things in a new and better way.  The simple reality is that, when front line workers and 
communities are supported to use their common sense and to help people to help themselves, the 
results are better and more sustainable.  The complicated challenge, of course, is how to do that 
across services and within all the bureaucracy and red tape we have in the public sector.  I’m 
pleased to say that the examples of integrated working we have through the Kirkholt Pilot are really 
encouraging.  They show that it’s possible to make a difference in this new way.  

The “Early Adopter” project in College Bank and Lower Falinge is well on the way to getting started.  
The multi-agency team are in place and they’re working on the analysis of the system as it is at the 
moment.  It’s really important that our leaders across the public sector in Rochdale get involved with 
this work.  

ICT

Information and Communications Technology (ICT) and Customer Access

The review of the contract with Agilisys who provide ICT staff and run the Contact Centre is nearing 
completion. All ICT staff will TUPE back to the council as of 31st December 2016, whilst the Contact 
Centre contract with Agilisys will be renegotiated and extended. Full completion is expected to be 
31st December 2016.

A new version of the Council's citizen portal called MyAccount has now been launched. New 
electronic self-service forms have been made available to the public and the speed of the system 
has improved significantly. Work within Environmental Management to help the service streamline 
processes is continuing and are now being provided end-to-end directly from MyAccount into the 
back office. 

Our Information Governance (IG) team is currently preparing for an audit by the Information 
Commissioners Office (ICO). Such audits look to ensure that we are adhering to our legal 
obligations around data protection, freedom of information (FOI) and other data regulations. The 
audit will take place in December 2016.

Page 124



Councillor J Beswick
Portfolio Holder for Corporate & Regulation
Thank you Mr. Mayor, I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the 
Council about these or any other matter relating to the Corporate & Regulation Portfolio

Page 125



1

ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET MEMBER REPORT TO THE COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE CABINET MEMBER FOR CULTURE, HEALTH AND WELLBEING TO 
THE MEETING OF THE COUNCIL ON WEDNESDAY 14TH DECEMBER 2016

Thank you Mr. Mayor for the opportunity to report to the Council the latest developments 
on various matters relating to the Culture, Health and Wellbeing Portfolio.

Public Health Specialist Team
The latest NCMP data (2014/15) and a draft Obesity and Oral Health Delivery Plan 
2016-2018 has been presented to the CYPP and the wider Leadership Team. The Delivery 
Plan sets out actions taking a life course approach and also includes cross cutting issues 
which need to be addressed if we are to reduce the numbers of children who are 
overweight and obese.  

Our breastfeeding rates are on a downward trajectory and this is being monitored with the 
service providers. One way to address the downward trend is to increase the number of 
cafés and small businesses within the Borough where breastfeeding is welcome. To date 
we have over 80 establishments where women are supported to breastfeed their babies as 
part of their normal daily routine. 

The seasonal influenza programme is well underway and progress is being made in our 
plans to ensure wide coverage. To date approximately 520 staff have taken up the offer of 
vaccination and it is predicted that we will meet our target of vaccinating 600 RMBC staff 
here at Number One Riverside.   

The Health Protection/Infection Prevention and Control Service for Rochdale Borough 
is now in place. This is provided under a service Level Agreement and contract with 
Pennine Acute Hospitals NHS Trust. The service is led by a Matron, Health 
Protection/Infection Prevention and Control, with support from 2 part time members of staff: 
an Infection Prevention and Control Nurse Specialist and Administration/Secretarial 
Support. The aim is to promote Infection Prevention and Control in Community settings 
focussing on GP practices, care homes and other communal areas. The team will also 
provide local support to NHS England and Public Health England screening and 
immunisation programmes and will monitor figures on local uptake. They are based at 
Rochdale Infirmary and provide the service Monday to Friday 8am – 4pm. The Matron will 
be working closely with RBC Public Health and Public Protection team and will lead on 
health protection with the Consultant in Public Health, Director of Health and Wellbeing and 
Public Health England.

Oral Health and Sexual Health 
The Oral Health Improvement Strategy Study Group is coming to the end of its work. 
The group have overseen action and progress in a range of areas including involvement in 
an NHSE pilot dental buddy scheme for Primary Schools, investigating the benefits of 
developing a policy to restrict mobile vendors (ice cream vans) around schools importance 
The Oral Health Improvement (OHI) study group has been successful in developing, 
funding and initiating a joint project with Oldham OHI in the delivery of an OHI maternity 
project at Oldham post natal ward.

Rochdale Council’s public health team in partnership with Colgate and Public Health 
England (PHE) are hosting an Oral Health Improvement Dental Event for all Rochdale 
dental teams. Colgate is funding the event at the Norton Grange on the 8th December 
2016.  We are also hosting the North West Oral Health Network Group here at Riverside 
on the 14th December.

Page 126

Agenda Item 10i



2

The fluoride tooth brushing programmes are progressing nicely in schools and the Pilot 
Dental Buddy scheme in Kirkholt supported by PHE, NHSE and Rochdale Healthy Schools 
is increasing its parental support; this also promotes family visits to the dental practice.

The second pilot scheme in Rochdale is the dental buddy scheme for Care homes to 
support residents and care workers.  Rochdale Council and the OHI team are working 
closely with Spring Hill hospice to establish a robust training package and we are currently 
looking at establishing a similar support package with the Intermediate tier service within 
Pennine Acute at Rochdale infirmary.

The National dental screening programme is now being rolled out for 5 year olds and 
Oldham Salaried Dental service will be facilitating this for Rochdale in the New Year. 

We are also working closely with our providers in sexual health. We and R U Clear are 
visiting all of our GP practices to help increase the screens for Chlamydia and advice on 
the new electronic recording system.

Rochdale Council are facilitating a joint group with all of our providers around the 
promotion of HIV screening in the borough and sharing information on work calendars  to 
encourage the take up of screening locally or with LGBT in Manchester. 

Link4Life

Corporate Update:
Strategic Planning Session: The annual planning session has taken place with Link4Life 
and RBC. This was a very successful session which confirmed the vision and focus as 
“Communities that are active, creative and healthy” and agreed the corporate priorities for 
2017/18. 

New Website: At the end of September, Link4Life replaced and updated their website, to a 
new mobile responsive site, feedback has been very positive and the transition went 
smoothly.

Operational Update:
 Rochdale Borough Sports & Cultural Awards: Link4life hosted the Rochdale 

Borough Sports & Cultural Awards on 22nd September at Middleton Arena. This 
was a fantastic event and highlighted the strength and depth of clubs, volunteers 
and individuals across the borough. This was further highlighted at the recent 
Greater Manchester Sports Awards. At this event Beryl Birch, the winner from 
Rochdale, won Unsung Hero of the Year and the overall Champions’ Award.

 Feel Good Festival: Link4Life teams played a significant role at the Feel Good 
Festival in adding activity to the already popular event. We introduced a new 
Link4Life activity and craft zone, managed the community stage, presented a Friday 
Night programme of live music and introduced theatre to the event which included a 
travelling circus and a giant wandering hippopotamus.

Sport and Leisure
 On course: A new swimming lesson management system was successfully 

launched across the swimming pools at the beginning of October. The new system 
allows parents to access their child’s progress through a new online parent portal 
and also receive updates via email and make movements to the next level online 
when a child has passed each level. So far within the first month over 77% of 
parents (1945) have registered to use the new home portal which has been a 
tremendous success.

Page 127



3

 The 4Nations Collide Wheelchair Rugby tournament took place at Kingsway Park 
Sports Centre, in partnership with Link4Life and Rochdale Hornets. It was great 
for Link4Life to take a significant role in organising such a prestigious and 
entertaining national event.

 Rochdale Leisure Centre fitness suite re-opened on Saturday 1st July 2016, with 
brand new CV equipment including internet connectivity, increased size of free-
weight zone, new flooring in functional, free-weights and resistance zones and a 
new functional training zone. Initial feedback has been very positive. Studio 
equipment has also been replaced.

Arts and Heritage
 Link4life hosted a visit to Touchstones by Darren Henley, CEO of Arts Council 

England (ACE) and Ian Tabbron, Senior Funds Manager with responsibility for GM. 
The meeting was positive with ACE recognising the position of Link4Life as an 
important ‘funding ready’ partner and encouraged closer working and approaches 
for funding.

 The loan of our Stanley Spencer oil painting ‘Bellrope Meadow, Cookham’ to the 
Hepworth in Wakefield resulted in 72,000 views of the work.

 Touchstones fully engaged with the Gracie Fields statue unveiling, including 
exhibition updates, family activities, hanging portraits in the Town Hall and the 
creation of a 50 person choir.

Health Interventions
 Two ‘Walking Works’ events promoting Travel For Greater Manchester were 

organised by the Healthy Workforce Team to encourage staff in N1R to take a 
break from their desk, and join a 30 minute led walk around the borough. 

Sport and Physical Activity
 School holiday programme: Over 7,000 attendances were recorded on the 

various sessions during the summer holiday programmes.

 Doorstep Sports Club: Positive feedback has been received from the local police 
force in support of Doorstep Sports Club project on the Darnhill estate.  The project 
is 1 of only 7 across England and Wales which is funded by the Home office to 
gather evidence to show how Doorstep Sport can impact on areas of high Anti-
social behaviour and youth crime.  

Upcoming Events
 Link4Life will be hosting 2 Pantomimes this Christmas: Middleton Arena hosts 

Jack and the Beanstalk from Thursday 1 December - Saturday 31 December 
2016 and Heywood Civic hosts Cinderella from Sunday 18 December – Monday 
26 December 2016.

 The new exhibitions Frocks, Napoleone Collection and Louise Giovanelli are 
generating significant local and national interest. The private viewing on 9th Dec will 
be a big event at Touchstones.

 As part of the ongoing programme development, following the Christmas Lights 
switch on in Rochdale Town Centre, we opened Touchstones late on a Saturday 
night for an evening of music and dancing with a Christmas theme. Hopefully this 
‘out of hours’ event will be first of many successful ventures.

Page 128



4

 In addition, Santa’s Grotto at Touchstones will run for 3 Saturdays before 
Christmas, Saturday 3rd,10th & 17th December: 1pm-4pm

Drugs and Alcohol 
Workshops have been developed alongside coaching interventions to deliver 
programmes that engage alcohol and non-opiate clients and this is having a 
positive impact on the rate of successful completions for these cohorts.

As part of National Recovery week in September 16, Pathways arranged for 3 
individuals to have their personal journey from addiction to recovery filmed. 
These were then posted onto YouTube as an active promotion of Recovery in 
Rochdale.

Early Break, young people’s substance misuse service have secured grant 
funding to appoint a Well-being Worker and a Talent Match Coach both of which 
will benefit young people in this treatment service.  Funding from Township 
Grants is also enabling the service to deliver outreach support in the targeted 
areas of concern in local neighbourhoods and has generated 23 referrals into 
treatment this year.

Events Management

Work to streamline the Events Application process has been completed and a simplified 
web form implemented. Additional supporting information will be required only where the 
event falls into one of the higher risk categories from the matrix agreed by the Safety 
Advisory Group.  The revised process will be reviewed regularly to ensure the balance of 
flexibility and risk management continues to safeguard the public, event organisers and the 
Council.

The borough enjoyed another 29 events during the period October – December. 
October saw the return of the Rochdale Wedding Show to the Town Hall with 48 local 
exhibitors showcasing their wedding services to over 500 visitors.  A week later the Town 
Hall was full of visitors again, 1,500 of them, attending the first Rochdale Gin Festival 
which was a huge success and will be repeated in 2017.  Eight organised bonfires took 
place across the borough and were included within the Operation Treacle Safe4Autumn 
Campaign as safe, well organised events for the public to attend.  Three of these were 
organised by Rochdale Council. The second Rochdale Beer Festival drew the crowds 
into the Town Hall once again in November.  On 11th and 13th November Remembrance 
Events were held to honour all those whose lives have been lost in conflicts past and 
present, at services across the borough.  To bring the year to a close, festive events 
celebrating the run up to Christmas including the traditional Light Switch On events, 
winter markets, annual Springhill Hospice Santa Dash and Carol Services across the 
borough bringing in some yuletide cheer and fun for all the family.  

Councillor Janet Emsley
Portfolio Holder for Culture, Health and Wellbeing

Thank you Mr. Mayor, I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the 
Council about these or any other matter relating to the Culture, Health and Wellbeing 
Portfolio.

Page 129



ROCHDALE METROPOLITAN BOROUGH COUNCIL

TOWNSHIP COMMITTEE CHAIR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE CHAIR OF THE HEYWOOD TOWNSHIP COMMITTEE 
TO THE MEETING OF THE COUNCIL ON WEDNESDAY 14th December 2016

Heywood In Bloom

Heywood Town won a Gold Medal award in this year’s Royal Horticultural Society 
North West in Bloom competition. 
As a team we have been working to help improve the environment across Heywood 
for the enjoyment of those who live, work and visit here. This year has seen a lot of 
new planting around town with new planters being installed. 
A total of twelve awards were collected, five of which were top awards of level five 
outstanding. Gold awards were given to Heywood Distribution Park, Queens Park, 
The Old Police Station TOPS Centre, Heywood and District Angling Society, Roeacre 
Sheltered Housing and Silver Gilts awarded to Crown Oil and Mike Goldrick Window 
Blinds Ltd with All Souls school obtaining a Certificate of Merit, equivalent to a Gold 
Award.
The Friends of Hopwood Park achieved a level five outstanding award for the second 
year running. Heywood Fire Station obtained a level four, thriving and Smethurst 
Community Garden a level three Advancing.
RBC contribution most definitely enhanced the entry and influenced the result in 
obtaining a Gold Award.
I would like to congratulate Rochdale in Bloom and Pennines in Bloom on their 
success this year with Rochdale also winning gold. 
Planning and work for next year has already started which will further improve our 
Town. The Heywood In Bloom Group gave massive thanks you to RBC and Heywood 
Township for all the support, these thanks were reciprocated, well done Heywood In 
Bloom as ever working on behalf of the Heywood Township.

Remembrance Sunday 

At 11.00 hours on the eleventh day of the eleventh month we held a poignant 
commemorative ceremony in Heywood Memorial Gardens which saw ever increasing 
residents attending to pay their respect and tributes to honour the memory of those 
paying the ultimate sacrifice.

The Town’s Remembrance Service and Parade on Sunday the 13h November 2016 
was yet again the best ever attended with people in attendance representing all walks 
of life and ages in The Heywood Community. Heywood Civic Centre hosted a 
Reception pre Service and refreshments afterwards and was very well attended. 
Once again the Township moved forward in providing wreaths and involving Schools, 
Scouts and Guides, Community Groups and sheltered accommodations on such a 
proud day. I was honoured to take the Salute together with The Queens 
Representative, the serving Colonel of 42 Brigade, the Deputy Mayor and the Towns 
oldest veteran and Patron of the Lancashire Veterans Association.
Sunday 27th November 2016 saw Heywood celebrating and recognising Lancashire 
Day, on this day in 1295 the first elected representatives from Lancashire were called 

Page 130

Agenda Item 10j



to Westminster by King Edward I to attend The Model Parliament. 
Also this day the Anniversary of Aden Day was commemorated with a Service at the 
Memorial Gardens to which the National Vice Chairman and members of the North 
West Branch Aden Veterans Association and Community attended. Sunday the 27th 
November 1967 saw the withdrawal of troops, from the bitter and bloody Aden conflict 
against formidable terrorists which resulted in 280 British Regular and Special Forces 
Service personnel losing their lives and many hundreds injured

Bonfire

Once again the Township appreciated the annual bonfire, thanks to all those 
concerned in organising it.

Christmas Festival

Heywood Christmas Festival took place on Saturday the 19st November 2016. The 
dazzling set of 8,000 LED tree lights wowed the crowds at switch on time. There was 
a full day of activities, stalls, entertainment, lots of costume characters around the 
Town such as the Frozen Sisters, Peppa Pig, Mickey and Minnie and Paw Patrols 
Marshall and Chase and Super Heroes Captain America and Batman being extremely 
popular. Elfie the Elf was in Town on a special mission to add the well-behaved 
children to Santa’s nice list and take present requests.  
Free children’s arts and crafts were provided and entertainers, the Parade had four 
magnificently dressed and lit up Floats, costume characters, voluntary groups, and 
the newly refurbished Rotary Santa Sleigh. Music filled the air as both Middleton 
Youth Brass Band and Littleborough Brass Band played. The concert outside St. 
Lukes Church contained energetic performances by a whole host of local groups 
across a range of music genres. The church bells chimed and The Olde Queen Anne 
hosted a fantastic firework display in the grand Finale.
I would like to extend my thanks to all the volunteers and especially the vibrant 
Heywood Business Group in assisting the Township in putting on such a memorable 
event.   

Heywood Food Bank

A very big need in the year 2016 is unfortunately the need for foodbanks we as a 
Township have again supported the Heywood Foodbank with a Christmas donation 
which will assist their efforts to supply Christmas Hampers and gifts for many children 
to ensure local disadvantaged families are supported in having a happy Christmas.

Queens Park

I am very pleased to see all the interest being expressed in taking on the running of 
the café in the Park. Toilet facilities, including for the disabled have been kept open 
with the Chuck Wagon in place to provide of hot food to continue to encourage full 
use of the Park over the winter season. The Township is looking forward to working 
with the new proprietors whoever they may be to provide an excellent facility that this 
Green Flag Park deserves.

School Provision

I would like to give my thanks to St. Luke’s school Heywood in building two additional 

Page 131



classrooms and converting an Information Technology suite in to another class room 
to provide an extra 90 pupil spaces over three years. 

Police and Community Safety

There were a significant number of incidents by which nearly 100 RBH residents had 
their front door locks glued over the summer and autumn. Thanks to a successful 
Police led investigation in conjunction with RBH an offender was arrested and is 
currently on bail, since that arrest there have been no further incidents of locks being 
glued. 
A number of drugs warrants have been conducted and a large number of cannabis 
plants were seized as part of this. 
There have been significant arrests and charges against burglars committing 
burglaries in the Heywood area, this has led to a week on week decrease of 
burglaries in November and with planned Operations it is hoped to see reductions 
continue.
Heywood Neighbourhood Police office assisted in the successful and smooth running 
of the Remembrance Sunday Parade and the Christmas lights switch on.
On Saturday the 10th December 2016 Heywood Neighbourhood Police office will be 
hosting a Christmas lunch at the Cherwell Centre for elderly and vulnerable persons 
in the area.

Cllr Peter Rush
Chair of Heywood Township

Thank you Mr. Mayor, I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the Council about 
these or any other matter relating to the Heywood Township Committee.

Page 132



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

TOWNSHIP CHAIR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE MIDDLETON TOWNSHIP CHAIR TO
THE MEETING OF THE COUNCIL ON WEDNESDAY, 14th DECEMBER 2016

Thank you Mr Mayor for the opportunity to report to the Council the latest developments on 
various matters relating to the Middleton Township.

We have held the following Township Committees, sub-committees and working 
parties in the last cycle:

1. Township Committee
Middleton Township Committee Meeting took place once during this period, on Thursday 
1st December 2016.     

Members received two presentations; 
 Demesne Community Centre Dementia Group 
 Greater Manchester Spatial Framework 

The Committee approved minutes from previous meetings of Middleton Township 
Committee & Middleton Township Devolved Funding & Services Sub Committee. 

Members also received the following reports; a verbal update from the Middleton Township 
Highways Champion, Councillor June West, a report on Procedures for Middleton 
Township Committee Open Forum, Capital Programme Update 2017/18 to 2019/20, 
Savings Programme 2017/18 and 2018/19 - Group 2 Savings
Proposals, Proposed Discretionary Fees & Charges 2017/18, P laying Pitch Strategy, 
Proposed Removal of BT Payphone Box, Hopwood Hall Restoration and Tonge Hall 
Restoration.  

2. Township Sub-Committees and Working Parties
The cycle of sub-committees which took place in this quarter, and some of the issues 
raised are detailed below:

Regeneration
The Middleton Regeneration Group discussed a number of issues such as Warwick Mill, 
Middleton Triangle, Tonge Hall and Hopwood Old Hall. 

Middleton Environment & Culture Forum
The Middleton Environment and Culture Forum meeting took place once during this 
quarter; on Wednesday 2nd November 2016, the following items were considered; reports 
on the current work programmes for Clean & Green, Waste and Street Cleaning, updates 
from the various ‘Friends of Groups, THI Update and Middleton Arena - Link4Life.  

Devolved Funding and Services
The Middleton Devolved Funding & Services sub-committee took place twice during this 
quarter, on Wednesday 5th October and again on Thursday 17th November.  The meeting 
in October considered a number of applications, which resulted in £18,619.69 being 
allocated to schemes and projects in Middleton.  The meeting in November considered a 
number of applications and resulted in £10,655.32 being allocated.  

PACT Meetings (Police and Community Together) held this quarter;
East – Thursday 6th October 2016

Page 133

Agenda Item 10k



South –  Tuesday 6th December 2016
West – Wednesday 9th November 2016
North – The date is to be confirmed due to meeting clashes. 
Hopwood Hall – Thursday 17th November 2016

Events

Oktoberfest 2016

This annual event took place on Sunday 2nd October 2016; the event has been running for 
the last few years and is very well attended with three local breweries, two food outlets and 
four bands playing an hour and a half each across the seven hour event.  

    

Halloween Heritage Trails 

Following the success last year of the Halloween Heritage Trails, it was decided to offer 
tickets for a total of four walks this year.  All of the walks were fully booked and the 
feedback from these has been excellent The walk started from the historic Olde Boars 
Head, and there was pie and peas waiting for the intrepid explorers back at the Boars after 
the trail.  Special thanks to Middleton Town Centre Management Company for organising 
and hosting the walks.  

               

Remembrance Sunday 
The annual Remembrance Sunday service took place on Sunday 13th November 2016.  
This year has seen an unprecedented attendance, with over 1000 people turning out to 
attend both the parade and service.  Middleton is proud to support Remembrance Sunday 

Page 134



and hopes that the service will continue to grow year on year.  Special thanks must go the 
Royal British Legion, Liz McInnes MP, Mayoress Elaine Dutton, Vicar Martin Short, Greater 
Manchester Police and the wonderful people of Middleton. We would also like to thank 
Middleton Roundtable, who assisted in stewarding the event.  

                    

Christmas Lights Switch On 
Middleton’s annual Christmas Lights Switch on Event, which had the largest crowd ever 
and took place from 12noon on Saturday 19th November 2016, with a full day of fun 
including a community stage, which was jam packed with live performances from 
Middleton Popstars Academy, Rochdale Music Service, Middleton Brass Band, Langley 
Theatre Work Shop and the winners and runners up of Middleton Shopping Centre's 
Summer Sessions.  Free mince pies and mulled wine were served to those who attended 
the event, with hot vimto for younger attendees. Santa and his elf helpers gave out over 
350 advent calendars to local children.  

Middleton was pleased to welcome the Mayor and Mayoress, MP Liz McInnes and 
Coronation Street Star Samia Longchambon to the stage to switch on the Lights. This 
fantastic event closed with Middleton’s famous Firework display.   

Special thanks must go to Middleton Town Centre Management Company, and Middleton 
Shopping Centre for organising the event which was part funded by Middleton Township. 
Feedback received via twitter and Facebook has been excellent.  

     

Page 135



    

Small Business Saturday 
Small Business Saturday, took place on Saturday 3rd December 2016, with the annual 
window dressing competition.  This was organised and supported by Middleton Town 
Centre Management Company and a number of independent businesses in the Town 
Centre took place, with some fantastic displays.  Special thanks to MP Liz McInnes and 
Councillor June West, Chair of Middleton Township for judging the window displays.

Good News
Public Realm / Long Street Improvement Works
Works are continuing on the public realm works on Long Street and Market Place, and are 
nearing completion.  The level of workmanship is fantastic and I am pleased to see the 
area receive this much needed investment.  

Thank you Mr Mayor.  I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the 
Council about these or any other matters relating to the Middleton Township Committee.

Councillor June West 
Middleton Township Chair

Page 136



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

TOWNSHIP COMMITTEE CHAIR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE CHAIR OF THE PENNINES TOWNSHIP COMMITTEE TO THE 
MEETING OF THE COUNCIL ON WEDNESDAY, 14th DECEMBER 2016

Thank you Mr. Mayor for the opportunity to report to the Council the latest developments 
on various matters relating to the Pennines Township Committee.

Highways

The Highways Service has continued with the capital programme works for 2016/18, which are 
programmed to deliver improved traffic flow through the Pennines villages.

The following works, part of the capital programme, due for completion by March 2017 -
Todmorden Road Retaining Walls (start date mid-February 2017) 

We have begun work on repair works on drainage gullies and culverts affected by the Boxing Day 
floods. 
Calder Avenue flood defence is complete.
We have also commenced work on the pot hole repair programme.

Library Service

Libraries are being well used across the Pennines Township, particularly to support customers in the 
following priority areas: Health and Wellbeing; digital inclusion; skills, jobs and business support; 
reading and literacy; early years and stronger families; preventing social isolation – particularly with 
the elderly.
Libraries across the borough provide residents with IT access and support.  The number of 
computers in Pennines’ libraries has greatly increased over the last few months.  The number of 
PCs in Smallbridge, Littleborough and Milnrow has nearly doubled in the last few months with more 
being installed in the next few months, including at Smithybridge Library and Wardle Library
The fourth Rochdale Literature and Ideas Festival was a massive success and had several very 
successful events in the Pennines.  Ellenroad Engine House was a festival venue for the first time, 
with very well attended ‘Spells and Smells’ sessions for the family in partnership with Manchester 
Science Festival.

Community Safety

Work tackling anti-social behaviour (ASB) in the Private Housing Sector continues which includes 
tenants in private rented property, and owner occupiers. Crime and Anti-Social Behaviour 
Prevention Officers are dealing with a particularly challenging case in Milnrow where mental health 
issues are underpinning the ASB, it has been necessary to work in partnership with NHS and Mental 
Health professionals to try and progress the case. 

There are other complex demanding neighbour disputes that Officers are working with GMP to 
resolve. Warning letters have been issued to private tenants and their landlord has been advised as 
part of the process, likewise owner occupier has been advised too. An historical neighbour nuisance 
case involving owner occupiers has resulted in both parties being advised at Rochdale Police 
Station in terms of their counter allegations against each other.  Residents have been advised that 
none of the complaints are actually ASB but Civil Matters which have entrenched both parties 
regarding boundary issues relating to their properties and which they need to seek legal advice from 
Solicitors.

Ladybarn - ASB issues and theft of roof slates has been reported to Building Control.  In recent 
weeks there have been developers on site so hopefully this building will soon be renovated as per 
the planning application which will remove the problems that have been associated with it in recent 
months.

Page 137

Agenda Item 10l



Milnrow Memorial Park – an upgrade to the CCTV is progressing, excavation work and mains 
cabling have been laid. Due to inclement weather it hasn’t been possible to complete the project yet, 
however, the CCTV engineer is monitoring the situation in order to complete the project as soon as 
practically possible.

Youth Service

We have had some exciting projects and work going on throughout the Township with young 
people. The detached team are still out and about talking to young people about risk control with 
their behaviour. The Mobile Youth Unit has been up at Stansfield as the weather is making detached 
work more difficult. They have been discussing Stoptober and looking at different aids to help them 
stop smoking, and also tackling issues around sexual harassment in schools.

In Milnrow at the different sessions they have been looking at the top 3 topics from Make Your Mark 
ballot so that they could input into the Rochdale Borough Question Time Event. These 
were transport, tackling racial and religious discrimination and other types of hate 
crime and raising awareness of sexual health in schools. They have also had a visit 
from the Smoking Cessation Team who breathalysed them for their nicotine levels.  
The young people enjoyed this and learned a lot about tobacco, smoking, drugs etc. 
they requested the team return again in the future. Relationship issues have arisen so 
we are looking at healthy relationships at the moment and addressing domestic 
abuse.  They have been designing their ‘perfect partner’ and discussing how to stay and feel safe in 
a relationship

Smallbridge young people planned, promoted and delivered two events in aid of McMillan, a 
community fun evening selling cakes, food and other goodies along with bouncy castle and henna 
and a smoothie evening where the group sold smoothies at Rochdale Leisure Centre as part of the 
Youth Service’s Friday Fusion session. The group raised over £200 for the McMillan charity. 

During the October half term some of the Pennine young people participated in a cohesion day at 
Hollingworth Lake with Newbold Youth Club. The aim was to break down barriers between the two 
communities and the young people enjoyed the outdoors and learned camp craft skills etc.

Smallbridge young people have joined forces with some young people from Middleton and started a 
project to build a foundation of knowledge with factual informational discussions regarding the 
Holocaust. Through this project the young people will be creating both arts based and written pieces 
of work for the memorial event from which they shall also aim to meet identified aims:

Township Community News

Pennines In Bloom

A record number of awards were received this year for the parks, tourist attractions and an overall 
Township award of Silver Gilt. The Chair of the In Bloom Group also received a well-deserved 
award for his outstanding contribution to In Bloom North West.  Our thanks and appreciation goes to 
the Group for their hard work and dedication. 

Brass Bands in Milnrow

Milnrow Brass Band will be playing carols in the Memorial Garden in the village in the run up to 
Christmas, this is to support the local economy in encouraging people to shop local as well as 
spreading some festive spirit.
Remembrance Sunday 

Page 138



The Crowds once again came out to pay their respects and remember the fallen on this poignant 
day of Remembrance. Each of the three Pennines Services was extremely well attended and is 
increasingly popular in the community. The Township has funded new Memorial plaques in 
Littleborough and new commemorative benches which have been installed in Milnrow, 
Littleborough, Shore and Wardle.

Smallbridge CCTV Upgrade

The camera upgrade is now complete and the two new cameras, one on Stephenson Square and 
one on Halifax Road, are now operational and are monitored from Holland Rise. The feedback from 
the control centre has been really positive; the cameras have already started to prove their worth as 
they have caught a couple of incidents already. 

Wardle Bowling Club 

Work is well underway in upgrading the footpaths, drainage and retaining wall within the garden and 
bowling green area. Work to the restore the Pavilion War Memorial is also nearing completion. The 
facility is popular with Bowling Club Members and the nearby community who have all welcomed the 
redevelopment of this growing attraction.

Councillor Blundell
Pennines Township Committee Chair

Thank you Mr. Mayor, I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the 
Council about these or any other matter relating to the Pennines Township Committee

Page 139



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

TOWNSHIP COMMITTEE CHAIR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE CHAIR OF THE ROCHDALE TOWNSHIP COMMITTEE TO THE 
MEETING OF THE COUNCIL ON WEDNESDAY, 14th DECEMBER 2016

Thank you Mr. Mayor for the opportunity to report to the Council the latest developments 
on various matters relating to the Rochdale Township Committee.

Rochdale Town Hall
Our revised Stage 1 Heritage Lottery Fund bid for the Town Hall was submitted on 1st 
December 2016 and we expect a decision to be made in April 2017.  The overall aim of the 
project is to work with our partners to open up the building as a heritage venue. 

Rochdale Town Centre Public Realm 
Works on the new paving along Baillie Street and lower Yorkshire Street started on site in 
September. The Walk and the lower part of Yorkshire Street have already been resurfaced 
in natural stone paving. The remaining paving will be installed after the Christmas trading 
period.  

Rochdale Riverside (Genr8)
The detailed planning application for the new retail and leisure centre was submitted to the 
Council in November.  

Market 
The planning application for the siting of the new outdoor market onto The Butts and the 
conversion of the former Santander building was submitted in November 2016. The 
procurement process to appoint an external operator to run the market is nearing 
completion.

Highways
Christmas Tree Island was completed in enough in time for the unveiling of the Gracie 
Fields statue, and the remaining paving is now complete.
 
Pot-hole repairs and gulley replacement is ongoing along with the 2 year forward works 
programme, and updates will be given to Township at my regular meetings with Officers 
from the Highways and Engineering Service.  I continue to meet with Highway Champions 
along with the Cabinet Member for Housing and Environment, to discuss highways issues 
across the Borough.

Traffic orders have been processed to allow events to take place in the Town Centre e.g. 
Rochdale Half Marathon, Feel Good festival & remembrance parade. 

Youth Service
Youth Workers and young people have been working on a number of projects across the 
Township.  Young People have been involved in a fun packed October programme.  
Newbold and Pennines young people worked together practicing putting up tents, planning 
meals to cook on the barbeque and getting to know one another.  Both the groups 
organised a local walk using ordnance survey maps and shared hot chocolate around the 
camp fire discussing their Townships and what it is like living there. The Youth Service 
organised several visits to the Water Activity Centre where young people could participate 
in canoeing and water sports, and work together to overcome team challenges. The 
detached staff members have positively engaged young people causing ASB on Denehurst 
Park and they are in the process of planning and delivering a drugs awareness project 
using funding secured at Township to engage the young people in specific projects that will 
enhance their lives.

Page 140

Agenda Item 10m



Youth Workers have delivered a number of sessions to address and promote health and 
wellbeing. ‘Make your Mark’ results were poignant in developing the subject areas for 
discussion at the Community Question Time Event.   Young people wanted to ask 
questions about Sexual Harassment, Racism and Transport. 

We have had several detached sessions taking place during the week on different nights to 
engage with those involved in ASB, drugs and alcohol.   We have engaged young people 
in promoting healthy lifestyles in the youth centre to help them learn about the dangers of 
using drugs and excessive amounts of alcohol.  The detached team have been busy acting 
on reports of increased ASB across the township and are making contact with groups of 
young people, actively diverting them into our provision.  This is has been particular 
focussed around the Town Centre, Milkstone, Deeplish and Wardleworth.

Community Safety
This quarter has incorporated the October Half Term period that also incorporated 
Halloween and Guy Fawkes Night. Operation Treacle was implemented as in previous 
years’, the trend during this period is an increase in reported ASB from things such as 
illegal bonfires, throwing of fireworks, unwelcome trick or treating and other outside events 
that increase tensions between neighbours. Early intervention and relevant warnings 
issued tend to resolve these matters although the issues can be time consuming and 
require further intervention. This period also traditionally sees a rise in Youths Causing 
Annoyance (YCA) brought on by the dark nights. The trend in youth behaviour tends to 
change as the dark nights set in. Gangs tend to congregate in places such as shops, 
transport interchanges and Metrolink stops with a small element willing to cause problems 
that include underage consumption of alcohol, intimidation of residents and criminal 
damage to property. We work in partnership with the Neighbourhood Policing Team and 
agencies such as Youth Services to disrupt this type of behaviour. 

The usual core duties carrying out ASB case work within the private rented sector has 
continued. The complex case work has involved tenancy terminations, tenancy warning 
letters, landlord warnings and the fitting of CCTV to identify the perpetrators of ASB all 
taking place. 

Rochdale Township Committee
The November Committee received reports in relation to Environmental Management, 
including an update on devolved services and the success of the Rochdale In Bloom entry 
2016. Suggestions for schemes for 2017 were invited. Members were also asked to 
consider a disposal of land, a review of sites of biological importance.

Rochdale Township Action & Resources Committee

The sub-committee has met twice during the current financial year, to date the following 
schemes/projects have been approved from Rochdale Township funds:

 Cutgate Road 20mph Zone and Traffic Calming Measures
 War Office Road grass verge removal
 Mizzy Road 20mph Zone and Traffic Calming Measures
 Fox Street lighting scheme
 Elbut Lane parking restrictions
 Foxholes Road grass verge removal
 Moss Avenue waiting restrictions
 Marne Crescent waiting restrictions
 Longfield Road Investigation and TRO’s
 Syke Chapel Parking Bays
 Touchstones – Celebrate Rochdale Day
 Spotland Stadium ‘No Waiting’ Cones

Page 141



 Rooley Moor Road Speed Survey
 Hamer Lane Loading Bay
 Longfield Road 20mph Zone and Traffic Calming Measures
 Hill Street and Barlow Street Area Parking Restrictions
 Removal of bus bays at rear of Rochdale Town Hall
 Ings Lane/Great Flatt Parking Review

Councillor Shaun O’Neill
Rochdale Township Committee Chair

Thank you Mr. Mayor, I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the 
Council about these or any other matter relating to the Rochdale Township Committee

Page 142



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

CORPORATE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE CHAIR’S REPORT TO THE 
COUNCIL

WEDNESDAY, 14th DECEMBER 2016

Thank you Mr. Mayor for the opportunity to report to the Council the latest developments 
on various matters relating to the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

The Committee has met on three occasions since my last report to Council, on 27th 
October, 8th November and 8th December 2016. 

27th October 2016

The Committee, at a special meeting, scrutinised the ‘Group 1’ Savings Proposals that had 
been approved for consultative purposes by the Cabinet and the Employment and 
Equalities Committee. In considering the various proposals the Committee was mindful of 
the advice proffered by the Director of Resources that based on current assumptions, the 
Council needed to make savings of £38.8m over the next two years in order to set a 
balanced budget. The majority of the identified savings were due to the increased demand 
for services, inflationary increases and the use of one-off funding in previous years to 
smooth the impact of reductions and to balance the budget.

The Committee considered the various proposals in detail and remarked specifically on 
AC-2017-301 noting that the consultation on this item had been extended due to the 
extensive public response and I will return to this later in my report as it was the subject of 
a petition that was received by the last Council meeting which was, in turn, referred to this 
Committee.

The Committee also sought clarification on a number of other specific issues including: CS-
2017-304 (Proposed cessation of Mobile play Team); NH-2017-311 (Review of Community 
Centre Grant Funding); NH-2017-312 (Continued Provision of School Crossing Patrols at a 
charge to schools); AC-2017-315 (Review Mental Health Staffing Arrangements); and  NH-
2017-324 (Rationalisation of Enforcement activity

At this meeting the Committee also scrutinised a report that provided Members with a 
number of options to consider in relation to potential changes to conditions of service, 
which could reduce the Authority’s employment costs.

8th November 2016

Local Council Tax Support Scheme
The Committee scrutinised a report of the Director of Resources which presented feedback 
from the consultation process for amending the Local Council Tax Support Scheme. 

Directorate Plans 2016-17 Quarter 2 Performance Update
The Committee considered a report which detailed the progress for the first six months of 
2016/17 (1st April 2016 - 30th September 2016) towards achievements of the targets 
contained in the Resources Directorate Plan 2016/17 and Neighbourhoods Directorate 
Plan 2016/17.  

In considering the Neighbourhoods Directorate information Members sought further 
clarification and feedback regarding the launch of the new ‘Place Branding Project and 
Rochdale Brand’, and we asked that the Director of Neighbourhoods provide a further 
update including a detailed action plan containing aims, objectives and outcomes of the 
project, the benefits and value added, names of lead officers and a projected timeline.  The 

Page 143

Agenda Item 10n



Committee also requested a further update in relation to the creation of a ‘Research and 
Intelligence Hub (Centre of Excellence (e-RIC)) function to improve access to data and 
intelligence as an aid to decision making.

Update on the Greater Manchester Devolution Agreement
The Committee considered a report of the Assistant Director (Legal, Governance and 
Workforce) that updated Members on the progress of various matters relating to the 
Greater Manchester Devolution Agreement.

GMCA/AGMA Scrutiny Pool
The Committee considered Minutes of meetings of the GMCA/AGMA Scrutiny Pool held 9th 
September and 14th October 2016 and in doing so the Committee discussed the need to 
develop an engagement plan to ensure that Members were kept up to date on progress 
and to identify ways to improve communication so as to influence decision making and 
lead to better outcomes.

8th December 2016

This meeting of the Committee was held after the agenda for this Council meeting was 
published and I will update the Council verbally on the main issues arising from this 
meeting.

This Committee is though due to consider the petition in relation to savings proposal AC-
2017-301, relating to the provision of certain Adult Care services. The Committee, 
including Members of the Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee was 
due to receive submissions from the petitions organiser, the Director of Adult Care and the 
Portfolio Holder.

In addition the Committee at this meeting scrutinised the Council’s proposed Discretionary 
Fees and Charges for 2017/18, the ‘Group 2’ savings proposals and the outcome of 
consultation on the ‘Group 1’ savings proposals.

Councillor Mike Holly – Chair – Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Thank you Mr. Mayor, I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the 
Council about these or any other matter relating to the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

Page 144



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

COMMUNITIES, REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE CHAIR’S REPORT TO THE COUNCIL

COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 14th DECEMBER 2016

Thank you Mr. Mayor for the opportunity to report to the Council the latest developments 
on various matters relating to the Communities. Regeneration and Environment Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.

The Committee has met once since the last Council meeting in October, on 9th November 
2016. The Energy Study Group has also met on a couple of occasions and I will update 
Council on this also.

9th November 2016

Homelessness Strategy
The Committee scrutinised a report that provided us with an update about the draft 
Homelessness Strategy that is currently available for consultation and which invited 
Members to contribute any views or observations in regard to the draft Strategy.

The Committee had a lively discussion noting that the presence of gypsies and travellers 
was a cause of concern for members of the public and had been, in recent times, a 
particular problem in the Council’s Healy Ward. Concern was expressed at the detritus left 
at locations after the gypsies/travellers had moved on. The Committee also sought 
clarification on the status of asylum seekers and refugees in terms of the Council’s 
obligations towards them, noting that there was to be a Greater Manchester Homeless 
count to ascertain how many rough sleepers there may be in the Borough; and we also 
noted the work that was being carried out to introduce a Greater Manchester Hospital 
Discharge Protocol between hospital services and the local authority homelessness 
services.

Performance Monitoring of Registered Provider Partners
The Committee scrutinised a report that provided Members with an update on the 
performance of the Council’s Registered Provider Partners in 2015/16 across a range of 
initiatives and the joint work they are involved in through the Strategic Housing Partnership 
to deliver strategic priorities at a neighbourhood and borough-wide level.

The Committee were advised that there are currently 14 Registered Providers (formerly 
known as housing associations) operating across the Borough. These organisations 
managed over 20,000 properties, the majority of which were social or affordable homes for 
rent, however included in this figure were affordable homes for sale, mainly shared 
ownership, and supported housing.

The main Registered Providers operating in the Borough, seven in total, were all members 
of the Rochdale Strategic Housing Partnership (RSHP). The seven RPs are: Rochdale 
Boroughwide Housing, Contour Homes, Great Places Housing Group, The Guinness 
Partnership, Regenda Group, Riverside Group and St. Vincent’s Housing Association

Directorate Plan 2nd Quarter 2016/17
The Committee scrutinised a report that presented the positions of the Economy and 
Neighbourhoods Directorates at the end of Quarter Two (30th September 2016) and of the 
activities contained in the Economy Directorate Plan 2016/17 and the Neighbourhoods 
Directorate Plan 2016/17.

The report also contained an additional appendix to his report that provided Members with 

Page 145

Agenda Item 10o



performance information on the activities of the Rochdale Development Agency which are 
undertaken on behalf of the Council, for the first two quarters of 2016/17 (April - 
September).

AGMA Scrutiny Pool
The Committee noted minutes of the meetings of the AGMA Scrutiny Pool held on 9th 
September and 14th October 2016.

Energy Study Group

Through my membership of the AGMA Scrutiny Pool I have arranged for an AGMA wide 
scrutiny study group that I chair and has been established around the issue of ‘Renewable 
Energy’. Councillor colleagues from Oldham, Stockport, and Manchester have joined me 
on this group, and we have thus far met on three occasions on 18th October, 3rd November 
and 24th November 2016.

We have received presentation so far including from our Chief Executive, Mr. Rumbelow 
who of course doubles up as the Greater Manchester lead Chief Executive for Low 
Carbon. In this task he is ably assisted by Mr. Mark Atherton who is employed by Greater 
Manchester Combined Authority to deliver the low carbon agenda across Greater 
Manchester.

The Group aims to produce a report to the AGMA Scrutiny Pool in February 2017 with a 
series of recommendations that we can take forward as part of a deeper dive into this area 
of work in 2017/18. Ideally we would like to see the creation of a Greater Manchester 
Energy Company that is controlled and managed by the 10 Greater Manchester local 
authorities for the benefit of our citizens. I will of course keep Council up to date on 
developments in this regard and I would welcome any Member of the Council to attend a 
future meeting of the Group or to gratefully receive any advice. 

Councillor Neil Butterworth – Chair - Communities, Regeneration and Environment 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Thank you Mr. Mayor, I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the 
Council about these or any other matter relating to the Communities, Regeneration and 
Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Page 146



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

HEALTH SCHOOLS AND CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE CHAIR’S 
REPORT TO THE COUNCIL

COUNCIL - WEDNESDAY, 14th DECEMBER 2016

Thank you Mr. Mayor for the opportunity to report to the Council the latest developments 
on various matters relating to the Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

This report covers the meeting of the Committee on 16th November 2016 that have taken 
place since the last meeting of the Council.

16th November 2016

PCFT Presentation
We received a presentation for the Trust about the services they provide especially with 
regard to the provision of services for children, which was an update from their previous 
attendance at a meeting of this Committee in March 2016. 

The presentation focused on:
a) the family nurse partnership (and the Rochdale Delivery Model)
b) Health Visitor and Children’s Nursing Services
c) Children’s Acute and Ongoing Needs Service
d) Multi-agency working practices
e) Provision of Special Education Needs Services and mental health assessments for 

vulnerable children

We accepted their offer to visit the Trust facilities to view services in an operational sense 
and to discuss issues of concern with staff.  

Locality Plan
We received a report that updated Members us the latest developments within the jointly 
commissioned Locality Plan programme. The Locality Plan Programme we noted was in 
development and work continued to produce a strategy paper that would formally seek the 
necessary governance approvals from both the Clinical Commissioning Group and the 
Council. 

Directorate Plan Updates
The Committee scrutinised a report outlining the respective Directorate position at the end 
of Quarter 2 (30th September 2016) and of the activities contained in the Adult Care 
Services Directorate Plan 2016/17, the Children’s Services Directorate Plan 2016/17 and 
the Public Health and Wellbeing Plan 2016/17. A specific point to note is that the Director 
of Public Health has agreed to provide a training session that will be available for all 
Members of the Council around suicide prevention. I would anticipate that this will be held 
early on in 2017.

Market Oversight Report
 The Committee received a report that asked for consideration of the Market Oversight 
report which provided quality assurance information for services commissioned by the 
Adult Care service for the second quarter period of 2016/17. The report included details of 
five key questions that the CQC ask when they were undertaking an inspection as 
Members had requested this clarification at a previous meeting and it was also pleasing to 
note that the Adult Care Service was currently on-track with all of its current reviews.

Page 147

Agenda Item 10p



Oral Health Scrutiny Study Group
The work of this Study Group has now almost come to a conclusion and I should commend 
my Vice Chair, Councillor Sullivan and the other Members of the Group for the work they 
have done in the past 18 months promoting the importance of oral hygiene, especially 
amongst children as it has been clinically proven that poor oral health increases the 
chances of childhood obesity and other chronic health problems. The group has also 
brought the issue of water fluoridation back on to the agenda and has results from areas 
such as the West Midlands demonstrate that fluoridation of the domestic water supply has 
life-long oral health benefits. I should also thank Councillors O’Neill and Cecile Biant for 
ensuring that a proportion of Rochdale Township funds be made available for the ‘buddy 
scheme’ which directly benefits new mothers and forms a crucial part of their maternity 
packs. The Group has also endorsed the Oral Health Improvement Strategy for Rochdale 
Borough and I am looking forward to receiving a final report of the Group at a meeting of 
the Committee early in early 2017, prior to its submission to the Cabinet.
  
GMCA/AGMA Scrutiny Pool
Members of the Council will be aware that I have been nominated to be the lead Member 
on the GMCA/AGMA Scrutiny Pool in 2016/17 and the developments regarding Greater 
Manchester are of course becoming more pressing as we draw nearer to the Greater 
Manchester Mayoral Elections in May 2017. The GMCA/AGMA Scrutiny Pool itself has met 
on two occasions since my last report to Council. The majority of business at both 
meetings related to possible implications and impact of Brexit and transition arrangements 
for the GMCA in light of the mayoral elections.

In addition to the normal Scrutiny Pool business I have, along with my colleagues on the 
Scrutiny from Rochdale (Councillors Holly and Butterworth) and Oldham Councils, called-in 
a decision of Transport for Greater Manchester relating to their decision not to extend the 
Metrolink line that services Rochdale and Oldham directly to Piccadilly Station in 
Manchester which of course is the most important transport hub in the City Region. This 
call-in will be dealt with at the AGMA Scrutiny Pool’s meeting on 9th December and I will 
update Members verbally at the Council meeting on this matter.

Councillor Sara Rowbotham - Chair, Health, Schools and Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee.

Thank you Mr. Mayor, I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the 
Council about these or any other matter relating to the Health, Schools and Care Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee.

Page 148



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE LEAD MEMBER FOR THE ARMED FORCES 
MEETING OF THE COUNCIL ON WEDNESDAY, 14th DECEMBER 2016

Thank you Mr Mayor for the opportunity to report to the Council the latest developments on 
various matters relating to the Armed Forces military covenant. 

Battle of Britain RAF Heritage signs
12 roads in Heywood will have their original signage replaced with commemorative 
heritage signs. 
Historically Heywood has a connection with the RAF and the Streets when built were 
named after famous Battle of Britain pilots and RAF stations. The Royal British Legion 
industries are making the signs and it is hoped they will be in place and unveiled by the 
end of December 

Memorial Benches
16 Memorial benches have now been installed across the Borough. The black iron 
benches represent both world wars with 3 designs being available. These benches have 
been funded through Township funding with an additional two being funded in Heywood by 
The Lancashire Veterans Association and Heywood Rotary Club. An extra bench is to be 
installed in Rochdale memorial gardens which has been funded by the Lancashire Fusiliers 
Association Rochdale Branch. 

Memorial Plaques 
Two additional plaques have been installed on Littleborough memorial. One is for 
additional names for the Memorial, Private Fred Stead, with the wording ‘shot at dawn’ is 
the first and only name at this stage. Private Stead was shot a dawn for desertion but his 
case file shows that he was suffering from what we call now PTSD.  The second plaque is 
post WW2 names; Corporal Jack Stanley is the only name on this plaque, he died in 2012 
from wounds received in Afghanistan. Both plaques were dedicated on Armistice day and 
the family of Jack laid a wreath beneath the plaque. The plaques were funded by Pennines 
Township.

Welfare
Welfare work has continued since the last report. The drop in has started again every 
Thursday. Support is available for veterans between 11.00am and 1.00pm at number one 
Riverside. 

Rochdale Veterans Breakfast Club
The Veterans Breakfast Club is held at the newly refurbished Clock Tower Dining Room at 
Rochdale Town hall. A subsidised breakfast is provided for Veterans and Dependants 
every Thursday between 09.00 am and 10.30 am.  The Breakfast Club has gone from 
strength to Strength and is now oversubscribed on a weekly basis. Specific special 
functions have been provided for veterans such as the Remembrance Day Breakfast and 
the Veterans Christmas Dinner.

Work Across AGMA
Our Armed Forces Officer is now Chairing the AGMA Armed Forces Group Meeting (local 
Authorities) and the AGMA Armed Forces Partnership Group Meeting (Armed Forces 
Network). This is in response to the positive work that has been carried out in Rochdale. 
We as a Local Authority are leading the way across AGMA in support of our Armed Forces 
Family.

Page 149

Agenda Item 10q



Remembrance Service
People gathered across the Borough on Remembrance Sunday to pay their respects.
Veterans, cadets and serving soldiers, sailors and airmen were joined by dignitaries to 
stand in silence and lay wreaths.

Cllr Alan McCarthy
Lead Member for the Armed Forces
 

Thank you Mayor, I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the Council 
about these or any other matter relating to the Armed Forces.

Page 150



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE REPRESENTATIVE OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER WASTE 
DISPOSAL AUTHORITY

TO THE MEETING OF THE COUNCIL ON 14th DECEMBER 2016

Thank you Mr. Mayor for the opportunity to report to the Council the latest developments on various 
matters relating to Greater Manchester Waste Disposal Authority.

The next Authority meeting will take place on 2nd December 2016. Members will receive a 
confidential update on the progress of the development of efficiency saving options and budget 
reduction measures in relation to the Recycling & Waste Management Contract (the Contract) 
to help mitigate the predicted rise in the levy from next year. A further meeting of the Authority 
will then take place on 13th December to enable recommendations on the way forward to be 
considered.

Contract Update/targets
Contract performance during the first half of 2016/17 (to end September 2016) has been good 
with landfill diversion at 89.19% (6% better than budget) but with slightly lower than budgeted 
recycling at 45.14%). Works to remediate tank corrosion issues are progressing through the 
defect rectification process at the Longley Lane and Cobden St sites with works anticipated to 
be fully completed by the end of the 2016/17 financial year. Works at the Reliance St and 
Bredbury sites are completed with both plants fully operational and generating electricity from 
the waste processed. Bredbury MBT suffered a fire in the digestate dryer in August. This item 
of plant is currently bypassed pending installation of a replacement and the plant remains 
operational.

The Thermal Power Station (TPS) at Runcorn continues to operate ahead of expectation in 
2016/17 and has processed c.207kt of fuel from the GMWDA facilities. The facility will be 
undergoing a planned maintenance shutdown in November 2016 which will have a short term 
effect on throughput. This should not have a detrimental effect on the forecast annual level of 
diversion or the budget assumptions.

Communications Update
The Authority’s long-term communications strategy will be considered at the Authority meeting 
on 13th December. As part of this strategy the Authority is currently working to develop two 
new user friendly websites for Recycle for Greater Manchester and the Authority for launch 
later in the new year. 

Councillor Mohammed Zaman
Councillor Susan Emmott
Members of the Greater Manchester Waste Disposal Authority

Thank you Mr. Mayor, I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the Council about 
these or any other matter relating to the Grater Manchester Waste Disposal Authority.

Page 151

Agenda Item 10r



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE REPRESENTATIVE OF THE GREATER MANCHESTER FIRE AND 
RESCUE AUTHORITY 

TO THE MEETING OF THE COUNCIL ON 14th DECEMBER 2016

Thank you Mr Mayor for the opportunity to report to the Council the latest developments on various 
matters relating to Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Authority.

Page 152

Agenda Item 10s



Page 153



Page 154



ROCHDALE BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT OF THE REPRESENTATIVE TO THE
TRANSPORT FOR GREATER MANCHESTER COMMITTEE

TO THE MEETING OF THE COUNCIL ON 14TH DECEMBER 2016

Thank you Mr Mayor for the opportunity to report to the Council the latest developments on 
various matters relating to the Transport for Greater Manchester (TfGM) Committee.

New Metrolink timetable and routes

Metrolink’s Second City Crossing (2CC) will open early next year, and passengers will 
benefit from more trams running through the city centre and from the greater operational 
flexibility and improved service reliability that 2CC will offer.  TfGM have planned that 
Rochdale services will operate through to and from East Didsbury, via Shudehill and 
Market Street, while the Shaw and Oldham service will operate through to and from East 
Didsbury via Exchange Square.  Passengers would be able to connect to other services at 
Victoria or St Peter’s Square.

In response to this proposal I and colleagues addressed the TfGM Committee in November 
in support of the campaign for the Oldham/Rochdale line to go through to Piccadilly.  While 
there are supportive words throughout GM in support of Oldham/Rochdale/Tameside 
demands for more investment and priority to our areas to promote growth and redress the 
economic imbalance that exists across GM, TfGM has failed to respond with this proposal.

Oldham and Rochdale should be linked with a direct tram route to the most important 
transport hub in the city region. This will give us an important edge and an incentive to 
businesses to invest here.  TfGM argue there isn't the demand compared to other areas - 
but we will never be able to match the demand from more prosperous areas when 
decisions like this are made.  A direct link to Piccadilly now will promote economic growth 
and create future demand. Without the link, the prospect of future growth will be so much 
harder. GM has to invest in the future prospects for Rochdale and Oldham more than other 
more prosperous areas, and our areas should be prioritised to help us accelerate 
economic growth.

Unfortunately, the TfGM Committee did not listen to our representations, and approved a 
Metrolink network for the opening of 2CC as I indicated above.  I am pleased to note that 
the TfGM Committee decision has been called in by GMCA Scrutiny Pool members, and 
that our case for a direct link to Piccadilly will receive a fresh consideration.

Onto other Metrolink matters.  

Accessibility - Metrolink has been held up as a beacon of accessibility in a new film 
launched by the prestigious Design Council Cabe on international “World Cities Day” on 
31st October 2016.  

The film features TfGM’s inclusive approach to the planning, design and management of 
the Metrolink network, shining a spotlight on its award-winning Disability Design Reference 
Group which includes people with a range of impairments that has had a hands-on role in 
the design process for access-related aspects of the expanded Metrolink network to make 
sure they meet the needs of disabled people.  Using Metrolink as a real life best practice 
example, the film is now set to be used in a government-funded training programme that is 
estimated to reach more than 600,000 highly skilled professionals across the UK.  

Anti-social behaviour and fare evasion – A special youth court was held at Bury 
Magistrates Court in late October to clampdown on under-18’s caught fare-dodging on the 
Metrolink network.  This resulted in 16 youths, taken to court after failing to pay the 

Page 155

Agenda Item 10t

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0JqUi-3P8Sw&feature=youtu.be
http://www.un.org/en/events/citiesday/
http://www.tfgm.com/Corporate/media_centre/Pages/News.aspx?articleId=116
http://www.tfgm.com/Corporate/media_centre/Pages/News.aspx?articleId=116


standard fare charge issued to anyone caught travelling without a valid ticket, being fined a 
total of £2,629.20.  

Progressing cases to court, particularly young people, is not a decision that TfGM takes 
lightly, but the mindset among some people that it is acceptable to try and ride the tram for 
free must be challenged, particularly those who fail to engage with TfGM or that fail to pay 
if caught fare dodging. 
 
‘Clean Air for Schools’ Programme

At the National Air Quality Awards in November, TfGM won the Local Authority and Public 
Sector Air Quality Initiative of the Year title for its ‘Clean Air for Schools’ programme.  

‘Clean Air for Schools’ targets emissions from 41 of TfGM’s fleet of 93 Yellow School 
Buses, delivering significant environmental benefits and reducing children’s exposure to 
harmful air pollutants.  Funded through the Department for Transport’s (DFT’s) Clean Bus 
Technology Fund, the programme involves retro-fitting innovative air pollution control 
equipment to diesel Yellow School Buses.  Emission tests were carried out on buses 
before the equipment was fitted and after they had been on the road for at least a year.  
The results showed a 99% reduction in nitrogen oxide levels, far higher than the 50% 
minimum target set by the DfT, with a 93% reduction in particulates, 99% in hydrocarbons 
and more than 97% in carbon monoxide.

Transport Links to Hospitals

I recently forwarded a briefing note to members providing an update on the TfGM response 
to concerns raised over the lack of direct public transport links to North Manchester 
General Hospital and Royal Oldham Hospital.  TfGM officers will continue to work with 
operators and to review the subsidised network for efficiencies, and respond with finding 
and recommendations in late December.  Can I ask that any Member with concerns in 
relation to this or any other TFGM issue, to please contact me.

Local Link 

I am providing an update on the Local Link services that offer a demand responsive 
transport service which allows people to travel within defined areas that have a particular 
gap in the transport provision, such as irregular transport services or low accessibility to 
employment, education, health and leisure opportunities. We recently received a report on 
performance of the 27 services across Greater Manchester, three of which are in the 
Borough -  
 
Heywood service commenced: July 2005 - Heywood’s patronage has continued to grow 
over the past year and has increased by 10% compared to the previous 12 months. The 
number of work trips increased due to work done by TfGM to encourage workers at 
Pilsworth Industrial estate to use the service. There is a significant amount of seasonal 
demand on this service. 

Kingsway, Newbold, Deeplish and Rochdale Evening service commenced: September 
2008 - Kingsway Local Link covers four different Local Link operations (Kingsway, 
Rochdale Evening, Deeplish and Newbold). October and November are the busiest 
months with over 2,000 passenger trips being performed at this time last year. This is due 
to the employment of a high number of seasonal staff at Kingsway Business Park.

Middleton service commenced: July 2005 - Service performance saw an increase of 8% 
compared to the previous 12 months.  Officers have reviewed the service as it has been 
operating at a higher cost than others; savings have been identified by reducing the hours 
of operation on one vehicle and changing the service pattern of the link between Kingsway 
Business Park and Middleton.

Page 156



Christmas and New Year Services

The TfGM Committee received a report in November as to the intentions of bus and rail 
operators for the Christmas and New Year period.  In some cases the statutory deadline 
for notification of service changes had not passed, but I can advise as follows.

In general terms, the pattern of bus services follows previous years, whereby there will be 
earlier finishes from around 7pm on Christmas Eve and New Year’s Eve; no services on 
Christmas Day; limited services on Boxing Day and New Year’s Day; and generally 
Sunday services on other Bank Holiday days.  Last services on Metrolink will leave the city 
centre around 9pm on Christmas Eve; no services on Christmas Day; Sunday services on 
Boxing Day, New Year’s Day and on other Bank Holiday days; and on New Year’s Eve the 
last trams are scheduled to depart the city centre from 1am on New Year’s Day morning.  
In general terms the pattern of rail services follows previous years. There will be no service 
on Christmas Day or Boxing Day, and earlier finishes on Christmas Eve.  Northern Rail 
services will also finish earlier on New Year’s Eve.  

Travellers should check with www.tfgm.com for buses and trams, and with the National 
Rail website (nationalrail.co.uk) for rail services, for full details before travelling over the 
festive period. 

It only remains for me, on behalf of myself and colleagues on the Transport for Greater 
Manchester Committee, to wish all Members of the Council all the best for the festive 
season.

Thank you Mr Mayor, I will be pleased to answer any questions from Members of the 
Council about these or any other matter relating to the Transport for Greater Manchester  
Committee 

Councillor Phil Burke
Councillor Shah Wazir
Councillor Ian Duckworth

Transport for Greater Manchester Committee

Page 157

http://www.tfgm.com/


Title: Update on the Greater Manchester 
Devolution Agreement

Public/Private: For Publication

Report to: Council
Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Report Author: Mark Hardman

Date: Wednesday, 14th December 2016
                 Tuesday, 20th December 2016       

Director:   Assistant Director (Legal, 
Governance & Workforce)

Tel: Tel: 01706924704  

Author Email:    mark.hardman@rochdale.gov.uk Key Decision: No

Comments from Statutory Officers: Monitoring Officer:  Yes
Section 151 Officer: Yes 

1. Purpose of Report
1.1 To update Members on the progress of various matters relating to Greater Manchester 

Devolution Agreement.

2. Recommendation
2.1  That the report be noted

3 Reason for recommendation
3.1 The report is presented for information only.

4.  Background
4.1 Council and the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee have received update 

reports on the progress of the Cities and Local Government Devolution Act 2016 at 
their recent meetings.   This report updates Members on various matters related to 
devolution issues since submission of a report to the Council and the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 19th October and 8th November 2016 respectively.

4.2 Establishment of a GMCA Resources Committee

The Greater Manchester Combined Authority (GMCA) has established a Resources 
Committee to consider issues relating to the establishment and implementation of 
human resource processes and policies during the transition to an integrated CA; to 
support the transition process and the recruitment of staff to an integrated GMCA; and 
to consider issues relating to the effective and efficient use of financial, ICT and 
property resources during the transition to an integrated Combined Authority.  The 
Committee will comprise five or more members of the GMCA on a politically balanced 
basis.

4.3 GMCA Functions and Governance Review

It was reported to Council on 26th July 2016 that following a statutory public 
consultation on proposed additional functions to be conferred upon the GMCA, 

Page 158

Agenda Item 11



responses to the consultation had been submitted to the Secretary of State for 
consideration prior to draft Orders being laid in Parliament.  The draft Order, that 
covers issues related to the spatial development strategy, housing and regeneration, 
transport, miscellaneous functions relating to education, skills, training and culture, 
and functions to be exercisable only by the elected Mayor, was laid in Parliament 
under s117(2) of the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 
2007 on 21st November 2016.  The draft Order requires consideration by the Joint 
Committee on Statutory Instruments and the Secondary Legislation Scrutiny 
Committee, with debates in both Houses possible by mid-December.

5. Alternatives considered
5.1 None.

6. Financial Implications
6.1 There are no specific financial implications associated with this report, the matters 

detailed being provided for information.

7. Legal Implications
7.1 There are no specific legal implications associated with this report, the matters detailed 

being provided for information.

8. Personnel Implications
8.1 None.

9. Corporate Priorities
9.1 None.

10.  Risk Assessment Implications 
10.1 Not applicable.

11. Equalities Impacts
11.1 There are no equality issues arising from this report.
 

There are no background papers to this report.  However, further details on matters contained 
in this report can be found in reports submitted to the Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
available here - Greater Manchester Combined Authority agenda 

Page 159

https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/meetings/committee/1/greater_manchester_combined_authority
https://www.greatermanchester-ca.gov.uk/meetings/committee/1/greater_manchester_combined_authority

	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	Summary OF interests

	3 Minutes
	5 Notices of Motion
	6 Review of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme for 2017/18
	Review of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme for 201718 enc. 1
	Question 1: Please indicate whether you are currently in receipt of council tax support:
	Question 1: Please indicate whether you are currently in receipt of council tax support:
	Receiving CTAX?

	Question 2: In terms of the maximum level of award do you feel it should: 
	Reward Level

	Question 3: Do you think it is fair to stop considering Family Premium for new claimants, this is added when the Council works out how much Council Tax Support a family can have? This would affect any new people from April 2017. 
	Assessed Need Reduction

	Question 4: Other comments – please provide any other information you feel the Council should consider in its review of the scheme
	Other Comments

	Question 5: Would you like to help us to provide services which are fair and sensitive to the needs of all our communities by completing our equalities monitoring form?
	Equalities

	Question 6: Which age group are you in?
	Age

	Question 7: What is your gender?
	Gender

	Question 8: Do you identify with the gender you were assigned to at birth (male or female)?
	Transgender

	Question 9: Do you have caring responsibilities?
	Caring

	Question 10: Do you consider yourself to have a disability?
	Disability

	Question 11: Which group best describes your ethnicity?
	Ethnicity
	Other Ethnicity

	Question 12: What is your Religion or Belief?
	What is your Religion or Belief?
	Other religion/belief 

	Question 13: What is your sexual orientation?
	What is your sexual orientation

	Question 14: Are you pregnant?
	Are you pregnant?

	Question 15: Have you given birth within the past 26 weeks?
	Have you given birth within the past 26 weeks

	Question 16: Are you a member of the armed forces or ex-member of the armed forces?
	armed forces

	Question 17: What is your postcode?
	Postcode



	Appendix B
	Review of the Local Council Tax Support Scheme for 201718 enc. 2

	7 Council Constitution - Amendments to the Scheme of Delegation
	8 Appointments to the Planning and Licensing Committee
	9 Report of the Independent Remuneration Panel on Members' Allowances
	Append. 1 for Review of Members' Allowances

	10a The Leader of the Council
	10b The Cabinet Member for Finance
	10c The Cabinet Member for Housing and Environment
	10d The Cabinet Member for Business, Skills and Employment
	10e The Cabinet Member for Children's Services
	10f The Cabinet Member for Adult Care
	10g The Cabinet Member for Neighbourhoods and Communities
	10h The Cabinet Member for Corporate and Regulation
	10i The Cabinet Member for Culture, Health and Wellbeing
	10j The Chair of Heywood Township Committee
	10k The Chair of Middleton Township Committee
	10l The Chair of Pennines Township Committee
	10m The Chair of Rochdale Township Committee
	10n The Chair of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	10o The Chair of the Communities, Regeneration and Environment Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	10p The Chair of the Health, Schools and Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee
	10q Report of the Representative to the Armed Forces
	10r Report of the Representative to the Greater Manchester Waste Disposal Authority
	10s Report of the Representative to the Greater Manchester Fire and Rescue Authority
	10t Report of the Representative to Transport for Greater Manchester
	11 Update on the Greater Manchester Devolution Agreement

